
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The City Bridge Trust Committee 

 
Date: THURSDAY, 11 MAY 2017 

Time: 1.45 pm 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, 2ND FLOOR, WEST WING, GUILDHALL 

 
Members: Karina Dostalova 

Simon Duckworth 
Alderman Alison Gowman 
Marianne Fredericks 
Deputy the Revd Stephen Haines 
Alderman Alastair King 
Vivienne Littlechild 
Deputy Edward Lord 
Jeremy Mayhew 
Wendy Mead (Chief Commoner) 
Dhruv Patel 
Ian Seaton 
Deputy Dr Giles Shilson 
Alderman Andrew Parmley (Ex-Officio Member) 
Vacancy (to be filled at the Court of Common Council meeting on 25 May) 
 

 
 
 
Enquiries: Philippa Sewell  

tel. no.: 020 7332 1426 
philippa.sewell@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Lunch will be served in Guildhall Club at 1PM  

NB: Part of this meeting could be the subject of audio or video recording  
 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack



 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES 
 
2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 
3. ORDER OF THE COURT OF COMMON COUNCIL 
 To receive the Order of The Court of Common Council from 27 April 2017. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 1 - 2) 

 
4. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 
 To elect a Chairman in accordance with Standing Order 29. 
 For Decision 
  
5. ELECTION OF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN 
 To elect a Deputy Chairman in accordance with Standing Order 30. 
 For Decision 
  
6. MINUTES 
 To agree the minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 20 March 

2017. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 3 - 12) 

 
7. APPOINTMENT TO THE SOCIAL INVESTMENT BOARD 
 Report of the Town Clerk. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 13 - 14) 

 
8. REPORT OF ACTION TAKEN BETWEEN MEETINGS 
 Report of the Town Clerk. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 15 - 16) 

 
9. PROGRESS REPORT 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer. 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 17 - 38) 

 
10. CITY BRIDGE TRUST FUNDING STRATEGY  2018-2023 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 39 - 64) 

 
 



 

3 
 

11. CBT BUSINESS PLAN AND THE CITY OF LONDON CORPORATION DRAFT 
CORPORATE PLAN 

 Report of the Chief Grants Officer. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 65 - 82) 

 
12. EMPLOYMENT & DISABILITY - BRIDGE TO WORK PROGRAMME 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 83 - 84) 

 
13. INDEX AND ASSESSMENT REPORTS 
 To consider the Chief Grants Officer’s reports on grant recommendations as follows:- 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 85 - 86) 
 a) Bridge to Work  (Pages 87 - 92) 

 

 b) Action for Kids  (Pages 93 - 96) 
 

 c) Inclusion London  (Pages 97 - 100) 
 

 d) Muscular Dystrophy Group of Great Britain and Northern Ireland  (Pages 101 - 
104) 

 

 e) National Autistic Society  (Pages 105 - 106) 
 

 f) Royal Mencap Society  (Pages 107 - 108) 
 

 g) Whizz-Kids  (Pages 109 - 110) 
 

 h) ShareAction  (Pages 111 - 112) 
 

 i) Evolve Housing + Support  (Pages 113 - 114) 
 

 j) Terrence Higgins Trust  (Pages 115 - 116) 
 

 k) Heart n Soul  (Pages 117 - 118) 
 

 l) Royal Hospital for Neuro-disability  (Pages 119 - 122) 
 

 m) Scope  (Pages 123 - 124) 
 

 n) Toucan Employment  (Pages 125 - 126) 
 

 o) Volunteering Matters  (Pages 127 - 128) 
 

 p) Her Centre Limited  (Pages 129 - 130) 
 

 q) Parent Abuse and Reconciliation Service  (Pages 131 - 132) 
 

 r) Children England  (Pages 133 - 134) 
 

 s) Islington Bangladesh Association  (Pages 135 - 136) 
 

 t) Community Southwark  (Pages 137 - 138) 
 

 u) One Westminster  (Pages 139 - 140) 
 



 

 

14. TO CONSIDER REPORTS OF THE CHIEF GRANTS OFFICER AS FOLLOWS:- 
 
 a) Applications Recommended for Rejection  (Pages 141 - 148) 

 

 b) Grants Approved under Delegated Authority  (Pages 149 - 154) 
 

 c) Withdrawn and Lapsed Applications  (Pages 155 - 158) 
 

 d) Variations to Grants Awarded  (Pages 159 - 160) 
 

 e) Wembley National Stadium Trust  (Pages 161 - 164) 
 

 f) The City Bridge Trust Communications  (Pages 165 - 182) 
 

 g) Report on Learning Visits  (Pages 183 - 188) 
 

 

15. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
16. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS TO BE URGENT 
 
17. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 MOTION – That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 
 

Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda 
 
18. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 20 March 2017. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 189 - 190) 

 
19. PIPELINE OF PRO-ACTIVE STRATEGIC GRANTS 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 191 - 194) 

 
20. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
21. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 

WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 



PARMLEY, Mayor RESOLVED: That the Court of Common 
Council holden in the Guildhall of the City of 
London on Thursday 27th April 2017, doth 
hereby appoint the following Committee until 
the first meeting of the Court in April, 2018. 

 

THE CITY BRIDGE TRUST COMMITTEE 
 

 
1. Constitution 

A Non-Ward Committee consisting of, 

 two Aldermen nominated by the Court of Aldermen 

 12 Commoners elected by the Court of Common Council, at least one of whom shall have fewer than five years’ 
service on the Court at the time of their appointment 

 the Right Honourable the Lord Mayor (ex-officio) 
 
2. Quorum  
 The quorum consists of any five Members. 
 
3. Membership 2017/18  
 

  ALDERMEN 
 

6 Alison Gowman 

1 Alastair John Naisbitt King 

 
  COMMONERS 

 

5 (4) Simon D’Olier Duckworth, O.B.E., D.L 

7 (4) The Revd. Stephen Decatur Haines, Deputy 

9 (4) Wendy Mead, O.B.E. 

3 (3) Karina Dostalova 

5 (3) Marianne Bernadette Fredericks 

7 (3) Jeremy Paul Mayhew 

2 (2) Dhruv Patel 

6 (2) Ian Christopher Norman Seaton 

7 (1) Vivienne Littlechild, J.P. 

7 (1) Charles Edward Lord, O.B.E., J.P., Deputy 

1 (1) Dr Giles Evelyn Robert Shilson, Deputy 

  together with the ex-officio Member referred to in paragraph 1 above and one Member to be appointed at the 25 
May 2017 meeting of the Court of Common Council. 

 
4. Terms of Reference 
 
(a) To determine all applications for grants pursuant to the Cy Pres Scheme for the administration of the Charity known as 

the Bridge House Estates, made by the Charity Commissioners on 9 February 1995 and brought into effect by the 
Charities (The Bridge House Estates) Order 1995, as respects the following purposes:- 
 

 
 

(i) in or towards the provision of transport and access to it for elderly or disabled people in the Greater London area; 
and, 

 
(ii) for other charitable purposes for the general benefit of the inhabitants of Greater London;  
 
other than grants above a sum of £500,000 which decisions are reserved to the Court of Common Council upon this 
Committee’s recommendation. 
 

(b) Subject to the terms of the Cy Pres Scheme and criteria as to the eligibility and treatment of applications specified from 
time to time by the Court of Common Council:- 
 

 (i) to review the criteria referred to above and to make recommendations to the Court of Common Council for 
changes thereto; 

 
(ii) to determine conditions and other requirements to be imposed in connection with grants that are approved; 
 

(iii) in considering the application of surplus income in accordance with clause 2 of the said Scheme, the Trustee
1
 

shall consult with such person, bodies corporate, local authorities, government departments and agencies, 
charities, voluntary organisations and other bodies as the Trustee may think appropriate from time to time; and, 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



(iv) to review, as necessary, the amounts, nature and spread of grants approved or refused, and the operation of 
administrative arrangements for the Scheme. 

 
c) To be involved in the process for the appointment of the Chief Grants Officer, as appropriate. 
 
 
1 

The City of London Corporation, acting through the Court of Common Council, is the sole Trustee of Bridge House Estates 

(‘the Trustee’). 

 

Page 2



THE CITY BRIDGE TRUST COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 20 March 2017  
 

Minutes of the meeting of The City Bridge Trust Committee held at the 
Guildhall EC2 at 9.15 am 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Alderman Alison Gowman (Chairman) 
Ian Seaton (Deputy Chairman) 
Karina Dostalova 
Stuart Fraser 
Marianne Fredericks 
 

Alderman Vincent Keaveny 
Vivienne Littlechild 
Wendy Mead 
Dhruv Patel 
 

 
Officers: 
Amanda Thompson - Town Clerk's Department 

Karen Atkinson - Chamberlain's Department 

Anne Pietsch - Comptroller and City Solicitor's Department 

David Farnsworth - Chief Grants Officer 

Sufina Ahmad - The City Bridge Trust 

Sandra Davidson - The City Bridge Trust 

Olivia Dix - The City Bridge Trust 

Sandra Jones - The City Bridge Trust 

Jack Joslin 
Kate Moralee 

- The City Bridge Trust 
- The City Bridge Trust 

Ciaran Rafferty - The City Bridge Trust 

Shegufta Rahman - The City Bridge Trust 

Tim Wilson - The City Bridge Trust 

Becky Green - The City Bridge Trust 

Geraldine Page - The City Bridge Trust 

Martin Hall - The City Bridge Trust 

Kristina Drake - Communications Team 

 
In Attendance 

 The Prince's Trust 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies were received from the Right Hon. the Lord Mayor Dr Andrew 
Parmley, Jeremy Mayhew, Deputy Edward Lord and Deputy the Revd. Stephen 
Haines. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 6



3. MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting 
held on 6 Feb 2017 be agreed as an accurate record.  
 

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS  
RESOLVED – That the Outstanding Actions update be noted and updated as 
appropriate. 
 

5. PROGRESS REPORT  
The Committee received the regular progress report of the Chief Grants Officer 
(CGO) and discussed the updates provided, together with a request to agree 
that the CBT enter the Lord Mayors Show 2017. 
 
The CGO gave updates on the following: 
 
The Work Continues 
 
During the five year Strategic Review, the Trust’s everyday work continued with 
visits to see some of the 500+ charities being supported across Greater 
London. 
 
Support for the LGBT sector 
 
Further to the initiative delivered by the Trust in 2016 to determine the funding 
landscape and potential support needs of London’s LGBT sector, and after a 
well-attended seminar in August 2016, jointly hosted with Trust for London, 
organisations were asked to identify any needs, especially those which might 
be more strategic. As a result three outline proposals had been received which 
were strategic in nature and which had the potential to make a significant, 
positive, difference to the LGBT community in London. Officers would now 
assess these requests fully with the intention of bringing them to the May 
Committee for decision. 
 
Stepping Stones 
 
The Trust planned to launch the fourth round of Stepping Stones, its 
partnership programme with UBS, on March 20th 2017.  
 
Since the Fund was launched £2.2m had been shared between 49 
organisations across 20 London boroughs. Most of the grants awarded so far 
funded work which was still underway although 10 organisations had completed 
their projects, accounting for a grant funding total of £368,000. Of these three 
had raised social investment to a total value of £16.05m, four reported they had 
a much clearer idea of the work they needed to deliver before they approached 
the market, and three had concluded that social investment was not for them. 
The latter outcome was not a sign of failure since the Stepping Stones Fund 
was designed to offer charities a safe space in which to examine repayable 
finance before they took on any sort of balance sheet liability. 

 
The Cranfield Trust’s Capacity Building Programme, STRIVE. 

Page 4



 
The Cranfield Trust launched its services for CBT grantees at a Livery Hall 
event on 9th March during which the Deputy Chairman said a few words of 
welcome.  Infrastructure organisations from across London had been invited to 
the event along with Chief Executives of around 100 front line charities. There 
would also be a subsequent event towards the end of the programme to 
celebrate the achievements of participant organisations and future updates 
would be provided. 
 
CBT’s Internal Financial Audit 
 
During January 2017, the City of London Corporation Internal Audit team had 
conducted an audit review of CBT to assess the application and robustness of 
the checks undertaken, including financial stability, on grant funded applications 
prior to grant awards. They had also looked to determine whether monitoring 
arrangements were providing an adequate control of grant funded 
organisations progress against agreed milestones and assess the adequacy of 
the processes for reporting to Committee any unusual activity. 

 
Following detailed testing and discussions with the CBT team, the internal audit 
had reported a green rating confirming that there were robust controls in place 
across the piece.    
 
The CBT Financial Assessment Process 
 
In addition to the Internal Audit review and to demonstrate a commitment to 
maintaining the robust controls evidenced in that, a review of the financial 
appraisal process had also been undertaken by the Head of Charity and Social 
Investment Finance. The key focus was to ensure that processes in place were 
proportionate to the risks presented and value of the grant being requested and 
to ensure due diligence processes were undertaken. 
 
The review had established that over recent years the practical application of 
processes had grown in complexity, becoming less efficient and adding to the 
time taken to turnaround an application. The Grants Officer was the individual 
closely involved with the applicant, gathering and assessing a wide variety of 
information, and so the decision had been taken, in consultation with the 
Deputy Chamberlain, to hand back the responsibility for undertaking the initial 
financial assessment to Grants Officers.  
 
CBT Communications and Press coverage 
 
Details of all communications activity against each of the key audiences was 
noted. Officers were asked to bring future coverage in a more concisely-
presented format and as a stand-alone report. 
 
Following the recommendations of the external review, Cheryl Chapman, 
Director of City Philanthropy, had now ceased as an employee of the 
Association of Charitable Foundations (ACF). Cheryl will be working in-house 

Page 5



on a 12 month consultancy contract to further embed and extend the learning 
from the project. 
 
Human Resources Update 
 
Since the last Committee the CBT had said goodbye to Simrat Kaur-Gupta one 
of the Trust’s administrative officers.  Simrat was an excellent team member 
and had made a valuable contribution to the team. Marek Habrda, who was 
currently on a short-term temporary contract, had agreed to extend his time to 
cover this work whist the new strategy was finalised and resource needs were 
considered. 
 
Kate Moralee, a newly recruited Grants Officer, was introduced. 
 
Strategic Review Update 
 
Following the Committee’s consideration of the first draft of the Trust’s 2018-
2023 funding strategy, it had now been published on the Trust’s website inviting 
comment and critique.  The CGOC and Head of Strategic Review had been 
discussing the draft strategy with senior colleagues within the City of London 
Corporation (CoLC) and wider CoLC staff teams were being engaged through 
an internal communications campaign.  Members had also been consulted 
through a Members’ Breakfast held on 7 March 2017. 

 
Externally, 9 Focus Groups had been scheduled during March 2017 to discuss 
the next strategy.  Links had also been made with Citizens UK and others to 
consider how to test the strategy, and the language in particular, with 
Londoners directly. 
 
Lord Mayor’s Show 2017 
 
It was proposed that the Trust took part in the Lord Mayor’s Show 2017.  With 
the work currently being undertaken on the 5 year Strategic Review, this would 
present an excellent opportunity to showcase the work of some of the groups 
funded.   
 
If agreed a full report, including detailed costings will be brought to the 
Committee in May 2017. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the report be noted, and 
b) That the CBT enter the Lord Mayors Show 2017 
 

6. EMPLOYMENT & DISABILITY FUND  
The Committee received a report seeking a commitment of up to £3.3m 
towards a detailed programme to get young disabled Londoners into work and 
to help maintain their employment. 
 

Page 6



The programme, the suggested name for which was ‘Bridge to Work’, aimed to 
narrow the disability employment gap by funding projects which provided 
employability support for young disabled people in London and strengthen links 
between employers and the disabled community. 
 
RESOLVED - To 
 

a) Agree the name of this programme as Bridge to Work 
b) Agree the general allocation of funds as outlined in Table 1 with a 

designation (with advice of the Comptroller and City Solicitor)  of £1.3m 
as at 31 March 2017 and agreement in principle of £2.0m for the next 
financial year; and 

c) Instruct officers to bring recommendations on the specific funding to 
named organisations to the May 2017 Committee. 

 
 

7. EMPLOYMENT AND MENTAL HEALTH  
The Committee received a report seeking a commitment of up to £1.5m from 
the Anniversary Fund for a detailed programme supporting people, 
predominantly young people, with mental health issues into employment. 
 
Members were advised that the mental health element of the programme, 
which was part of the overall Bridge to Work programme, would build on 
internal research undertaken in 2016 to identify the most effective mechanisms 
for supporting young people with mental health problems into and in 
employment.   
 
RESOLVED – To agree an allocation of funds from the Anniversary fund as 
follows:  
 
a) A grant of £65,000 to the Centre of Mental Health as at March 2017. 
b) A designation of £1,435,000 for the next financial year.  
 

8. GRANTS AND STRATEGIC INITIATIVES RECOMMENDATIONS AND 
ASSESSMENTS  
 
8.1 Greater London Authority  

APPROVED - a grant of £300,000 to support the three-year London 
Borough of Culture programme to engage disadvantaged and/or hard to 
reach communities/people. The grant will be paid to and managed by the 
Greater London Authority (GLA) as part of a wider fund being made available 
to support this initiative. The grant is conditional on none of the funds being 
used to cover costs incurred by any statutory body. 
 
8.2 London Funders  
Chief Grants Officer David Farnsworth left the room for the consideration of this 
item 
 

Page 7



APPROVED -   a grant of £300,000 over three years (3 x 
£100,000) to London Funders to continue to develop place-based 
giving in London. 
 

8.3 Prisoners Abroad  

APPROVED - a grant of £350,000 to continue the partnership with 
Prisoners Abroad until the Implementation of your new programme in 

2018. 

 
8.4 Ability Bow  
APPROVED – £98,900 over 3 years (£32,300, £32,800; £33,800) for 
a Positive Steps Development Instructor (14 h/p/w), sessional 
workers and the associated costs of the Positive Steps project. 

 
8.5 Arthritis Care  
AGREED - £129,000 over three years (£38,600; £43,000; £47,500) towards 
one FTE Young People & Families Coordinator, London-based programme 
costs including, workshops, family events, volunteer costs, and a contribution 
to overheads. 
 
8.6 Flying Gorillas  
APPROVED - £75,000 over three years (£27,500, £25,000, 
£22,500) towards the cost of sessional staff; workshop leaders, 
general manager and administrator, and associated project 
costs. 

 
8.7 Havelock Family Centre  
APPROVED - £100,000 for the access works at Aleka House 

which include a new lift, two disabled toilets, internal doors, 
accessible entrance, staircase hand ralls and associated costs. 
 
8.8 Merton Mencap  
APPROVED - £61,800 over 3 years (£13,900; £23,900; £24,000) to 
contribute to the salary costs of the Project Manager, Team Leader, 
and Support Workers and associated running costs for the 'Giving 
Back Club' project 
 

8.9 Action on Hearing Loss  
APPROVED - £85,300 over three years (£25,800; £29,100; £30,400) 
towards staffing and operational costs of the Hear to Inform and 
Connect project for older people in London. 

 
8.10 Bubble Theatre Company  
APPROVED - £66,000 over  three years (£20,000; £22,000; £24,000) 
towards  50%  of  the  full time Project Coordinator's post; activity costs for 
Creative Homes and The Rotherhithe Shed and a contribution to 
overheads. Funding in the final year to be contingent on securing match-
funding from The Big Lottery. 
 
8.11 Enfield Carers Centre  

Page 8



APPROVED - £100,100 over three years (£27,000, £36,100, 

£37,000) towards the full-time Older Carers Advice and 
Support Officer and associated project costs. 

 

8.12 InterAct Stroke Support  
APPROVED - £69,500 over three years (£22,000; £23,000, 
£24,500) towards a live reading service for elderly stroke 
survivors while in hospital and upon discharge. 

 
8.13 St Joseph's Hospice  
APPROVED - £150,600 over three years (£47,000; £50,000; £53,600) 
towards salary costs of a care manager and administrator (both 0.5FTE) 
and activity costs of supporting people with dementia nearing the end of 
life and their carers in Newham. 
 
8.14 Sudbury Neighbourhood Centre (Middlesex) Limited  

APPROVED - £60,000 over three years (3 x £20,000) towards the cost of a 
Senior Care Assistant (salaried at or above the level of London Uvlng 

Wage) and associated activities for work with clients with dementia. 
 
8.15 The Reader  
APPROVED - £87,900 over three years (£35,900; £27,800; £24,200} 
towards the cost of establishing Shared Reading groups in Croydon 
targeting isolated older people 75 plus. 
 
8.16 Disablement Association of Barking & Dagenham (DABD)  

APPROVED - £122,000 over three years (£43,000, £39,000, £40,000) 
towards a halftime Advice Officer Community Solutions, a half time Advice 
Officer On-line Solutions and associated running costs. 
 
8.17 Lambeth Law Centre  
APPROVED - £133,500 over 3 years (£43,500; £44,500; £45,500) for a 
Welfare Benefit & Debt Project Case Worker post (31.5 h/plw), and the 
associated project costs of a new debt and welfare benefits advice outreach 
project. 
 
8.18 Lewisham Multilingual Advice  
APPROVED - £92,200 over three years (£31,500, £30,100, £30,600) as a 
contribution towards the Service Manager (8.5 hours per week), Advice 
Caseworker (11.5 hours per week), Project Administrator (11 hours per 
week), sessional workers each with different languages (6 hours per 
week), and associated running costs. 
 
8.19 Vision Care for Homeless People  
APPROVED - £37,100 over 3 years (£2,600, £17,000, £17,500) for the salary of 
a p/t (2 dpw) Volunteer Manager and associated costs. 
 
8.20 Alliance for Inclusive Education  
APPROVED - £166,300 over three years (£55,900; £55,700; £54,700) towards 
an Inclusion Champion post (2.5 days per week),  the Policy Co-ordinator (0.5 

Page 9



days per week) and a proportion of the Director's time (5 hours per week) and 
the Communications Officer (1 day per month),as well as the costs of 
developing the e-hub, and training and capacity building costs. 
 

8.21 Eastside Primetimers Foundation  
APPROVED - £99,400 over two years (2 x £49,700) towards Eastside 
Primetimers Foundation's financial mentoring services for the third sector in 
Greater London conditional on EPF confirming it is a registered charity. 
 

9. TO CONSIDER REPORTS OF THE CHIEF GRANTS OFFICER AS 
FOLLOWS:-  
 
9.1 Grants Recommended for Rejection  
The Committee considered a report of the CGO which recommended that 31 
grant applications be rejected for the reasons identified in the schedule in the 
attached report. 
 
RESOLVED – That 31 grant applications detailed in the schedule attached to 
the report be rejected. 
 
9.2 Grants Approved under Delegated Authority  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer which advised 
Members of six expenditure items, totalling £115,425 which had been 
presented for approval under delegated authority to the Chief Grants Officer in 
consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
9.3 Withdrawn and Lapsed Applications  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer which provided 
details of seven applications which had been withdrawn or had lapsed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
9.4 Variations to Grants  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer which advised 
Members of a variation to two grants agreed by the Chief Grants Officer since 
the last meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
9.5 Learning Visit Samples  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer about two visits 
that had taken place.  
 
RESOLVED – That the report be received. 
 

10. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  

Page 10



A Member asked if the information regarding charities supported by the CBT 
could be grouped under more general headings instead of individually. 
 

11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS TO BE 
URGENT  
There was no urgent business. 
 

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 

13. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 
be agreed as an accurate record.  
 

14. PIPELINE OF PRO-ACTIVE STRATEGIC GRANTS  
The Committee received a report of the CGO outlining the pipeline for strategic 
grants and detailing the status of those Strategic Initiatives currently under 
consideration by officers or where the status had changed since the last 
meeting.  
 

15. LEARNING VISIT REPORT (NORTH LONDON HOSPICE)  
The Committee received a report concerning a learning visit to the North 
London Hospice. 
 

16. STRATEGIC INITIATIVE MONITORING REPORT  
The Committee received an update concerning an account of an organisation’s 
first period of funding as a Strategic Initiative. 
 

17. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

18. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There was no urgent business. 

 
 
The meeting closed at 10.45 am 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
Contact Officer: Amanda Thompson 
amanda.thompson@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Committee Date: 

The City Bridge Trust Committee  11 May 2017 

Subject: 
Appointment to the Social Investment Board  

Public 

Report of: 
Town Clerk 

For Decision 
Report author: 
Philippa Sewell, Committee & Members’ Services Officer 

 
Summary 

 
The purpose of this report is to consider the appointment to the Social Investment 
Board. The proposed Terms of Reference and composition of the Board are given 
below. Subject to approval by the Investment Committee at its meeting on 17

th
 May 

2017, the Terms of Reference will continue as present with the Board meeting 
approximately five times a year (including an away day). 
 
The composition of the Social Investment Board includes the Chairman of the City 
Bridge Trust Committee for the time being or his/her nominee. As Chairman, Alderman 
Alison Gowman served on the Board for 2016/17. The Investment Committee recently 
approved a change to the composition including the addition of one Member of the City 
Bridge Trust Committee.  
 

Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that consideration be given to the two appointments to the Social 
Investment Board, namely the Chairman of the City Bridge Trust Committee for the time 
being or their nominee and one Member of the City Bridge Trust Committee. 
 

Main Report 
 

Social Investment Board 

Composition  

 Chairman to be determined by the Board* 

 The Chairman of the Policy & Resources Committee for the time being or his/her 
nominee;  

 The Chairman of the Finance Committee for the time being or his/her nominee; 

 The Chairman of the City Bridge Trust Committee for the time being or his/her 
nominee; 

 One Member of the City Bridge Trust Committee; 

 The Chairman of the Financial Investment Board for the time being or his/her 
nominee;  

 One Member of the Financial Investment Board;  

 One Member of the Property Investment Board;  

 Two Members of the Court of Common Council elected by the  

 Investment Committee, one of whom shall have fewer than five years’ service on 
the Court at the time of their appointment. 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



All nominees must be Members of the Court of Common Council. 
External co-opted members to be appointed for four-year terms, subject to annual 
reappointment at the first meeting of the Board after Annual Court in April.  
 
Quorum  

The quorum consists of any three Members of the Board. 

Terms of Reference 

The terms of reference for the Social Investment Board shall be as follows:- 

a) to approve criteria for social investments and to authorise social 
 investments in accordance with such criteria 

b) to approve the appointment of and monitor the performance of 
 independent advisors tasked with undertaking due diligence of 
 investment proposals; and 

c) all of the above to be consistent with the strategic investment policies 
 determined by the Policy and Resources Committee and the  Investment 
Committee. 

There is provision within Standing Orders to enable the Chairman of the Social 
Investment Board to report on and speak to their activities and responsibilities in the 
Court of Common Council and to ensure that any decisions are taken without undue 
delay.   

*Note on the Chairmanship 

The Social Investment Board shall elect annually a Chairman and a Deputy Chairman 
from amongst all of its Members (including ex-officio Members who shall also have the 
power to vote in such elections) with the exception of any co-opted people.  

Membership 2016/17 
 

Nominee of the Chairman of the Policy & 
Resources Committee Alderman Peter Hewitt 

The Chairman of the Finance Committee  Jeremy Mayhew 

The Chairman of the City Bridge Trust Committee Alderman Alison Gowman 

The Chairman of the Financial Investment Board  Andrew McMurtrie 

One Member of the Financial Investment Board Nicolas Bensted-Smith 

Two Members elected by the Court of Common 
Council 

Henry Colthurst 
Wendy Hyde 

Co-opted Members 
Elizabeth Corrado 
Tim Haywood 
Laura Tumbridge 

 
Philippa Sewell 
Committee & Members’ Services Officer, 
Town Clerk’s Department 
T: 020 7332 1426 
E: philippa.sewell@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 14

mailto:philippa.sewell@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Committee: Date:  

The City Bridge Trust Committee 11 May 2017 

Subject:  

Report of Action Taken Between Meetings 

Public 

Report of:  

Town Clerk 

For Information 

Report author: 

Philippa Sewell, Town Clerk’s Department 

 
Summary 

 
This report advises Members of action taken by the Town Clerk since the last 
meeting of the Board, in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman, in 
accordance with Standing Order Nos. 41(a) and (b). 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Members are asked to note the action taken by the Town Clerk, in consultation with 
the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Board, in accordance with Standing 
Order No. 41(a) and (b). 

 
Main Report 

 
Standing Order No. 41(a) - Strategic Initiative – London Emergencies Trust 
 
Background 

 
1. The tragic events of the afternoon of Wednesday 22nd March outside the 

Palace of Westminster have resulted in four fatalities (plus the assailant) and 
a larger cohort of about 50 people with injuries ranging from life-changing to 
the “walking wounded”. 

 
2. After extensive discussions, the London Emergencies Trust (LET) board 

concluded that the extent of the 22nd March incident warranted the initiation of 
an LET fund and invite a number of donations from trusts and foundations, 
statutory bodies, philanthropists and other sources (as identified by the British 
Red Cross).  

 
3. This was the LET’s first endeavour since its formation and as such, it held no 

“working funds” from which to meet its incidental and modest outgoings for its 
continued operation. This request therefore sought authority to award a grant 
of £75,000 to LET, of which up to £50,000 would be used as a direct donation 
to this appeal (the actual sum at the same level that each donor was asked to 
contribute) with the balance held to meet on-going general expenditure.  
Sufficient funds remained within the underspend of the core 2016/17 City 
Bridge Trust grants budget to meet this level of expenditure. 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



Reason for Urgency 
 

4. The reason for requesting urgency procedure was twofold: firstly so that the 
donations fund could be built up without delay, enabling prompt support to be 
provided to the potential beneficiaries (i.e. within a matter of days rather than 
weeks); and secondly to assure the London Emergencies Trust that it had 
funds available to meet any immediate running costs during the current period 
of activity. 

 
Action taken 
 

5. It was agreed by the Town Clerk, in consultation with the Chairman and 
Deputy Chairman of the Board, that: 

a) A grant of £75,000 be awarded to the London Emergencies Trust (LET) 
towards a fund for the bereaved families and injured survivors of the 
Westminster terror attack and to provide LET with working funds to 
meet other outgoings; and 

b) That the payment be made to London Funders on behalf of LET, with 
the funds transferred to an LET bank account when this is operational. 

 

Appendices 

6. None. 
 
 
 
Contact: 
Philippa Sewell 
Committee and Member Services Officer 
Town Clerk’s Department 
T: 020 7332 1426  E: philippa.sewell@cityoflondon.gov.uk   

Page 16

mailto:philippa.sewell@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Committee:  
City Bridge Trust (CBT) 
 

Dated:  
11th May 2017 
 

Subject: Progress Report 
 

Public 
 

Report of:  
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information  
 

 
 

Summary 
 
This is a regular report by the Chief Grants Officer. You are asked within this report 
to note: 
 

 The Work Continues. 

 Civil Society Futures – The independent Inquiry,  

 Charity Commission,  

 Strategic Review update, 

 Stepping Stones, 

 Human Resources update, 

 Finance update,  

 LGBT strategic support, 

 Learning: Praxis, and; 

 Grant-making (if today’s grants are approved, 10% of your Investing in 
Londoners core grants budget for 2017/18 will have been approved). 

 
Recommendation 

 
a) That the report be noted. 

 
Main Report 

 
The Work Continues 
 

1. Whilst we undertake our 5 year Strategic Review, the Trust’s everyday 
work continues in every London Borough.  I continue to make Friday visits 
to see some of the 500+ charities you are supporting at any one time 
throughout Greater London.  Members are reminded they are very 
welcome to join any of the visits.   

 
2. Most recently I visited The Log Cabin, Ealing. Your grant supports the part-

time Counsellor who works with young people aged 14 – 25 who are 
disabled, or have additional needs, or who are in need. Your Chief Grants 
Officer visited the leafy site next to Northfields Tube, was given a full tour 
of the impressive facility (the charity is co-located with Local Authority 
young people support services) and met the Counsellor you support.  She 
is impressive and clearly doing vital work with young people across the 
borough.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 9



 
Civil Society Futures – The independent Inquiry 
 

3. It is a fast changing context for community and voluntary sector 
organisations: from geopolitics, through to funding and the new 
relationships between the statutory, private and voluntary sectors. There 
has also been a reduction in trust of institutions and this has flowed 
through to some aspects of the charitable sector.  Against this backdrop, 
you will recall that you are contributing to the funding of an Inquiry into the 
future of civil society along with several other major funders (Baring 
Foundation, Esmee Fairbairn, Barrow Cadbury, Paul Hamlyn, Lloyds Bank 
Foundation, Lankelly Chase and Calouste Gulbenkian Foundation).  

 
4. Julia Unwin has been appointed to lead the Inquiry and she is supported 

by a secretariat of four organisations - Citizens UK, Goldsmiths University, 
Forum for the Future and openDemocracy.  

 
5. The Inquiry ‘kicked off’ on Thursday 20th April with the online hub going 

live, the social media campaign starting and Julia Unwin doing a keynote 
speech at the NCVO Conference on 21st April 2017. 

 
6. CBT forms part of the Inquiry’s Funder Observer Network, and will be 

meeting with 25 other funders on 9th June to discuss progress and feed 
into the Inquiry. Your Chairman and I will be attending this event. 

 
7. Further updates will be provided to this Committee at key junctures of the 

Inquiry. More information can be found at: https://civilsocietyfutures.org 

 
Charity Commission 
 

8. The Charity Commission for England and Wales announced that it would 
soon be opening a consultation on whether charities might contribute to 
the costs of the regulator. Now, with HM Treasury’s approval, that 
consultation looks imminent. 

 
9. The exact nature of the charge is not yet known i.e. What would the 

threshold be for small and large charities? Would charities be affected on a 
sliding scale? How would charities be grouped?  There is currently no 
information available on how the Commission plans to implement the 
charge. CBT will maintain a watching brief on this, working through the 
National Council of Voluntary Organisations (NCVO) and the Association 
of Charitable Foundations (ACF) and provide a further update to this 
Committee in due course. 

Strategic Review Update 
 

10. Following your consideration of the first draft of the Trust’s 2018-2023 
funding strategy, your Head of Strategic Review and I would like to thank 
all Members for their contributions to date in developing the strategy. A 

Page 18

https://civilsocietyfutures.org/


separate paper follows with the final draft of the funding strategy for your 
consideration.   

 

11. Once the funding strategy has been approved by Members of this 
Committee, the strategy will go before Court of Common Council this July. 
A detailed implementation plan is being developed by your Officers, and 
will be reported to a future committee.  This will include consideration of 
the resources that will be required to deliver the funding strategy 
effectively. 

 
Human Resources Update 
 

12. Since the last Committee, Rebecca Green (Grants Administrator) has 
secured a role as a Grants Manager at the AB Charitable Trust (AB).  
Rebecca’s new role will be part time (3 days per week) and so, for a 12 
month period, Rebecca will be staying on with CBT as your Grants 
Administrator for 2 days per week. This arrangement is likely to commence 
in mid-June, when she takes up her new role at AB. Additional 
administrative resource is being organised. 

 
13. Marek Habrda has accepted a 12 month contract to undertake the grants 

monitoring and evaluation role, previously delivered by Simrat Kaur-Gupta. 
Marek will start this role on 1st May 2017. 

 
14. The 12 month Social Investment On-Purpose scheme completed in April 

2017.   Both Kyro Brooks and Neha Chandgothia were each in post for 6 
months, and both delivered outstanding work on your behalf.  Building on 
their work and to strengthen the Social Investment team, a Social 
Investment Fund Associate is to be recruited.  This job will go out to advert 
after undergoing the standard job evaluation process.   

 
15. Scott Nixon’s contract to deliver the Head of Projects role has been 

extended for a further 6 months, whilst the wider resource needs of the 
department are reviewed in light of the Strategic Review, 

 
Finance update 
 

16. CBT has been increasing the strategic approach to its grant making 
including more longer-term, proactive grants developed in partnership with 
experts and based on evidence of need. 

 
17. This approach has been taken in respect of 80% of the additional money 

agreed for grant-making as a result of CBT’s 20th Anniversary: with 
detailed plans having been developed and agreed by this Committee to 
focus grants on the employability of disabled people and those with mental 
health issues; and also improving the resilience of London’s voluntary 
sector (infrastructure support). The remaining 20% has been committed to 
charities through the core Investing in Londoners (IIL) grants programme. 

 

Page 19



18. To deliver these plans and commit the funding allocation to the expert 
charities selected as grant recipients, a report has been submitted under 
urgency to Resource Allocation Sub-Committee  to approve the carry-
forward of the remainder of the  20th Anniversary grant funding (agreed by 
Court but uncommitted as yet to specific charities) of £4,448,000 to the 
17/18 financial year.  This was requested under urgency to enable the 
CBT Committee to agree detailed 5 year grant proposals at its May and 
July 2017 committee meetings.  

 
19. As part of CBT’s 5 year strategic review to inform the 2018-2023 grant 

spend, consideration is being given as to how the approach to the grants 
budget might be improved to better support the delivery of high impact, 
longer-term grants: a detailed paper for the CBT Committee and Resource 
Allocation Sub Committee (RASC) is proposed. 

 
20. A copy of the full report submitted to RASC under urgency is provided at 

Appendix 1, for Member information. 
 
Stepping Stones Fund 
 

21. Since I reported on this initiative at your March meeting UBS has 
confirmed a very welcome co-funding contribution of £50,000 towards the 
round which, alongside the considerable employee volunteering input and 
room space they make available, maintains this excellent partnership. We 
continue discussions with a further potential co-funding partner, although 
this is more likely to come to fruition in a subsequent round of the scheme.  
 

22. The fourth round of Stepping Stones will close to first stage applications on 
10th May and Tim Wilson will be able to provide an update on the level of 
interest at your Committee meeting. Once officers have shortlisted these 
initial applications the full proposals and detailed assessment reviews will 
take place over the summer, with awards made in September (the decision 
panel including your Chairman, Deputy Chairman and a UBS 
representative). 

 
LGBT strategic support 
 

23. At your last meeting you were advised that the Trust had received 3 
proposals for furthering LGBT support in London, with the intention that 
these would be brought to this meeting for your decision. However, as the 
full assessment process has not been completed on all of them they will 
now be deferred until your June Committee as it is more sensible to 
consider them together, including a more recent, additional, request for 
interesting work in this area. 

 
Learning: Praxis 
 

24. Your grantee Praxis is currently in receipt of a grant of £182,000 over three 
years to provide specialist one-to-one advice, casework and support to 
London-based migrant and refugee women clients who have 
survived/experienced trafficking and/or gender-based violence.  

Page 20



25. Praxis is also working in conjunction with Commonweal, which is in receipt 
of a £500,000 investment from the City of London Corporation’s Social 
Investment Fund. A seven year loan has been awarded to provide good-
quality accommodation for vulnerable migrants with no recourse to public 
funds through the purchase and management of seven homes in the 
Croydon area. The accommodation will benefit up to 210 families and 126 
individuals over the investment term. 

 
26. In 2013 Praxis Community Projects established Praxis Enterprise CIC as a 

vehicle to found an innovative language school with the help of social 
investment from charitable grant-making trusts and foundations, including 
City Bridge Trust. The purpose of the school was both to fulfil a social 
purpose and, in time, to generate a reliable source of recurring unrestricted 
income for the parent charity. In the summer of 2015 the enterprise closed 
and was placed into liquidation despite the best efforts of its management 
and directors to make it a success.  

 
27. Given CBT’s commitment to learning from its funding and supporting its 

grantees to do so, CBT funded the production of a report, the purpose of 
which was to consider the story of Praxis Enterprise CIC and explore what 
could helpfully be learned - both for those making social investments and 
for charities making use of social investment to establish substantial new 
ventures.  

 
28. It is widely known that the majority of new businesses fail in their first two 

years. The purpose of the report was not to re-explore an area that was 
already extensively researched. Rather, to explore those particular points 
that are relevant to the developing field of social investment. The report 
asks: what is there to learn when charities establish new enterprises with 
funds from social investors?  The report is available to view on the CBT 
website here. 

 
Grant Applications Summary 

 

29. Your meeting today will consider 88 applications of which 30 have been 
approved under delegated authority and 21 are being recommended for 
funding today (14 of these are under your Investing in Londoners 
programme, and 7 are under your 20th Anniversary Employability strand). 
Of the 30 awards to be noted as approved by delegated authority 27 of 
these were approved in the 2016/17 financial year, and 3 are in the current 
2017/18 financial year. The total recommended sum from your Investing in 
Londoners grants budget is £1,665,300. If all recommendations are 
approved you will have spent 10% of your Investing in Londoners core 
grants budget for 2017/18 at this first meeting. The implications of today’s 
recommendations are shown in Table 1 against the grants budget for 
2017/18.  
 

30. A final summary of 2016/17 grants activity, including those grants 
approved under delegated authority post the March Committee, has been 

Page 21

http://www.citybridgetrust.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Praxis-Enterprise-CIC-Learning-April-2017-FINAL.pdf


included as Appendix 2, by way of context for the 2017/18 data reflected in 
the tables and statistics presented below. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Table 1: Overall spend against 2017/18 budget

Grants budget Grants spend Pending 

applications

% spend of 

annual budget

Original Grants Budget £15,000,000

20th anniversary budget uplift £1,000,000

Write-Backs & Revocations £25,000

UBS contribution £50,000

Carry forward 2016/17 (subject to approval) £166,190

Total Budget Available £16,241,190

Today's recommendations

May 2017 £1,665,300 10%

Total annual spend £1,665,300 10%

Remaining budget £14,575,890

Proposed use of remaining budget

Submitted applications - under assessment £1,915,072 12%

Stepping Stones £550,000 3%

Strategic initiatives £1,500,000 9%

Available grants balance £10,610,818 65%

Summary

Grants committed £0 0%

Grants recommended £1,665,300 10%

Balance remaining £14,575,890 0%

Core 2017/18 Investing in Londoners grants budget

Page 22



 
 
 
 

Grants budget Grants spend Pending 

applications

% spend of 

annual budget

2015/16 carry forward £1,135,000

2016/17 carry forward £1,600,000

Total £2,735,000

2017/18 new budget £2,000,000

Total budget available £4,735,000

Spend at previous meetings in 2017/18 £0 0%

Recommended grant spend today £3,475,568 73%

Recommended non-grant spend today* £1,259,432 27%

Total spend £4,735,000 100%

Remaining budget £0 0%

Summary

Grants committed £0 0%

Spend recommended £4,735,000 100%

Balance remaining £0 0%

2015/16 carry forward £113,000

2016/17 carry forward £1,600,000

Total £1,713,000

2017/18 budget £2,000,000

Total budget available £3,713,000

Spend at previous meetings in 2017/18 £0 0%

Recommended spend today £0 0%

Total spend £0 0%

Remaining budget £3,713,000 100%

Summary

Grants committed £0 0%

Grants recommended £0 0%

Balance remaining £3,713,000 100%

2017/18 budget £1,000,000

Balance to be drawn down £1,000,000

Summary

Balance remaining £1,000,000 100%

Additional funding streams

Anniversary programme: employability (20th anniversary budget uplift of 40%)

Anniversary programme: infrastructure support (20th anniversary budget uplift of 40%)

Annual funding for Prince's Trust funding (agreed Oct 14)

*This represents expenditure such as management costs, evaluation activity or related research that is recommend for 

approval but will not be awarded as a grant to another charity

Overall Grant Summary

Grants committed £0 0%

Grants recommended £6,400,300 39%

Balance remaining £19,288,890 0%

Page 23



 

 

 

 

 

31. The total of grants currently under on-going management by your Grants Officers is 
shown in Table 2. Prior to the approvals recommended for this Committee, the total sum 
for grants currently being managed is £28,125,000. Should the Committee approve the 
applications proposed at today’s Committee this balance will rise to £33,265,868.  
 

 

Table 2

Grant commitments under management as at 27th April 2017

Table for 2017/18 year-to-date £ £

Prior year grant commitments brough-forward as at 31 March 2017 28,618,000

Grant awarded in 2017/18 0

Grant write-backs in 2017/18 (25,000)

(25,000)

Payments made in 2017/18 to Grantees (468,000)

Current grant commitments as at 27th April 2017 28,125,000

Page 24



32. Table 3 shows the grant awards you have made this financial year under Investing in Londoners and today’s 
recommendations by programme. 

 
Table 3: Investing in Londoners awards and recommendations by programme 

  
   

  Number of grants Value of grants 

Fund/Program Year to 
date 

Today's 
meeting 

Total % total 
grants 

Year to 
date 

Today's 
meeting 

Total % 
total 
value 

English for Speakers of Other Languages 0 0 0 0% £0 £0 £0 0% 

Improving Londoners' Mental Health 0 3 3 18% £0 £191,950 £191,950 12% 

Improving London's Environment 0 1 1 6% £0 £80,000 £80,000 5% 

Making London More Inclusive 0 5 5 29% £0 £708,750 £708,750 43% 

Making London Safer 0 2 2 12% £0 £282,000 £282,000 17% 

Older Londoners 0 0 0 0% £0 £0 £0 0% 

Reducing Poverty 0 2 2 12% £0 £167,000 £167,000 10% 

Resettlement & Rehabilitation of 
Offenders 

0 0 0 0% £0 £0 £0 0% 

Stepping Stones 0 0 0 0% £0 £0 £0 0% 

Strengthening London's Voluntary Sector 0 2 2 12% £0 £230,000 £230,000 14% 

Strategic Initiatives 0 0 0 0% £0 £0 £0 0% 

Eco-audits 0 2 2 12% £0 £5,600 £5,600 0% 

Access Audits 0 0 0 0% £0 £0 £0 0% 

Grand total 0 17 17 100% £0 £1,665,300 £1,665,300 100% 

 
 

P
age 25



 

 

33. Chart 1 shows the flow of applications received over the last financial year 
and action taken, allowing any seasonal variations to be seen. This 
excludes Strategic Initiatives, Partnership Funds and the Anniversary 
Programmes as they are usually solicited rather than open programmes. 

 

The application shown as received in August 2016 was incomplete at the time and pending additional 
information which did not materialise until late February 2017. 

 
34. Between 1st April 2016 and 31st March 2017, 392 applications were 

received for the Investing in Londoners programmes. 100 applications 
have been approved and 188 declined (the remainder are pending).  The 
spike in applications seen in August 2016 is due to the closing date for 
rounds of the Stepping Stones Fund.  Otherwise applications are fairly 
evenly spread across the year, which is comparable to previous years. 

 
35. Officers are asking you to consider 88 applications at this meeting. Of 

these, 21 are recommended for a grant, 16 are recommended for 
rejection, 15 applications have been withdrawn by applicants and 6 have 
been lapsed following several unsuccessful attempts by officers for further 
information. 30 applications have been approved under the scheme of 
delegations and are reported to this meeting for information (27 of these 
were approved outside of this financial year), see Table 4. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

 

Table 4: Action to be taken on applications today 
 
Investing in Londoner's applications 
     

Action to be taken  Number Amount 

Applications recommended for grant to Committee 14 £1,629,150 

Funding approved by delegated authority up to 
£10,000 (to note)  

2 £5,600 

Funding approved by delegated authority from 
£10,001 - £25,000 (to note)  

0 £0 

Funding approved by delegated authority from 
£25,001 - £50,000 (to note) 

1 £30,550 

Applications recommended for rejection 16 n/a 

Withdrawn applications (to note) 15 n/a 

Applications lapsed (to note) 6 n/a 

Total Investing in Londoners applications 54 £1,665,300 

Other delegated approvals to note (approved 
outside of 2017/18 financial year) 
Investing in Londoners 
Anniversary Programme: Infrastructure 
Total 

12 
15 
27 

 
 

£253,500 
£737,000 
£990,500 

   

Anniversary Programme: Employability 
Recommended for grant to Committee 7 £3,475,568 

   
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 - Report to Resource Allocation Sub-Committee under Urgency ‘Carry 
forward of uncommitted grants budget 2016/17’  
 
Appendix 2 – Overall spend against 2016/17 budget 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
David Farnsworth 
Director of CBT and Chief Grants Officer 
T: 020 7332 3713 
E: David.Farnsworth@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 27

mailto:David.Farnsworth@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



APPENDIX 1 
 

 
Summary 

 
The City of London Corporation’s charitable funder, City Bridge Trust (CBT) is now 
London’s largest independent grant-maker. CBT has been increasing the strategic 
approach to its grant making including more longer-term, proactive grants developed 
in partnership with experts and based on evidence of need. 
 

This approach has been taken in respect of 80% of the additional money agreed for 
grant-making as a result of CBT’s 20th Anniversary: with detailed plans having been 
developed and agreed by the CBT Committee to focus grants on the employability of 
disabled people and those with mental health issues; and also improving the 
resilience of London’s voluntary sector (infrastructure support). The remaining 20% 
has been committed to charities through the core Investing in Londoners (IIL) grants 
programme. 
 

To deliver these plans and commit the funding allocation to the expert charities 
selected as grant recipients, this report recommends  the approval of the carry-
forward of the remainder of the  20th Anniversary grant funding (agreed by Court but 
uncommitted as yet to specific charities) of £4,448,000 to the 17/18 financial year.  
This is being requested under urgency to enable the CBT Committee to agree 
detailed 5 year grant proposals at its May and July 2017 committee meetings.  
 

As part of CBT’s 5 year strategic review to inform the 2018-2023 grant spend, 
consideration is being given as to how the approach to the grants budget might be 
improved to better support the delivery of high impact, longer-term grants: a detailed 
paper for the CBT Committee and Resource Allocation Sub Committee (RASC) is 
proposed. 
 

Recommendations 
 

Members are asked to: 
a) Approve that the balance of uncommitted funding available to CBT for the 

Anniversary programmes, supporting Employability and Infrastructure 
Support, of £4,448,000 be carried forward to the financial year 2017/18; and 

b) Note that a paper will be presented to the CBT Committee and the RASC 
during 2017/18 to propose how the treatment of the grants budget might be 
improved to better support the delivery of longer-term, high impact grant-
making.  

Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

Resource Allocation Sub –Committee 
 

Urgency 

Subject: 
Carry forward of uncommitted grants budget 2016/17  
 

 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer & the Chamberlain 
 

For Decision 
 

Page 29



Background 
 

1. CBT is the charitable funding arm of the charity, Bridge House Estates, of 
which the City of London Corporation is the sole corporate trustee.  A policy, 
approved by the Court of Common Council and based on consultation and 
evidence of need, sets out the spending parameters of the charitable funding. 
 

2. As London’s largest independent grant-maker, CBT works to ensure it has the 
most impact with its charitable spend. Over the past three years CBT has 
moved to a more strategic approach to its grant-making:  with Court approval, 
it can now make longer grants (up to 5 years, and exceptionally 10 years) and 
has also increased the proportion of its grants budget available for ‘proactive’ 
grant-making – i.e. grants worked up with invited partners, informed by the 
core investing in Londoners grants programme, to target specific issues. 
 

3. Against this back drop of increasing CBT’s strategic focus, in July 2015, in 
CBT’s 20th Anniversary year, the Court of Common Council agreed an uplift 
to the CBT core grants budget, equating to an extra £3m in 2015/16; £4m in 
2016/17; and £5m in 2017/18. As set out in table 1 below, these additional 
funds were to be used to provide a 20% uplift in the core IIL grants 
programme; 40% for strategic grants to support the most disadvantaged into 
work; and 40% to support strategic grants to strengthen charities in London 
(e.g. improving their governance, financial and fundraising skills.). 

 
4.  

Table 1: Anniversary funding 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Total

£ £ £ £

Employability programmes 1,200,000 1,600,000 2,000,000 4,800,000

Infrastructure support 1,200,000 1,600,000 2,000,000 4,800,000

Subtotal 2,400,000 3,200,000 4,000,000 9,600,000

Core IIL grants budget 600,000 800,000 1,000,000 2,400,000

Total 3,000,000 4,000,000 5,000,000 12,000,000  
 

5. In 2015/16: 
a.  The IIL core budget was therefore increased by £600,000 and the 

allocation was fully committed; 
b. CBT began work to determine how best to deploy the resources 

focused on employability.  Mindful of its trustee’s work in this area and 
wishing to make the most impact with the charitable funds, CBT 
contributed to the development of a City of London Employability 
Strategy to ensure any grant-making was complementary to this, based 
on the same analysis of needs. During this development time, no funds 
were committed. 

c. CBT also began work to determine how best to deploy the resources 
focused to strengthen charities in London: Pan London research, ‘the 
Way Ahead’ was commissioned and recommendations developed with 

Page 30



key stakeholders, including leading charities, London Councils, and 
London Funders. During this development time, £350,000 was 
committed towards London’s voluntary sector infrastructure support.  

d. The balance of £2,050,000 for the 2 areas referenced in 5b and 5c 
above was agreed to be carried-forward as part of the 15/16 year-end 
process. 

 
Current position 
 

6. In 2016/2017: 
 

a. The IIL core budget was increased by a further £800,000 and the 
allocation was fully committed; 

b. The plans to deploy the additional monies focussed on employability 
and support for London’s charities were further developed in 
partnership with key stakeholders across London. Commitments of 
£65,000 were agreed by CBT in respect of this work during the course 
of the year and plans as to future spend were considered and agreed 
by the CBT Committee in March 2017 (see Table 2 below for a more 
detailed breakdown of the allocation of the money against the 
programme elements and the sums committed): 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



Table 2: Allocation of anniversary funding 
 

Employability programmes 2015 - 18: £

Bridge to Work - supporting young disabled Londoners to get into work 

& maintain employment 3,300,000

Supporting predominantly young people with mental health issues into 

and in employment 1,500,000

Funding available 4,800,000

Funds committed in 16/17 - Mental Health programme (65,000)

Yet to be allocated - employability 4,735,000

Infrastructure support 2015 - 18

The Bridge Fund - short term funding for key infrastructure bodies as a 

result of the withdrawal of funding from London Councils 1,000,000

The Cornerstone Fund - support for a pan-London strategic fund, 

working with other funders and key stakeholders, to support the 

infrastructure underpinning London’s civil society 3,000,000

Other developments arising 800,000

Funding available 4,800,000

Funds committed in 15/16 - voluntary sector support (350,000)

Funds committed in 16/17 - The Bridge Fund (737,000)

Yet to be allocated - infrastructure support 3,713,000

Total yet to be allocated 8,448,000

 Funding Balance: £

2015/16 1,248,000

2016/17 3,200,000

Subtotal requested for carry-forward 4,448,000

2017/18 4,000,000

Total anniversary progrtammes yet to be allocated 8,448,000

Funding previously committed 1,152,000

Total Employability/Infrastructure support funding (per Table 1) 9,600,000  
 
 

7. This paper requests that the balance of funding allocated in 15/16 and 16/17 
of £4,448,000 be approved for carry-forward to enable the work undertaken to 
date on these programmes to be continued. Significant awards are planned to 
be made at the May CBT Committee, which takes place prior to the normal 
annual cycle for agreement of carry-forward budgets. 

 
Proposal for a change in treatment of grants budgets 
 

8. Up to 2015/16, CBT focussed on shorter term grant funding. Grants approved 
covered a 1-3 year funding timeframe, with pre-award discussions taking 
place over several months. With increased strategic focus and the provision of 
an increasing grants budget, CBT is now in a position to consider funding 

Page 32



higher value programmes that will have significant reach and impact over a 
longer time period. Such programmes require investment in upfront analysis 
by the team, external experts, collaboration and feedback from Members to 
inform plans. A further period is then required in specific discussions with 
potential partners, to determine where the approach and skills needed to 
achieve the required outcomes exists. The final stage involves undertaking 
financial assessments of the selected partners, to ensure that they meet 
CBT’s risk criteria. 

 
9. Developing these higher value, impactful, longer-term grants may lead to 

lengthy periods of time between the allocation of funding to CBT, and the 
commitment (or spending) of these funds. An annual grant allocation followed 
by decisions on carry forward in the second quarter of the subsequent 
financial year is not the most efficient or effective way to support this 
approach.  

 
10. As part of CBT’s 5 year strategic review to inform the 2018-2023 grant spend, 

consideration is being given as to how to ensure the best possible 
governance and operational management to support delivery of the strategy.  
Within this context, consideration is being given to how the approach to the 
grants budget might be improved to better support the business to deliver high 
impact, longer-term grants: early work indicates that recommended 
improvements may include considering the grants budget akin to a capital 
budget which supports the delivery of a 5 year strategy and the establishment 
of a designated reserve within Bridge House Estates balance sheet for grant-
making. 
 

11. Officers will produce a detailed paper to present to the CBT Committee and 
Resource Allocation Sub Committee, in financial year 2017/18, setting out 
proposals for improvements in the future treatment of the grants budget.  

 
Conclusion 
 

12. CBT, as a result of the anniversary funding allocated across 3 financial years 
from mid15/16, is currently planning and delivering long-term programmes 
relating to Employability and Infrastructure Support. To enable this work to 
continue in line with scheduled plans, approval for a carry-forward of funding 
from 15/16 and 16/17 is required ahead of its May Committee.  

 
13. To enable seamless continuation of long-term grant giving programmes, a 

proposal to consider the grants budget in a way which better supports the 
business purpose (potentially more akin to a capital budget) will be worked up 
and presented to Committee later this financial year. 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



Overall spend against 2016/17 budget       APPENDIX 2 
          

  

Grants budget Grants spend Pending 
applications 

% spend of 
annual budget 

Core 2016/17 Investing in Londoners grants budget 

Original Grants Budget £15,000,000       

20th anniversary budget uplift (20%) £800,000       

Write-Backs & Revocations £1,237,285       

2015/16 overspend (£540,000)       

UBS contribution £200,000       

Total Budget Available £16,697,285       

          

Total for each Committee meeting         

May 2016 ( from 2016/17 budget)   £3,318,425   20% 

July 2016   £1,810,650   11% 

September 2016   £2,485,167   15% 

November 2016   £4,317,244   26% 

January 2017   £1,546,084   9% 

March 2017   £2,800,025   17% 

May 2017 (delegated authorities from 2016/17 budget)   £253,500   2% 

Approved spend   £16,531,095     

          

Total spend   £16,531,095   99% 

Remaining budget subject to carry-forward £166,190     1% 

 
 
 
  

        

P
age 35



Additional funding streams 

Anniversary programme: employability (20th anniversary budget uplift of 40%) 

2015/16 carry forward £1,200,000       

2016/17 budget £1,600,000       

Total budget available £2,800,000       

Total spend (March 2017 meeting)   £65,000     

Total spend   £65,000   2% 

Balance remaining at 31/03/2017 £2,735,000     98% 

          

Anniversary programme: infrastructure support (20th anniversary budget uplift of 40%) 

2015/16 carry forward £850,000       

2016/17 budget £1,600,000       

Total budget available £2,450,000       

          

Total spend (Delegated authorities in March 2017, reported to 
May 2017)   £737,000     

Total spend in 2016/17   £737,000   30% 

Balance remaining at 31/03/2017 £1,713,000     70% 

          

Annual funding for Prince's Trust funding (agreed Oct 14) 

2016/17 budget £1,000,000       

Grants approved   £1,000,000     

Balance remaining £0       

Total spend in 2016/17   £1,000,000   100% 

Balance remaining at 31/03/2017 £0     0% 

          

          

P
age 36



Overall Grant Summary       % spend of 
total annual 
budget 

Total spend in 2016/17   £18,333,095   80% 

Balance remaining at 31/03/2017 £4,614,190     20% 

 

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 38



 

 
 

Committee 
 

Date 

City Bridge Trust 11th May 2017 
 

Subject 
City Bridge Trust Funding Strategy  2018-2023  
 

Public 

Report of 
The Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Decision 

Report Author 
Sufina Ahmad 
 

 
Summary 

 
This paper provides: 
 

 An update of the work completed for the Strategic Review from February 2017 to-
date; 

 A finalised version of the strategy for your approval; and  

 Details on proposed next steps in terms of recommending the agreed final strategy 
to Court in July 2017. 
  

Recommendations 
 

Members are asked to: 
 

a) Note the update on the work completed since February 2017 to finalise the strategy, 
and raise any questions; 

b) Receive a short presentation from the Head of Strategic Review to aid your decision-
making for approving the strategy, recognising that your agreement can be given 
along with stipulations for changes you wish to see incorporated ahead of the agreed 
final strategy being taken to Court in July 2017; and  

c) Review the proposed next steps and provide your feedback on the options outlined, 
including how you would like to engage with/be updated on the refining of the 
strategy in the coming weeks. 

. 
Background  
 

1. The City of London Corporation (CoLC) is the Trustee of the charity Bridge House 
Estates (Charity No. 1035628).  In 1995, the decision was taken  to create City 
Bridge Trust (CBT). The surplus income available was to be applied for charitable 
activities, in accordance with a governing Scheme brought into effect on the 20 April 
1995 (by Statutory Instrument 1995/1047). 

   
2. The Scheme requires the Trustee, where there is applicable income (i.e. income 

surplus to the requirements to maintain and support the 5 Bridges which is the 
primary object of the charity), to settle a policy for the application of that income and 
to consult such persons as the Commission may direct. The Commission, by Order 
dated 10 July 1997, has directed the Trustee inter alia: 

Page 39

Agenda Item 10



 

 

 
“...to consult with such persons, bodies corporate, local authorities, government 
departments and agencies, voluntary organisations and other bodies as the Trustee 
might think appropriate from time to time, having regard to the purposes, functions 
and interest of the consultees, and to inform the Commission in writing of the 
consultation process it progressed from time to time”. 

 
3. Since 1995, in accordance with this scheme, reviews involving considerable 

consultation have been conducted every five years.  In your May 2016 Committee 
meeting you agreed a resource package to support the development of this strategy.  
At your February 2017 Committee meeting you received a detailed update on the 
consultation and research.  You also agreed to the publication of a draft strategy, 
and for your Head of Strategic Review to consult on this draft strategy with Members, 
CoLC and CBT officers and external stakeholders.  This consultation has resulted in 
a finalised version of the strategy being developed, which is included as Appendix A, 
and presented to you for your approval in today’s meeting.   

 
4. The intention is for the strategy to be formally agreed by the Court of Common 

Council (Court) in July 2017.    
 
Progress Update 
 

5. Below is an update on progress made on the Strategic Review, since your last full 
update in February 2017: 

 
Research  
 

6. To support the development of this review, the following pieces of research have 
been commissioned and shared externally and internally: 
 
a) A London Needs Analysis – Literature Review, Olivia Dix (published October 

2016) 
b) Grantee Perception Survey, Center (sic) for Effective Philanthropy (published 

December 2016) 
c) Mapping the London Funding Ecology, Collaborate CIC (published January 2017) 
d) Social Investment Scoping Report, Eva Varga (published February 2017) 
 
A Funding Approaches Review (formerly referred to a Funding Best Practice Paper) 
was commissioned through Rob Bell, a former director at the Paul Hamlyn 
Foundation, and has now been completed.  This paper will be particularly useful 
when informing the design and delivery of the various funding tools and funder plus 
options that are discussed in the strategy.  Appendix B provides an Executive 
Summary of the Review, and the full report, along with the rest of the research 
commissioned for the review can be found on the CBT website using this link: 
https://www.citybridgetrust.org.uk/strategic-review/research-for-the-review/.   

 
 
 
Feedback from the consultation on the draft strategy 
 

Page 40

https://www.citybridgetrust.org.uk/strategic-review/research-for-the-review/


 

 

7. Since February 2017, the following consultation activities have been carried out: 
 

a) External Stakeholder Engagement, which has included: 
- Publication of an advert promoting the Strategic Review in City AM in February 

2017; 
- Publication of an interview with your Chief Grants Officer and your Head of 

Strategic Review in the Charity Times in February 2017; 
- Regular promotion of the draft strategy via the CBT website and Twitter from 

February 2017 onwards; 
- An online survey seeking feedback on the draft strategy from 9th February 2017 

until 31st March 2017, which received eighty four responses; 
- Attendance at various workshops by your Head of Strategic Review to promote 

the draft strategy, including London For All Conference organised by the London 
Voluntary Service Council; and 

- Ten external focus groups, each aimed at ten to twelve attendees, including a 
focus group organised by Citizens UK London for its members in South and West 
London, another organised by Inclusion London for its members from across 
London and a meeting with the Senior Management Team at London Youth.  
One hundred and twenty people attended these Focus Groups, and less than ten 
of those people had been to the engagement meetings carried out before 
December 2016, resulting in us receiving new inputs in to the strategy.   

 
b) Member Engagement: including a Members’ Breakfast (25 Members attended), 

one-to-one meetings, regular updates at CBT Committee Meetings, Member 
Inductions and updates for the Members’ Briefings. 
 

c) Alderman Engagement: through one-to-one meetings, updates for the Members’ 
Briefings and a presentation to the General Purposes Committee on 9th May 2017.  

 
d) CoLC Officer Engagement: through an internal staff communications campaign 

which ran from 18th February 2017 to 8th March 2017 and meetings with senior 
officers from CoLC departments, including the Town Clerk’s Office, Chamberlain’s, 
Comptroller and City Solicitor’s, Communications, Children and Community Services, 
Open Spaces, Economic Development Office and the Office of the City 
Remembrancer. 
 

e) CBT Team Engagement: through one-to-one meetings, fortnightly e-updates and 
three staff focus group sessions in April 2017.  

 
8. Feedback on the draft strategy has been broadly positive and very supportive of the 

new direction being outlined.  The following list summarises the overarching 
feedback received, which has been incorporated in the strategy presented to you 
today: 
 

a) Values -  
80% or more of survey respondents felt that each of the values highlighted were 
either ‘very important’ or ‘important’.  The values were also well supported in the 
face-to-face discussions.   
 

Page 41



 

 

More clarity was requested in terms of what was meant by the fifth value (‘Being 
adaptive and creative, with a clear sense of purpose), particularly in terms of the 
meaning behind the word creative, and the role of innovation under this value.  There 
were also some requests for more clarity on the meaning of early action.  CBT was 
encouraged in most cases to be even bolder and more explicit about what it hopes to 
achieve under each value, and this point was made in particular when discussing the 
‘care for the environment’ value. 

 
b) Language – 

Those engaged in the consultation were positive about the style and tone of the 
strategy, and encouraged us to retain this.  However, there were discussions about 
the inclusion of words like disadvantaged, marginalised, inequalities, divides.  Overall 
many felt that there was a clear desire to show that as a funder CBT recognises the 
assets and intrinsic value in those experiencing these deficits, but that in some 
places the wording of the strategy could be changed to reflect this more clearly.  
Therefore, the strategy has been shared with an external consultant, who has 
worked with other funders, and is an expert in applying asset-based language, and 
he has provided recommendations which have been incorporated in to the strategy 
presented in today’s meeting. 
 

c) What CBT will fund –  
CBT was encouraged to adopt flexibility and some breadth in the definition of its 
funding priorities.  Perhaps the best shorthand for what CBT was encouraged to 
achieve in describing its funding priorities was simply to: ‘be specific, but not 
prescriptive’.   Through the consultation it was agreed that CBT would add a fifth 
funding priority (advice and support); provide some examples of the kinds of 
activities that could be funded under each priority; make clearer whether or not CBT 
would continue to fund civil society infrastructure organisations and to clarify what 
thriving means to CBT in the context of the vision outlined.   

 
d) CBT’s ambitions –  

There were many questions about what success would look like for CBT in 2023, 
when the strategy comes to an end.  Therefore, CBT has re-imagined the section in 
the draft strategy called ‘CBT’s ambitions’ and replaced it with a ‘Defining success’ 
section. 

 
e) CBT’s funder plus offer and toolbox – 

There was a lot of support and encouragement for CBT to expand the ways in which 
it could support organisations to access its funding and non-monetary resources.  
CBT was encouraged to be bold in the re-design of its funding approaches and 
processes, and there was strong support for a comprehensive funder plus offer 
which does more to utilise the non-monetary assets we have access to as a funder, 
particularly through the CoLC as CBT’s corporate trustee.  The need for ambitious 
funder plus support was seen as critical, given that there are many civil society 
organisations that are struggling to survive and carry out their work successfully. 

 
f) Transparency –  

CBT was commended for outlining potential success measures, through its 
ambitions, and for committing to ensuring there was regular and ongoing learning.  
Many of those involved were also supportive of the consultative and collaborative 

Page 42



 

 

approach undertaken to-date for the review.  There was a real sense that for these 
reasons CBT was committing to transparency and dialogue from internal and 
external partners to support it in not only designing its strategy, but in implementing it 
too. 

 
g) Clarity –  

There was consistent feedback that in the finalised strategy more clarity would be 
needed in terms of what CBT means in terms of the values it expresses, what it will 
fund, and the diversity of its funding approaches.  There was also feedback about 
simplifying some of the funding priorities, e.g. place based funding did not need to 
incorporate both communities of place and communities of interest.  CBT was 
regularly encouraged to better highlight how the values it had outlined linked to the 
funding priorities.  Finally, there were some requests for the inclusion of statistics or 
references to research to evidence further some of the issues identified. 
 

Finalised CBT Strategy for 2018 to 2023 Strategy   
 

9. To devise this strategy, your Head of Strategic Review and the wider CBT team have 
consulted extensively with a range of different partners, spanning many London 
networks and sectors, including: Londoners; civil society (i.e. voluntary and 
community sector) organisations; the public and private sectors; funders and policy 
makers; the CBT team and Members and officers within the City of London 
Corporation.  In addition, CBT has commissioned research and surveys that have 
added to the strong evidence base from which this strategy has been devised.   

 
10. The key points to highlight are: 

 
a. Developing the new strategy entitled Bridging Divides has allowed CBT to consider 

carefully the kinds of increasingly complex social problems it tackles; the approaches 
it take to investing in these matters and the way in which it can use its power and 
partnerships to make positive change happen.  Bridging Divides shows that in order 
for CBT’s work to be effective, it must first recognise the following: 

 
- CBT’s funding supports work tackling poverty, disadvantage, need and inequality. 
- Much of the work CBT funds manages the consequences of these overlapping 

issues.   
- CBT will tackle the root causes of these issues more effectively by working with 

partners across civil society, and public and private sectors, and by encouraging 
all potential partners to consider learning available.   

- Adopting multiple approaches, which are adaptive and reviewed regularly making 
fuller use of not only CBT’s funding but also our knowledge and non-monetary 
resources, will enable CBT to pursue an ambitious strategy successfully. 
 

b. Bridging Divides is a vision and values led strategy.  CBT is London’s largest 
independent charitable funder, and from 2018 to 2023 all of the work that it does will 
link to its vision for London to be a city where all individuals and communities can 
thrive, especially those experiencing disadvantage and marginalisation.  CBT will 
take a ‘total assets’ approach to achieving this vision, meaning that as well as its 
£100 million of funding over five years, it will also ensure the best use of its other 
non-monetary resources: including the links it has to civil society, other funders and 

Page 43



 

 

the wider funding ecology, and the links of its trustee, the City of London 
Corporation, to local, regional and national Government and the private sector. 
 

c. CBT will apply the following values throughout its work: 
i. Inclusion and representation 
ii. Care for the environment 
iii. Early action  
iv. Collaborative working with Londoners, communities and all sectors 
v. Being adaptive, creative and purposeful 

 
d. CBT will fund five priorities under Bridging Divides: 

i. Connecting the capital 
ii. Reducing inequalities  
iii. Positive transitions 
iv. Advice and support 
v. Every voice counts 

 
e. CBT will offer organisations flexible funding, including grants of different sizes and 

durations, social investment, match funding and where possible access to individual 
and corporate philanthropy.  CBT will offer organisations that want and need it 
support, beyond just its money through a funder plus offer, relating to matters such 
as: governance; organisational development; business planning; social investment 
readiness; partnership development; exit strategy planning; specialist organisational 
infrastructure and eco-audits.   
 

f. CBT wants its funding processes to be fair, representative and proportionate.  CBT 
wants organisations it partners with to feel empowered and supported.   
 

g. In this five-year period, during which there is likely to be much geo-political 
uncertainty, CBT will seek to learn what works, what its best contribution can be, and 
how it should adapt its strategy.  CBT will be helped by its working partners to 
interpret the information it gathers and act upon what it has learnt through such 
collaboration.  Whilst the overarching strategic direction may not change, CBT 
expects that its implementation will vary greatly in response to its learning and 
changing context. 
 

h. The detailed information about how each part of this strategy will be implemented, 
such as the funding processes and guidelines, will be articulated separately in an 
Implementation Document.   

 
Implementing the Strategy 
 

11. From May 2017, your Head of Strategic Review will begin drafting an Implementation 
Document, under the direction of your Deputy Chief Grants Officer.  Once finished 
this document will provide a detailed guide on how the strategy will become 
operational.  Regular updates on the implementation work will be presented to this 
Committee. 

 
 
Proposed Next Steps 

Page 44



 

 

 
12. You are asked to discuss and approve the finalised strategy attached at Appendix A, 

accepting that you may wish to have certain amendments made before the strategy 
is taken to Court in July 2017. 

13. With your approval, the proposed next steps planned for the Strategic Review are set 
out in Appendix C.  

 
14. Your input on these next steps, and in particular the ways in which you would like to 

be engaged on the finalising of the strategy in coming weeks, are welcomed at this 
meeting.    

 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – City Bridge Trust Funding Strategy, 2018-2023 – Bridging Divides 
Appendix B – Executive Summary of Funding Approaches Review, by Rob Bell 
Appendix C – Proposed Next Steps 
 

Page 45



 

NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 
EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

 

Appendix A – City Bridge Trust Funding Strategy, 2018-2023 – Bridging Divides 

City Bridge Trust 
 
Funding Strategy, 2018-2023 
Bridging Divides 
 
This document will be finalised and 
published externally in July 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

May 2017 

                                                                    
    

Page 46



 

1 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

Welcome Note  
 
Written by: Alderman Alison Gowman, City Bridge Trust Chairman 
 
This will be added prior to this strategy being taken to the City of London Corporation 
Court of Common Council for their approval in July 2017. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



 

2 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

Contents Page 
 
Introduction                                                                                                                  3 
Executive Summary of Strategy                                                                                      5 
City Bridge Trust’s Next Funding Strategy                                                                       7 
Implementation                                                                                                           15 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



 

3 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

Introduction 
 
City Bridge Trust (CBT) was set up in 1995, as the charitable funding arm of Bridge House 
Estates, with the City of London Corporation as our sole trustee.  During this time we 
have distributed more than £364 million to over 4,500 organisations from every London 
borough.  We are now London’s largest independent funder, distributing up to £20 million 
each year.   
 
Every five years CBT conducts a review and assessment of the work that we do, in order 
to begin developing our next funding strategy.  This process helps to ensure that 
we remain relevant and alive to the changing needs of Londoners and informs our funding 
strategy for the next five years and a grants budget totaling around £100 million.  
 
In September 2016 the formal work for planning CBT’s 2018 to 2023 funding strategy 
began.  To create this strategy we have consulted extensively with a range of different 
partners, spanning many London networks and sectors including: Londoners; civil society 
(i.e. voluntary and community sector) organisations; the public and private sectors; 
funders and policy makers; Members and officers within the City of London Corporation 
and the CBT team.  We have also commissioned research and surveys and these have 
added to the strong evidence base from which this strategy has been devised.  We are 
immensely grateful to everyone who has so generously given up their time to share their 
expertise with us.   
 
Throughout the engagement and consultation undertaken, discussions on the inherent 
inequality, poverty, disadvantage and increasing need faced by Londoners were 
understandably prevalent.  Research by organisations such as Trust for London, through 
its ‘London Poverty Profile’, show the income, pay and wealth inequalities faced by 
Londoners and the negative implications of these on outcomes relating to housing 
(including the private rented sector), homelessness, employment, benefits and welfare 
reform, education and health.  Most recently, Trust for London commissioned research on 
‘A Minimum Income Standard for London 2016/2017’.  The research shows that it costs 
between 18% and 56% more for households to reach decent living standards in London, 
compared to the rest of the UK; meaning that 4 in 10 Londoners cannot afford a decent 
standard of living, with 57% of children and 39% of working-age adults falling below the 
standard and 27% of pensioners not meeting the standard. 
 
Alongside this narrative, those involved in the strategic review process have always been 
keen to emphasise the many advantages to living in London and being a Londoner.  
London is a city constantly in flux, where new communities live alongside those 
Londoners who are already benefitting from the many opportunities that the city has to 
offer, in terms of its culture, heritage, diversity, resilience and wealth.  We are both 
heartened and humbled to hear first-hand the many ways in which we can support 
Londoners to use their talents to make London a city where everyone can thrive. 
 
There was much reference to 2016 being a year of unprecedented political changes in the 
UK, with the outcome of the Brexit vote resulting in the triggering of Article 50 in March 
2017.  These potentially seismic shifts come on the back of a financial crisis, a recession, 
global economic slowdown, loss of faith in some institutions, significant reductions in 

Page 49



 

4 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

public spending and, for civil society, intense scrutiny as to their role and effectiveness in 
creating a fair and good society.   
 
Through our next strategy, Bridging Divides, we will work with partners from across 
society to use our £100 million of funding over five-years and our other non-monetary 
resources to bridge the divides that exist within London. CBT is unique in the support and 
input that we can provide – we have strong connections to civil society and the 
communities they represent through our funding, along with strong connections to local, 
national and regional Government and the business sector through our trustee, the City of 
London Corporation.  These connections are particularly significant in times when the 
topic of the winners and losers from globalisation is being hotly contested by so many in 
the UK and globally.   
 
Finally this strategy acknowledges that further significant changes lie ahead globally, 
nationally and regionally, including the implications of a snap General Election, Mayoral 
and Local Government elections and the impact of Brexit.  However, independent funders 
like us, many of whom have had a legacy over several hundred years, are able to offer 
constancy and continued commitment to communities during these most uncertain of 
times.  This role is made easier when one considers the many successes within London 
and civil society from which we can learn.   
 
Sufina Ahmad 
Head of Strategic Review, City Bridge Trust 
 
May 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



 

5 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

Executive Summary of Strategy 
 
CBT’s next strategy, Bridging Divides, launches a new vision and strategic direction for us 
as a charitable funder.  From 2018 to 2023, we will commit to using our funding, 
knowledge, networks and assets to support Londoners and London’s communities who are 
experiencing disadvantage and marginalisation to thrive.  London is a city of social and 
economic divides, and this strategy presents an opportunity to work across a range of 
networks and systems to ensure that London is a city that works for everyone.   
 
Developing Bridging Divides has allowed us to consider carefully the kinds of increasingly 
complex social problems we tackle; the approaches we take to investing in these matters 
and the way in which we can use our power and partnerships to make positive change 
happen.  Bridging Divides shows that in order for our work to be effective, we must first 
recognise the following: 
 
- Our funding supports work tackling poverty, disadvantage, need and inequality. 
 
- Much of the work we fund manages the consequences of these overlapping issues.  
 
- We will tackle the root causes of these issues more effectively by working with 

partners across civil society, and public and private sectors, and by encouraging all 
potential partners to consider learning available.   

 
- Adopting multiple approaches, which are adaptive and reviewed regularly making 

fuller use of not only our funding but also our knowledge and non-monetary resources, 
will enable us to pursue an ambitious strategy successfully. 

 
A visual representation of the strategy is included on page 15 of this document.  The key 
points to highlight are: 
 
1. Bridging Divides is a vision and values led strategy.  CBT is London’s largest 

independent charitable funder, and from 2018 to 2023 all of the work that we do will 
link to our vision for London as a city where all individuals and communities can 
thrive, especially those experiencing disadvantage and marginalisation.  We will take 
a ‘total assets’ approach to achieving this vision, meaning that as well as our £100 
million of funding over five years, we will also ensure the best use of our other non-
monetary resources: including the links we have to civil society, other funders and the 
wider funding ecology, and the links of our trustee, the City of London Corporation, to 
local, regional and national Government and the private sector. 
 

2. We will apply the following values throughout our work: 
Inclusion and representation 
Care for the environment 
Early action  
Collaborative working with Londoners, communities and all sectors 
Being adaptive, creative and purposeful 

 
3. We will fund five priorities under Bridging Divides: 

Connecting the capital 

Page 51



 

6 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

Reducing inequalities  
Positive transitions 
Advice and support 
Every voice counts 

 
4. We will offer organisations flexible funding, including grants of different sizes and 

durations, social investment, match funding and where possible access to individual 
and corporate philanthropy.  We will offer organisations that want and need it 
support, beyond just our money through a funder plus offer, relating to matters such 
as: governance; organisational development; business development; social investment 
readiness; partnership development; exit strategy planning; specialist organisational 
infrastructure and eco-audits.   

 
5. We want our funding processes to be fair, representative and proportionate.  We want 

organisations we partner with to feel empowered and supported.   
 
6. During this five-year period there is likely to be much geo-political uncertainty, and so 

we will seek to learn what works, what our best contribution can be, and how we 
should adapt our strategy.  Learning partners will help us interpret the information we 
gather through our work and turn this into knowledge we can act upon.  Whilst the 
overarching strategic direction may not change, we expect that its implementation 
will vary greatly in response to its learning and changing context. 

 
7. The detailed information about how each part of this strategy will be implemented, 

such as the funding processes and guidelines, will be articulated separately in an 
Implementation Document.   

 
We are committed to improving the success and resilience of London’s civil society.  Many 
of the groups we spoke to during our consultation described the sector as being in ‘crisis’ 
or at a ‘tipping point’, due to both increased demand for its services and greater 
complexity of the needs being addresses.  Alongside these challenges we see continued 
and dramatic reductions in funding, the impact of slow economic growth, increased 
competition within the sector, falling levels of public trust in civil society and increased 
(sometimes hostile) scrutiny of the role charities play.  These issues were highlighted by 
the findings of The Way Ahead research CBT funded in 2016, on the future of London’s 
civil society.  This is why we have included more ways to access our funding, an ambitious 
funder plus offer (i.e. the kinds of support we can offer to organisations in addition to our 
money), a commitment to funding both innovation and the ‘tried and tested’ and a clear 
recognition that we have a role to play in reducing the power imbalance that can exist 
between a funder and the organisations they fund.    
 
Through Bridging Divides, we will be a funder with a clear, ambitious vision and mission; 
funding priorities that are specific but not prescriptive and the resources to address these 
priorities through full use of the assets and networks we have access to as London’s 
largest independent funder, with the City of London Corporation as our trustee.      
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 

Page 52



 

7 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

City Bridge Trust’s Next Funding Strategy 
 
Since 1995, CBT as the City of London Corporation’s charitable funder has developed a 
clear mandate to serve Londoners and the communities to which they connect.  We do 
this predominantly through funding civil society, as well as having clear links to local, 
regional and national Government, the private sector and the wider funding ecology.  We 
intend to make better use of these assets and networks to support the organisations we 
work with in our next strategy – Bridging Divides.   
 
As a funder we have already invested in thousands of organisations; and our next strategy 
continues to place vision and values at the heart of our funding processes, alongside 
themes and outcomes.  The strategy also renews our commitment to remain ambitious 
about the impact and influence we can have to make positive social change happen. 
 
This strategy is the result of listening to the considerable feedback provided, urging us to 
be flexible in our approaches and not to assume expertise on all social issues.  Instead we 
were encouraged to empower communities, Londoners and organisations on the ground to 
tell us what they need in order to thrive.   
 

- CBT’s vision and mission 
 
Our revised vision makes clear our commitment to supporting individuals and 
communities in London experiencing disadvantage and marginalisation to thrive by 
overcoming the barriers and challenges they face.  This builds on previous vision 
statements used by CBT and will sit at the heart of all our decisions. 
 
Our mission is to reduce inequality and foster more cohesive communities, by using all of 
our assets and resources, monetary and otherwise, in pursuit of a London that serves 
everyone.  This therefore includes doing more with the access we have to Londoners, the 
communities to which they connect, civil society, local, regional and national 
Government, the private sector and the wider funding ecology.  Some of these links have 
been established directly by us, and others are made through our sole trustee the City of 
London Corporation.   
 
We believe our renewed vision and mission will allow us to remain alive to the fast pace 
at which the needs of Londoners are changing.   
 

- CBT’s values 
 
CBT is seeking to partner with organisations that share our values.  Our renewed set of 
values will inform all of our own ways of working, and is described as follows:  
 

1. Inclusion and representation 
We will commit to representing and reflecting the diversity of London’s communities 
through our work, ensuring that they have voice and leadership within our processes.  As 
a result we know that we will have to consider carefully the best ways for us to remove 
the barriers some groups of Londoners experiencing higher levels of deprivation or 
exclusion will face in working with us, such as Disabled People, Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic (BAME) groups, refugees and migrants, and charities struggling to survive. 

Page 53



 

8 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

2. Care for the environment 
Levels of air pollution in London are above health-based targets. Although air 
quality is gradually improving, and there are many plans and programmes in place 
to improve it further, it still represents a significant public health issue for 
Londoners. Socio-economically deprived areas of London often experience higher 
levels of air pollution and have less access to open spaces where pollution levels 
are lower away from busy roads. We will therefore prioritise reducing our own 
impact on air quality and continue to encourage environmental education 
throughout our networks, in terms of air quality and access to open spaces. 

 
3. Early action  

As a member of the funder alliance on early action, it has long been of interest to 
us to consider how we build a society that tackles the root causes of problems 
rather than coping with the symptoms and consequences of them.  This also means 
being prepared to seize opportunities that will enable individuals and communities 
to thrive.  Such thinking drives many of our decisions already, including, for 
example, being a Living Wage accredited employer and a Living Wage Friendly 
Funder, which commits us to paying the London Living Wage to our staff, including 
apprentices, and for all other posts that we fund, therefore reducing the 
prevalence of in-work poverty.  Whilst we know that we will be likely to fund 
services at the acute end of need, across a wide spectrum of social issues, we will 
continue to be a strong advocate for creating a society that acts earlier to tackle 
root causes and invest in potential.  We believe that in order to achieve this, we 
need to work with partners that have a strong commitment to evidence and 
learning from the work that they do. 

 
4. Collaborative working with Londoners, communities and all sectors 

Fulfilling our mission relies on us working together with partners from across civil 
society and the private and statutory sectors, in London and beyond, to support 
the development of new and existing approaches.  Successfully supporting 
members of the community to thrive and to access the opportunities that London 
has to offer depends on people coming together, learning from each other and 
then effecting lasting change.  This can take time and sometimes multiple 
attempts to engage, especially as we want to ensure that the skills, expertise and 
talent of partners are fully acknowledged and utilised.  

 
5. Being adaptive, creative and purposeful 

In pursuit of fulfilling our vision, we will learn from our own work and that of 
others, in order to demonstrate and improve our impact.  This will also enable us 
to adapt our approaches to changes that may arise.  We recognise that through 
being creative we can both adapt the tried and tested, whilst also adopting the 
entirely new, and we feel that there is space for both within our funding portfolio.   

 
At CBT, we have been privileged to work with organisations that have effected tangible 
and significant positive changes for Londoners.  Sometimes this has involved us taking 
more risks, and other times it has been as a result of working with established 
organisations with established methodologies.   
 

Page 54



 

9 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

In order to make funding decisions, we will explore with organisations how their ways of 
working are, and can be, aligned with the values that we seek to uphold.  We are not 
expecting organisations to change the wording of their value base to mirror our own, in 
order to access our funding.  The full details of how we will do this will be laid out in our 
strategy Implementation Document.  We think that this approach will allow us to focus on 
the project idea, as well as the organisation and the people behind the idea.  Through 
this strategy we hope that organisations working with us will see us as their partner.   
 

- What CBT will fund 
 
Before going in to specific priorities, our intention can broadly be summarised as funding 
work across a bridge of need and potential, that begins where individuals and 
communities are ‘surviving’ and ends when they are ‘thriving’.  When we implement the 
strategy, we will have articulated further what we mean by the model below, which has 
been devised based on the consultation feedback for the strategy and through 
researching the sustainable livelihoods approach widely used in international 
development and poverty reduction by agencies such as the UK Government’s 
Department for International Development (DFID).  For us, there are four stages on the 
journey across this bridge: 
 

1. Surviving – individuals and communities are living on a day-to-day basis, and are 
usually at a crisis point.  Often they are not receiving any statutory or non-
statutory support; however they would normally be eligible for statutory support 
due to their circumstances.  An example would be someone who is experiencing 
street homelessness.  Investments at this stage might focus on meeting and 
stabilising acute needs. 

 
2. Coping – individuals and communities in this stage are experiencing a degree of 

short-term stability.  They are able to manage risks beyond the day-to-day, but 
lack sufficient resources to have greater control over longer term opportunities 
and impacts.  They might be getting by, but they are not necessarily getting on.  
Continuing with the homelessness example this stage would mean that an 
individual is now in temporary accommodation, and more likely to be known to 
statutory service provision.  Investments at this stage might focus on encouraging 
and developing greater capacity. 

 
3. Adapting – individuals and communities are taking positive steps to develop 

specific attributes to move towards a thriving life, thus enabling them to progress 
towards long-term stability.  For the aforementioned person experiencing 
homelessness, this means that they are now in longer-term transitional 
accommodation, where they can explore opportunities and perhaps engage in 
employment too in order to sustain themselves.  Individuals and communities are 
likely to be receiving both statutory and non-statutory support from a variety of 
different organisations.  Investments at this stage might focus on supporting 
positive risks and growing potential. 

 
4. Thriving – individuals and communities are in a position of stability, with enough 

resources and resilience to succeed and continue to grow over the long-term.  
They are now mainly supported by non-statutory provision, and to conclude our 

Page 55



 

10 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

example of the person who was street homeless, they are now living life more fully 
in stable accommodation, with a secure social networks and source of income.  
Investments at this stage might focus on ensuring and sustaining impact. 

 
The journey outlined above will vary in length and outcome for different individuals and 
communities, with a degree of moving back and forth between the stages very likely, as 
well as a recognition that some stages will last longer than others on the journey.  We 
also know that the groups we partner with and fund will work within some, or all, of 
these stages.   
 
Bridging Divides has five different priorities, and for each priority we have provided some 
examples of the kinds of activities we may seek to fund.  We recognise that our new 
priorities will include a wide range of potential activity, and so we will include much 
more detail of what we are looking to fund in our Implementation Document. 
 
Priority 1: Connecting the capital 
 
This funding stream is about geographical communities, from a street/ward level to a 
multi-borough/regional level.  We part-funded the Institute of Voluntary Action Research 
(IVAR) to research the principles behind successful place based-funding, and their 
findings mean that we want to fund activities in a geographical place that can be broadly 
categorised as: of importance to communities; helps them to (re)build community assets 
and, in some cases, back projects that could result in positively and dramatically 
changing the prospects of a community long-term.  Through this priority, we could fund 
work that covers the following kinds of activities: 
 

- Supports community engagement and development work. 
- Champions social action and empowers individuals and communities to come 

together to create the differences they want to see; and provides them with 
the tools to do this. 

- Promotes environmental justice activities or education, in terms of the 
reduced/restricted access to open spaces/environmental activities and the high 
levels of air pollution, with a particular focus on areas of deprivation. 

- Supports the work of civil society support organisations, working with a range of 
partners, to deliver place-based work that is needed. 

 
Priority 2: Reducing inequalities  
 
The socio-economic and health inequalities experienced in London are well-known.  
There are over 2 million Londoners living in poverty, based on the Joseph Rowntree 
Foundation (JRF) definition of poverty as ‘when a person’s resources are well below their 
minimum needs, including the need to take part in society’.  London also has a 
disproportionately high number of the UK’s most deprived neighbourhoods, as defined 
through the UK Government’s Index of Multiple Deprivation.   London is a city where the 
richest and poorest live side-by-side, but often lead parallel lives.   
 
Through this funding we hope to tackle inequalities linked to: race; gender; participation 
and physical access; social mobility; access to services (education, employment, benefits, 

Page 56



 

11 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

health etc.) and culture and arts.  We could consider funding work that covers the 
following kinds of activities: 
 

- Raises awareness and seeks to tackle the issues of the day that are facing 
groups experiencing inequalities. 

- Supports individuals and communities to achieve improved outcomes in terms 
of the poverty and inequalities they experience. 

- Recognises the additional prejudices that those experiencing inequality and 
poverty can face, such as Disabled People being less likely to gain employment, 
or people from BAME backgrounds experiencing mental health issues being less 
likely to have access to the right services and support.   

- Work that challenges hate and promotes inclusion: championing justice, 
tolerance and fairness for those who experience inequalities.   

 
Priority 3: Positive transitions 
 
This priority will consider funding projects that empower Londoners experiencing 
inequality to make important transitions.  This could be a young person wanting to break 
out of the cycle of being in and out of education or employment, to moving in to long-
term and sustained education or employment.  It could be support for a survivor of 
domestic abuse to leave their relationship and begin the journey of re-building their life.  
We want to help all Londoners to thrive, which often involves overcoming a range of 
barriers, through multiple partners from different sectors working together to support the 
transition.   
 
We know that making successful transitions along the bridge of ‘surviving’ to ‘thriving’ 
has challenges and opportunities – goals can change and the pace of the transition will 
vary greatly for every person.  With this in mind, we feel that it may be worth noting the 
following points as part of our decision-making: 
 

- We are likely to work with a wide range of Londoners, with priorities and goals 
that differ from project to project.   

- Specialist support and expertise may be essential for ensuring that people are 
successful in their transitions. 

- Individuals in their communities may or may not be known to statutory services, 
but all would benefit from support from civil society and beyond to grow and 
sustain the progress they have made in their pursuit of a ‘thriving’ life. 

 
Priority 4: Advice and support 
 
Given the upcoming and continuing political uncertainties, the ever increasing cost of 
living in London, especially in terms of housing costs, and the steady erosion of resilience 
within individuals and communities, we feel it is important to offer funding that can act 
as a ‘safety net’.  We hope that through our commitment to early action we will fund our 
partners to prevent people from moving backwards on their journey to ‘thriving’.  
However, we also recognise that some work must still focus on essential support for those 
stuck in surviving and coping or needing help to manage changed circumstances.  Through 
this work, we could fund activities that relate to: 
 

Page 57



 

12 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

- Advice and advocacy services that support individuals who are either 
experiencing, or at risk of experiencing, issues relating to: indebtedness, 
unemployment/in-work poverty, social welfare reform and homelessness. 

- Services that support individuals and communities experiencing issues relating 
to hardship and crisis, including food poverty. 

- Support to improve the resilience of individuals and communities, including 
those who have experienced violent crimes or a loss of their safety, e.g. sexual 
violence, and those who are experiencing mental health difficulties, including 
being at risk of suicide. 

- Advice and advocacy services that support individuals who are experiencing 
difficulties in relation to their status as a refugee, asylum seeker, immigrant or 
economic migrant. 

 
Priority 5: Every voice counts 
 
Until we have representation at all levels, many assert that a fair and equal society is 
near impossible to achieve.  This funding priority presents an opportunity to challenge 
the root causes for the divides that we have identified in this strategy, and considers the 
ways in which we can make London a city where everyone can thrive.  
 
We expect that through this priority we will fund work that develops voice and leadership 
skills for individuals and communities that lead to tangible and lasting change for them 
and their communities.  This could include advocacy for targeted groups, the upskilling of 
‘expert citizens’ to influence solutions, along with opportunities for representation that 
can help shape the journey from surviving to thriving for more people. The work funded is 
likely to link back to our other four priorities.  For example, voice and leadership skills 
might enable specific individuals and communities to impact on and benefit from 
activities connecting the capital, reducing inequalities, empowering positive transitions, 
and/or access to advice and support. This priority will also connect to our desire to 
ensure the continued success of civil society, which we will demonstrate through funding 
for new and existing specialist civil society support services.   
 

- Funder plus support and CBT’s toolbox 
 
It is important that every interaction or project that we support enhances the lustre of 
London’s civil society and the individuals and communities with which they work.  
Therefore, in this strategy we are committing to an expansion of the ways in which we 
invest our funding and resources in organisations, in order for us to create stronger 
partnerships with organisations that are always anchored in our vision and values.  
 
Within our strategy our funder plus support and toolbox are intended to depict simply 
what we consider to be our entire asset and resource base.  Through the toolbox we are 
showing clearly our desire to provide a streamlined offer to groups of the ways in which 
they can access our funding, and this includes: core funding; small and large grants 
delivered over the short and long-term; access to funding to become social investment 
ready; social investment; funding for research and learning; match funding; strategic 
initiatives funding; funding for new ideas and support to access to giving in terms of time, 
talent and money.  Whilst some parts of our funding offer will be available throughout 
the strategy, such as large grants, we anticipate that other funding options will be 

Page 58



 

13 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 

EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

available when needed, for example our match funding offer.  In 2018, we will provide 
the exact criteria and processes through which these tools will be used and implemented. 
 
Our funder plus offer will outline the kinds of support we can offer organisations in 
addition to our money.  It will draw together a list of the assets we feel we have access 
to directly through our own networks and the networks of our trustee, the City of London 
Corporation.  We want our funder plus work to add real value to an organisation, and so 
we will be mindful of the work already being done in this area by other funders, as well 
as working with organisations directly to understand what they would most benefit from – 
if anything.   
 
The funder plus support offer will be outlined in detail in 2018, when the strategy is 
implemented.  It will include support for organisations in the form of consultancy, 
training, networking and diagnostics/audits relating to a range of matters such as: 
governance; organisational development; social investment readiness; partnership 
development; exit strategy planning; specialist organisational infrastructure (IT, HR, 
property advice, monitoring and evaluation etc.) and eco-audits.   
  

- Defining success 
 
What would successful delivery of this strategy look like?  We will consider this through 
two lenses –  
 
We want to be the best funder we can be, particularly in terms of making our processes 
as effective as they can be, working collaboratively, taking on leadership responsibilities, 
assessing how effectively we are using our entire asset base in pursuit of a thriving 
London, and encouraging learning between London, our regions, the UK and the world.  
We want our work and our funding to make the most positive impact on reducing 
inequality and creating cohesive communities.  Measures of success in pursuit of our 
vision will be designed during the implementation phase of this strategy, and against our 
five funding priorities. 
 

- A strategy that adapts and learns 
 
It is our privilege to be a funder, and we want to ensure that we are fulfilling the vision 
set out in this strategy by building in time to reflect on and learn from the work that we 
are doing.  We will learn from this strategy on a continuing basis, as well as ensuring that 
we conduct a formal review of our work on an annual basis, with support from a range of 
internal and external partners, and formal learning partners.  This will then allow us to 
learn what works, what our best contribution can be, and how we should adapt our 
strategy.

Page 59



 

14 
NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

P
age 60



 

NOT FOR WIDER CIRCULATION: THIS STRATEGY WILL BE FINALISED AND PUBLISHED 
EXTERNALLY IN JULY 2017 

 

Implementation 
 
This strategy represents an exciting next step for us as a funder.  It signals clearly our 
intentions to develop our work with existing stakeholders, whilst also reaching out to new 
stakeholders, to support us in our work.   
 
In the coming months we will work with colleagues internally and externally to develop a 
detailed plan, in the form of an Implementation Document, explaining how this strategy 
will be delivered from 2018.  We will communicate the progress that we are making with 
this through our website, social media and communication in person or using email.   
 
The full and exact details of what we intend to fund will be promoted in many different 
ways in 2018, in order to find ideas, projects and organisations to support.  This 
document provides some high level detail on the kinds of things we might fund, but the 
Implementation Document will provide fuller details on this. 
 
We will also be working on developing alternative formats of this strategy, in particular 
an easy-read version for Disabled People and versions available in different languages.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B – Executive Summary of Funding Approaches Review, by Rob Bell 

Page 61



 

 
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
The report considers the role of charitable funders at a time when research carried out by 
the Association of Chief Executives of Voluntary Organisations (ACEVO) and Charities Aid 
Foundation (CAF) found that 20% of charities are ‘struggling to strive’.  There is an 
estimated 8,000 practising grant-makers in the UK, awarding in the region of £3 billion 
annually, with the top 2,500 grant-makers giving a total of £2.65 billion or 88% of the total 
annual spend.  Research in 2015 confirms that spending by charitable funders has returned 
to pre-recession levels, but that this represents a fall in spending in real terms.  The majority 
of grant spending is aimed at education and training (24%), health (11%), arts/culture 
(11%), welfare (9%), and children/youth (8%), according to analysis of 16,500 grants in 
2015.  CBT remains one of the UK’s largest charitable funders: it is the fifth biggest in terms 
of its assets and sixteenth largest in terms of its annual spend at circa £20 million.  CBT is 
part of a wider group of similar funders in terms of grant-spend and ambition, including the 
Tudor Trust, Trust for London, Comic Relief, Paul Hamlyn Foundation. 

 
The paper considers a wide range of research into the effectiveness of the funding 
approaches that charitable funders adopt in in pursuit of positive social change.  The author 
proffers that ultimately it is about charitable funders being more strategic, intentional, 
straightforward and impact focused, with less bureaucratic and burdensome processes for 
charities.  To support this analysis, the author provides summaries of the following reports: 
the Funder Conundrum, the Institute of Philanthropy, Project Streamline – a collaboration of 
grants managers from various US foundations, the Grantmaking Tango and the ‘Inside the 
mind of the grant maker’ report.  Each piece offers its own checklist of the kinds of 
considerations that need to be made by funders, but there is overlap and alignment on the 
following: 

- Funders understanding their own intentions and being clear about the 
approaches that will work for them. 

- Funders find and support their applicants, and the types of evaluation and 
learning they adopt.   

 
The role and actions of funders, individually and collectively, in a time of austerity is 
considered in the report.  The research concludes that there is an opportunity for their work 
to make fuller and better use of civil society in tackling stubborn and deep-rooted issues – it 
is argued that civil society is undercapitalised currently.  It also encourages funders to 
commit to courageous leadership that challenges them and civil society more widely, to 
achieve more and to respond more quickly to rapid and dramatic changes in the external 
world.   

 
The majority of the report considers the approaches funders can take in order to distribute 
their monetary and non-monetary resources.  In order to build the resilience of the social 
sector, the following approaches are analysed: 

a) Core and unrestricted funding 
b) Funding proven services 
c) Funding for organisational development 
d) Investing in intermediaries and second tier organisations 
e) Funding small scale work 

 
The report also offers ideas on the approaches that can be taken to the following: 

Page 62



 

 
 

a) Funding digital technology for good 
b) Initiating new organisations to ‘plug gaps’ or improve infrastructure 
c) Mergers and close down 
d) Funding to build on assets and strengths 
e) Peer led grant-making and participatory funding 
f) Place based funding approaches 
g) Funding community business 
h) Funding for people with ideas 
i) Funding policy, influencing and campaigns 
j) Collaboration  
 

The report concludes that there are many approaches that can be taken to funding, but that 
these approaches should link back to the charitable funder’s purpose, values and strategic 
objectives.  The report adds that there is not a lot of innovation within the approaches 
taken, and the author suggests that there is a need for funding processes to undergo a 
significant overhaul in most cases, mainly due to the increasingly complex and seemingly 
intractable social challenges that funders seek to improve and change.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix C – Proposed Next Steps 

Page 63



 

 
 

 
May 2017 
 
- The Committee is asked to approve the finalised strategy on 11th May 2017, with 

any recommended and agreed changes being incorporated shortly afterwards. 
- Stakeholders that have been engaged in the Strategic Review will be updated on 

the proposed next steps for this work until July. 
- Website and social media communications updated to outline the proposed next 

steps until July 2017. 
- Your Head of Strategic Review and your Communications Officer finalise plans 

with members of the Director of Communication’s Team, and others, to consider 
how to launch the strategy following Court, including press releases, possible 
launch event(s), case studies or future scenarios to bring the strategy to life.   

- Your Head of Strategic Review and your Communications Officer to begin work 
with design agency to convert the strategy in to a report for publication.  

- Your Head of Strategic Review to being work on converting the finalised strategy 
to an easy-read version for Disabled People and versions translated in to different 
languages, in time for July/August 2017. 

- Your Head of Strategic Review and Deputy Chief Grants Officer to continue work 
on the Implementation Document for the strategy.  

 
June 2017 
 
- Strategic Review progress update to CBT Committee on 15th June 2017. 
- Your Chief Grants Officer and your Head of Strategic Review to present funding 

strategy to Chief Officers’ Group on 21st June 2017. 
 

July 2017 
 

- Your Head of Strategic Review and your Communications Officer to finalise the 
details needed to successfully launch the strategy, including press releases, with 
the support of other CoLC colleagues.   

- Court agreement for the strategy will be sought on 20th July 2017. 
- Your Head of Strategic Review to provide final update to the CBT Committee on 

progress made and planned next steps on 27th July 2017. 
- Your Head of Strategic Review to ensure successful handover of work relating to 

implementing the strategy by 31st July 2017. 
 
 

Page 64



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust Committee 
 

11th May 2017 

Subject: 
CBT Business Plan and the City of London Corporation 
draft Corporate plan 
 

Public 

Report of: 
The Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Decision 

Report author: 
Scott Nixon, Head of Projects 
 

 
Summary 

 
This report presents, for approval, the City Bridge Trust (CBT) business plan. A draft 
of the high-level plan was presented to your Committee in March 2017. 
 
This report also presents an early draft of the City of London Corporation Corporate 
Plan 2018-23 to give Members an opportunity to provide feedback before wider 
consultation on the plan takes place in the autumn. 
 

Recommendations 
 
Members are asked to: 

1. Approve the CBT 2017/2018 business plan. 

2. Note the draft Corporate Plan 2018-23 and provide initial feedback on the 
content. 

 
Main Report 

 
Background 
 

1. A new framework for corporate and business planning is currently being 
developed, led by the City Corporation’s Head of Corporate Strategy and 
Performance. The aim is for all the work carried out by or supported by the City 
Corporation to contribute to one overarching goal. This will be achieved by: 
 

 Identifying the overarching goal and the specific outcomes that support it 
in the refreshed Corporate Plan; 

 Ensuring that all the work carried out by departments, including projects 
and development plans, contributes to delivery of the outcomes in the 
refreshed Corporate Plan, and is included in their business plans; 

 Enhancing the “golden thread”, such that everything the Corporation does 
and develops is captured within appropriate departmental business plans, 
team plans, and individual work plans; 

Page 65

Agenda Item 11



 Developing a culture of continuous improvement, challenging ourselves 
about the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of what we do and the 
value we add. 
 

2. As this new approach involves parallel changes to a number of high-level 
processes, it will take 2-3 years to be fully implemented, so how plans are 
presented to Members is likely to develop during this time.  
 

3. The Corporation’s work to refresh its corporate plan helpfully aligns with the 
timing of the 2018-2023 CBT funding strategy. Whilst accepting that the 
Corporation in its role as a trustee of Bridge House Estates must always operate 
in the best interests of the charity, there has been helpful collaboration with the 
Corporation's Head of Strategy and the CBT Head of Strategic Review. This has 
included sharing the details of the CBT strategic review process including the 
research and analysis of London's needs. 

 
Departmental Business Plans 
 
4. Revised departmental business planning documentation is being introduced in 

response to Member requests for consistency of presentation across the 
organisation, and a desire to see a succinct statement of key ambitions and 
objectives for every department. For this year, new standardised high-level 
summary departmental plans have been introduced. These will also allow 
corporate Committees and Sub Committees to see what is being proposed and 
delivered across the organisation as a whole. 
 

5. Prior to the March 2017 Common Council elections, where meeting dates 
permitted, departments presented draft high-level departmental plans for 
discussion with their Service Committees (in respect of CBT this was at your 
March 2017 Committee). Following feedback from Members and Chief Officers, 
the standard template for and content of these high-level plans has been 
finalised. As well as key information on ambitions, budget and planned outcomes, 
the template requires departments to include information on their plans for cross-
departmental and departmental projects, development of the department’s 
capabilities, and a horizon-scan of future opportunities and challenges. 
 

6. This report presents at Appendix 1 the high-level plan for CBT. 
 

7. The high-level plan is supported by a more detailed plan for 2017/18, in the 
format used in previous years (Appendix 2). This provides more information on 
the items highlighted in the high-level plan. During 2017/18, development work 
will take place on the format of the detailed business plans, with a view to a 
standard format being introduced for 2018/19 onwards, which will align more 
closely with the high-level plans. 
 

8. Further work will also take place on monitoring and reporting against the agreed 
outcomes at both corporate and departmental levels. This responds to Members’ 
demands for more focussed and meaningful performance measures which 
demonstrate impact on outcomes rather than just outputs and activity. Ways in 
which reporting can become streamlined will also be considered. 

Page 66



Corporate Plan 2018-23 
 
9. In parallel with the development of the high-level departmental plans, work has 

continued on developing a refreshed Corporate Plan for 2018-23. This will 
include a mission statement which is specific and relevant to the City 
Corporation; ambitious long-term outcomes against which we can measure our 
performance. 
 

10. Draft 15-year ambitions developed by Chief Officers in the People, Place and 
Prosperity Strategic Steering Groups have been edited into three broad strategic 
objectives, aligned with a draft mission. Twelve draft outcomes are grouped 
under these objectives to form the basis of the refreshed plan. To support the 
development of this plan a new Corporate Strategy Network of senior officers has 
been established. As a first task, this network is mapping activities listed in 
departmental business plans to draft outcomes in the Corporate Plan so that the 
Corporation can see where its efforts are currently being directed, and use this 
information to help inform future decisions. 
 

11. A draft of the Corporate Plan is presented at Appendix 3 to give Members an 
opportunity to provide feedback on the plan before it is discussed at the informal 
meeting of the Resource Allocation Sub Committee in June. The draft mission, 
strategic objectives and grouped outcomes are on the first page of the draft plan. 
The second page describes the strategic principles, competencies and 
commitments that underpin how we will go about delivering the outcomes. 
 

12. Members will have a further chance to comment on the Corporate Plan at Service 
Committees and in other working groups in the autumn. 
 

13. Formal consultation will also take place with staff, partners and other 
stakeholders from September. 
 

14. Officers are aiming to seek full Member approval of the Corporate Plan 2018-23 
from the Court of Common Council prior to publication before the start of the 
2018/19 financial year. Once the refreshed Corporate Plan has been approved, 
there will be closer alignment between the Corporate Plan and departmental 
business plans; for example departmental plans will explicitly refer to the relevant 
outcomes from the Corporate Plan. 

 
Conclusion 
 

15.  This report presents the business plan for this Committee to approve. It also 
presents an early draft of the Corporate Plan 2018-23 to give Members an 
opportunity to provide initial feedback before it is discussed at the informal 
meeting of the Resource Allocation Sub Committee in June and opened out to 
wider consultation in the autumn. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



 
Appendices 
 

For Approval: 

1. High level departmental plan – City Bridge Trust 

2. Detailed Business Plan – City Bridge Trust 

For Information 

3. Draft Corporate Plan 2018-23 

 
 
Scott Nixon, Head of Projects 
City Bridge Trust 
Tel: 020 7332 3722 
Email:  Scott.Nixon@CityofLondon.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 68

mailto:Scott.Nixon@CityofLondon.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1  

 

  

Our vision is to create a fairer London.                                                                                                                                                    2017/2018 

     

Our ambitions are:  

 To tackle disadvantage in 
London and make it a fairer 
place to live and work. 

 To develop London further as 
a global hub for charitable 
giving. 

 To develop the social 
investment market. 

 To be a strategic, 
collaborative and influential 
funder. 

 To use our experience to 
enable effective charitable 
grant-making throughout the 
City of London Corporation 
and its related charities. 

 What we do is:  
Grant-making 
We award grants totalling £21M per year to charitable 
organisations across Greater London.  We provide 
support to organisations beyond the money to improve 
their effectiveness and resilience. 
Giving 
We encourage individuals and businesses to give 
more time, money and skills/benefits in kind in a way 
that makes a positive difference.     
Social Investment 
We manage the City of London Corporation’s Social 
Investment Fund which aims to achieve a positive 
financial return and demonstrable social benefit. 
Contract management 
We manage the City of London Corporation’s Central 
Grants Unit and the Wembley National Stadium Trust. 

 Our budget is: 
 
 

  Total £000 

Employees 1,180 

Supplies & Services 399 

Total Expenditure 1,579 

Total Income WNST (108) 

Total Local Risk 1,471 

Grants to be issued 21,000 

Total Budget 22,471 
 

     

Our top line objectives are: 
 
To increase the quality and impact of our charitable funding by:   

 Agreeing the 2018-2023 strategy resulting from the five year Strategic Review and putting 
in place the resources to implement it. 

 Developing an Evaluation and Learning Plan to underpin the delivery of the strategy. 

 Committing: both through making grants to applicants and developing pro-active strategic 
grants with expert field input. 

 Making the most of our non-financial assets, from our Trustee the City of London 
Corporation, its networks and related charities to deliver the strategy. 

 
To encourage more giving of time, money and skills in an effective way to support 
thriving communities by: 

 Developing a joint Giving Strategy that covers the Trust, the City of London Corporation 
and Mansion House and links with the work of other key stakeholders. 

 
 

 What we’ll measure: 
 

 Successful launch and implementation of the Strategic 
Review for 2018-2023. 

 How staff use knowledge gained through the Learning and 
Evaluation Strategy and how this is disseminated to other 
stakeholders. 

 The amount of the grants budget committed Levels of grant 
spend against each of City Bridge Trust’s funding priorities. 

 Evidence of use of the Corporation’s non-financial 
resources to deliver the Strategy. 
 

 Giving Strategy agreed and implemented. 

 Level of giving of time, money and benefits in kind across 
our trustee, the Corporation. 

 
 

P
age 69

http://www.citybridgetrust.org.uk/what-we-do/social-investment/social-investment-fund/
http://www.citybridgetrust.org.uk/what-we-do/social-investment/social-investment-fund/


APPENDIX 1  

 

  

To grow the social investment market by: 

 Implementing a fourth round of the Stepping Stones Fund. 

 Committing a further £3million of the Social Investment Fund. 

 Modelling effective collaboration between sectors. 
 
 
 
To ensure the Trust is led by strategic decisions and is customer focused by: 

 Reviewing all grant processes and Business Plan in the light of the Strategic Review. 

 Developing KPIs for grants assessment and management. 

 Continuing to invest in grantee feedback and implement recommendations of recent 
survey. 

 Ensuring officers keep up-to-date with the funding context. 

 Successful launch of the fourth round of the Stepping 
Stones Fund (to include the quality and quantity of 
applications relative to previous rounds). 

 The financial return and social impact of the Fund’s 
investments. 

 Number of internal/external networks engaged. 
 

 Revised grant processes and KPI’s agreed and 
implemented. 

 Level of positive/negative feedback from grantees relative 
to sector benchmark and previous survey performance. 

 Interaction with the website and social media platforms. 

 
Corporate Projects and programmes 

 Undertake the recruitment of an apprentice under the City Corporation Apprenticeship programme. 

 Input into the City of London Corporation’s new Corporate Plan. 
 
Departmental Programmes and projects 

 Organise regular training sessions for Grants Officers for their Continuing Professional Development. 

 Implement the recommendations of the Eco-Audit. 

 Provide IT systems to develop paper light agile working; improve database access and improve service effectiveness. 

 Actively promote the Staff Diversity Networks within the team. 
 

How we plan to develop our capabilities this year: 

 Review the Trust’s Human and IT resource in conjunction with Central Service departments to ensure it is fit for purpose. 

 Maximise the input and engagement with Members of the City Bridge Trust Committee and enable any relevant training. 

 Review the Trust’s due diligence and financial procedures and implement recommended improvements. 
   
What we’re planning to do in the future: 

 Implement the 2018-2023 City Bridge Trust Funding Strategy and develop appropriate KPI’s to monitor the impact and outcomes. 

 Implement a joint Giving Strategy with the Corporation, Mansion House and key partners. 

 Move towards full investment and a balanced portfolio approach to our Social Investment Fund. 

 Upgrade the existing grants management database. 

 

P
age 70



APPENDIX 2 

 

 

 

 
City Bridge Trust 

Business Plan 
 2017/19 

 

 

Page 71



 

 

CBT – Departmental Summary Business Plan 

 
City Bridge Trust: Summary Business Plan 2017-19 

 

Vision:  A fairer London 

Strategic Aims:  To be a strategic and collaborative funder 

 To maximise the impact of the funding available from the underlying charity Bridge House Estates. 

 To develop the social investment market 

 To tackle disadvantage in London and make it a fairer place to live and work 

 Encourage more charitable giving and the effective giving of time, talent and money across London. To ensure the 
Trust is led by strategic decisions, is customer focused and is resourced appropriately to deliver quality outcomes and 
use experience to deliver effective grant-making throughout the CoLC and related charities. 

 

Our Key Performance Indicators are: 

Description: 2017/18 performance 2018/19 target 

Develop the Trust’s role as a strategic, collaborative and influential funder. Draft 2018-2023 funding 
strategy completed. 
To manage the external 
contract for Wembley and the 
Central Grants Unit. 

2018-2023 funding strategy 
launched and implemented.  
 

Maximise the impact of the funding available from the underlying charity Bridge House 
Estates. 

Approx. £24M awarded in a 
range of different grants of 
which up to £4M in strategic 
initiatives. Funder plus 
options developed. 

£21M awarded in a range of 
different grants of which up to 
£4M in strategic initiatives. 
Funder plus options 
implemented. 

To develop the London social investment market £3M committed for social 
investments. 

£3M committed for social 
investments. 

Encourage more charitable giving and the effective giving of time, talent and money across 
London. 

‘Head of Philanthropy 
Strategy’ post developed and 
recruited. Joint CBT /CoLC 
Philanthropy Strategy 
developed 
City Philanthropy project 

Joint CBT /CoLC 
Philanthropy Strategy 
implemented. 
4 new London borough Local 
Giving schemes are 
developed and an evaluation 

P
age 72



 

 

Our Key Performance Indicators are: 

Description: 2017/18 performance 2018/19 target 

learning integrated into City 
of London 

of London’s Giving started. 

Fit for purpose:  To ensure the Trust is led by strategic decisions is customer focused and is 
resourced appropriately to deliver quality outcomes. 

Strategic Review completed.  
New programmes designed 
and written. 
Staffing and CBT resource 
review undertaken in light of 
the Strategic Review. 
Zero-based budgeting 
exercise completed. 
 

New funding programmes 
launched.   
Staffing and CBT resources 
review implemented. 

 
City Bridge Trust: Summary Business Plan 2017-19 

 

 
 

Notes on Financial Information: 
1. The expected outturn for the employees’ budget for 2016/17 compared to original budget reflects the fact that 4 vacancies existed within the Grants Team 

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Original 

Budget

2016/17 Revised 

Budget

2016/17 Forecast 

Outturn (latest)

2016/17 

Comparison to 

2015/16

2017/18 Original 

Budget

Refer to 

note

£000 £000 £000 £000 % £000

Employees 806 1,144 968 961 19 1,181 1

Transport 3 4 6 4 33 6

Supplies & Services 338 226 501 420 24 393 2

Grants 18,342 20,000 21,510 16,881 (8) 21,000 3 & 4

Total Expenditure 19,489 21,374 22,985 18,266 (6) 22,580

Total External income 309 107 107 307 (1) 108 5

Total net expenditure before recharges 19,180 21,267 22,878 17,959 (6) 22,472

Support services and capital charges 145 137 158 142 (2) 171

Total net expenditure 19,325 21,404 23,036 18,101 (6) 22,643

P
age 73



 

 

during the year, alongside the delayed recruitment of the Head of Charity and Social Investment Finance. The 2017/18 budget plans for a full team to be 
in place throughout the year. 

2. The Supplies and Services budget covers a variety of expenditure headings, with consultancy being a key contributor. With several vacancies being 
carried during 2016/17, the team had to draw upon interim consultants hence the higher spend compared to 2015/16 and original budget. Approval is to 
be sought from the Chamberlain and Resource Allocation Sub-committee to carry-forward £42k of budgeted spend relating to specific projects yet to take 
place. 

3. The revised grants budget for 2016/17 comprised the standard grants programme of £15m, the Prince’s Trust allocation of £1m, an additional allocation of 
£4m from the surplus income of the Bridge House Estates plus a carry forward of £1.51m from 2015/16. Approval has been sought under urgency to 
carry-forward to 2017/18 the underspend of £4.448m allocated for the employability and the infrastructure programmes.  

4. The grants budget for 2017/18 comprises the standard grants programme of £15m, the Prince’s Trust allocation of £1m and an additional allocation of 
£5m from the surplus income of the Bridge House Estates. A request for the unspent element of the Investors in London programme, of £181k will be 
requested via the normal carry-forward process. 

5. External income comprises that received from the Wembley National Stadium Trust (WNST) contract (£107k in 2016/17) plus £200k from UBS towards 
the Stepping Stones grants programme, the latter not having been included in the budget. The 2017/18 budget includes solely income from WNST at 
present. 

 
City Bridge Trust: Summary Business Plan 2017/18 

 

CBT Staffing: 
 
This section will be completed by the CBT HR Business Partner and will include data analysis on current staffing levels, sickness and absence rates and the 
levels of diversity within the department. Information to follow. 
 

 

Notes on Staffing Information: 
To be completed. 

Learning & Development: 
 
The Trust is strongly committed to the development of its staff team.  As well as formal training opportunities, there are a wide variety of ways in which staff 
can learn ‘on the job’, including: 
 

 Attendance at and active participation in funders’ networks where issues relevant to our funding priorities, as well as good practice in grant-making, 

P
age 74



 

 

are discussed. 

 Attendance at and active participation in conferences and seminars on topics relevant to our grant-making. 

 Opportunities for administrative staff to accompany Grants Officers on assessment and monitoring visits. 

 As board members of organisations, including London Funders, the Association of Charitable Foundations and NCVO. 

 Making presentations on the Trust’s work to London’s voluntary sector. 
 
During the year, a number of team training sessions will be planned, following consultation with staff members. 

 

Key Improvement Objective Template  

 

Objective 1 
 

Develop the Trust’s role as a strategic, collaborative and influential funder.  

Priority and rationale (why are you doing it?) As London’s largest independent funder, the Trust has a responsibility to London’s communities, 
especially those most disadvantaged. 

 

Actions / Milestones Target Date Measure of Success Responsibility Resources 

Strategic Review stakeholder 
consultations  completed and 
final draft of strategy 
submitted to CBT Committee 
for approval 

May 2017 
 
 

 Committee approve the 
2018/2023 funding 
strategy. 

Chief Grants Officer 
 

Officer time; local risk and 
grants budgets. 
 

Strategic Review submitted 
to Court of Common Council 
for approval. 

July 2017  Court of Common Council 
approve the 2018/2023 
funding strategy. 

Chief Grants Officer 
 

Officer time; local risk and 
grants budgets 

Strategic Review 
implementation  timetable 
and resources plan 
developed and agreed  
 

July 2017  Committee presented 
with the implementation 
timetable and associated 
resource requirements. 

Chief Grants Officer Officer time; local risk and 
grants budgets. 

P
age 75



 

 

Actions / Milestones Target Date Measure of Success Responsibility Resources 

To develop an Evaluation 
and Learning plan to 
underpin the delivery of the 
strategy. 

December 2017  How staff use the 
knowledge gained 
through the Learning and 
Evaluation Plan and how 
this is disseminated to 
other stakeholders. 

Chief Grants Officer Officer time; local risk and 
grants budgets. 

 
 
 

Objective 2 
 

Maximise the impact of the funding available from the underlying charity Bridge House Estates. 

Priority and rationale (why are you doing it?) The needs of Londoners are greater than the resources available and it is essential that the Trust aims 
to maximise its impact. 
 
 

 

Actions / Milestones Target Date Measure of Success Responsibility Resources 

The grants budget is 
expended in full. 

March 2018  Even grant spend 
throughout the year 
meeting notional 
targets (50% deployed 
by October 2017)  

Chief Grants Officer Full team supported by Chamberlain’s. 

Strategic Initiatives 
continue to complement 
the Trust’s responsive 
grant-making.  

On-going  20% of the grants 
budget is committed to 
strategic initiatives. 

 Funder Plus initiatives 
developed. 

Deputy Chief Grants 
Officer. 

Full team supported by Chamberlain’s. 

The Grants Manual is in 
place. 

October 2017  The quality and 
consistency of grants 
assessment and 
management is 
improved. 

Deputy Chief Grants 
Officer and lead Grants 
Officer. 

Staff time. 

The Central Grants 
Programme is managed 
effectively on behalf of the 
CoLC. 

April 2017 onwards.  To continue to provide 
appropriate resources 
to deliver the Central 
Grants Programme.  

Chief Grants Officer and 
the Senior Grants Officer 
lead. 

Staff time supported by City Solicitors 
and the Chamberlain’s teams. 

P
age 76



 

 

Actions / Milestones Target Date Measure of Success Responsibility Resources 

 Members and Officers 
continue to 
understand the grants 
that may be applied 
for. 

Learning and 
development plan 
developed. 

December 2017  and on-
going 

 Members of grants 
team actively 
participate in external 
networking and 
learning events. 

  

Deputy Chief Grants 
Officer 

Staff time. 

The Trust continues to 
develop its relationship 
with London Funders as a 
strategic partner. 

On-going  London’s Giving 
continues to grow in at 
least 4 more 
boroughs. 

 The Trust identifies 
initiatives to fund 
under the 
infrastructure support 
strand of its uplifted 
grants budget. 

CBT Management team Staff time. 

Resource and staffing 
plan developed for Phase 
2 of the website 
redevelopment. 

July 2017  Positive feedback of 
user-friendliness of 
new site; up-to-date 
and dynamic nature of 
content, feedback 
incorporated from 
users. 

Communications Officer Staff time (including I.S. team); budget. 

 

Objective 3 
 

Grow the London social investment market  

Priority and rationale (why are you doing it?) To diversify and increase the funding available to achieve social impact. 

 

Actions / Milestones Target Date Measure of Success Responsibility Resources 

At least a further £3m of the 
Social investment Fund 

March 2018 Social Investment Board 
meetings will approve 

Chief Grants Officer Officer time and Bridge 
House Estates charitable 

P
age 77



 

 

committed. investment commitments of a 
further £3m by the end of the 
financial year 

assets. 

A further round of Stepping 
Stones grants is awarded. 

September 2017  £0.55m Stepping Stones 
Fund is fully committed. 

 The Partnership with UBS 
continues. 
 

Principal Grants and Social 
Investment Officer 

Officer time and grants 
budget, UBS employee time 
and grants resource. 

Board Strategic Away-Half 
Day  

31 October 2017 Discussions on the day lead 
to improvements to strategy 
and related activity. 

Chief Grants Officer Officer time, external speaker 
time. 

 

Objective 4 
 

Encourage more charitable giving and the effective giving of time, talent and money across London. 

Priority and rationale (why are you doing it?) To increase the resources available to civic society  

 

Actions / Milestones Target Date Measure of Success Responsibility Resources 

To develop a joint Giving 
strategy that covers the Trust 
and The City of London 
Corporation and links with the 
work of other key 
stakeholders. 

January 2018  A Giving strategy is 
agreed and this is 
understood and informs 
working across the 
Trust/ColC/and Mansion 
House 

 

Chief Grants Officer. Officer time and consultancy 
budget. 

To recruit a ‘Head of 
Philanthropy Strategy’ 

July 2017  To have recruited to the 
post. 

 

Chief Grants Officer. Officer time and grants 
budget 

 
 

Objective 5 
 

Fit for purpose:  To ensure the Trust is led by strategic decisions, is customer focused and is resourced 
appropriately to deliver quality outcomes.  

Priority and rationale (why are you doing it?) The extent of disadvantage in London is greater than the resources available to tackle the problem: it is 
essential that the Trust maximises its impact by making best use of all of its assets. 

 

Actions / Milestones Target Date Measure of Success Responsibility Resources 

P
age 78



 

 

Actions / Milestones Target Date Measure of Success Responsibility Resources 

A programme of themes is 
continued for each 
Committee meeting – to 
include one focused meeting 
on strategic initiatives. 

May 2017 onwards (Strategic 
initiative focused meeting 
November 2017). 

 Members feel better 
informed about the 
focussed areas of the 
Investing in Londoners 
programme (including 
strategic initiatives). 

Chief Grants Officer Officer time and grantee 
speaker time. 

The Trust’s Committee 
Members are able to play 
their full part in the 
governance of the Trust’s 
work.  

On-going and March 2018  All new Members receive 
a full induction within 2 
months of joining the 
Committee. 

 Each Member attends at 
least 2 grantee 
visits/events and strategic 
away-half day. 

Chief Grants Officer Officer and Member time. 

The Trust’s staffing resource 
and structure is reviewed in 
light of the Strategic Review 
and Central Grants 
Programme. 

December 2017  The grants team has 
clear lines of 
accountability in place. 

 The Central Grants 
function is integrated and 
working efficiently as part 
of the CBT team. 

Chief Grants Officer Officer time (including 
additional HR). 

 

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 80



C
it
y
 o

f 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti
o

n
The City of London Corporation is the governing body of the Square Mile 

dedicated to a thriving City, supporting a strong, sustainable and diverse 

London within a globally-successful UK.

We aim to…

Benefit society
By fostering a culture of inclusivity, opportunity and responsibility

Shape the future City
By strengthening its connectivity, capacity and character

Secure economic growth
By promoting the City as the best place in the world to do business

Everything we do supports the delivery of these three strategic objectives. 

We measure our performance by tracking our impact on twelve outcomes:

People 
People live enriched lives and reach their potential 

People enjoy good health and well-being

People enjoy our thriving and sustainable public spaces

People are safe and feel safe

Place
The Square Mile is the ultimate co-working space: flexible, secure and 

inspiring

The Square Mile is digitally and physically well-connected and responsive 

The Square Mile is known for world-leading culture and creativity

The Square Mile has outstanding public spaces, retail, leisure and 

hospitality

Prosperity
The City has the world’s best access to global markets and regulatory 

framework 

The City is the global hub for business innovation – new products, new 

markets and new ways of doing business

The City nurtures and has access to the skills and talent it needs to thrive

The City’s activities at home and abroad are known to benefit society 

and business

Draft Corporate Plan 2018 - 23

07/04/17

APPENDIX 3

Page 81



C
it
y
 o

f 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti
o

n
What we are responsible for…

London’s world-leading financial and business centre, the Square Mile’s 

local authority services, City of London Police, national economic security, 

London’s Port Health Authority, five Thames bridges, London’s biggest 

independent grant-maker, the UK’s highest performing group of secondary 

Academies, three independent schools, Europe’s largest multi-arts centre, 

numerous cultural and educational institutions, three wholesale markets, 

safe UK animal trade, housing, landholdings and historic green spaces

We want to…

Deliver far more for the City, the capital and the country by collaborating 

with our unique breadth and depth of partners and stakeholders

Our unique selling points are…

Our independent voice

Our convening power and reach

Our long-held traditions yet ability to be a catalyst for change

Our long-term view and local, regional, national and global perspectives 

Our private, public and voluntary sector expertise

We commit to…

Unlocking the potential of our many assets – our people, our stakeholders, 

our relationships, our buildings and the valued cultural, educational, 

environmental and commercial assets we oversee

Championing diversity and London’s cosmopolitan nature 

Listening to our customers and providing excellent services

Being active partners, open to challenge, leading and learning

Innovation, always looking for ways to deliver more and add value through 

new technologies and smart approaches

Good governance, by driving the relevance, responsibility, reliability and 

radicalism of everything we do

Upholding our values – Lead, Empower, Trust - and displaying passion, 

pace, pride and professionalism  in everything we do

Draft Corporate Plan 2018 - 23

07/04/17

Page 82



 

 

Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust 
 

11th May 2017 

Subject: 
Employment & disability – Bridge to Work Programme 
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer 

For Decision 
 
 

 
 

Summary 
 

This report informs you of the specific projects recommended for funding in your 
Bridge to Work programme and confirms the allocation of the total amount available. 
 
 

Recommendations 
 

Members are asked to: 
 

1. Note the report. 
2. Agree the allocation of the total £3.3m funds as outlined in Table 1 – subject 

to consideration of the individual reports on the selected organisations, which 
are presented elsewhere in your papers. 

3. Recommend that the Court of Common Council approves any individual 
grants which are above £500,000. 

 
 

Main Report 
 

Background 
 

1. At your meeting in March you agreed a general allocation of the available funds 
for the Bridge to Work programme (supporting disabled people into and in 
employment), with officers instructed to bring recommendations on specific 
funding to named organisations to this meeting. 

 

2. The total funds available (excluding the Mental Health strand which is the 
subject of a report elsewhere in your papers) amount to £3.3m. Of this, certain 
areas of expenditure were agreed in principle at your last meeting (see Table 1 
below) and can now be confirmed. 
 

3. Assessment reports for the individual projects recommended for support are 
also provided elsewhere in these papers, for decision on an individual basis. 
You are asked to agree 5 years’ funding to each but with years 4 and 5 subject 
to satisfactory progress being achieved. This was the principle agreed at your 
meeting in January 2017. One of those – for a joint project between Inclusion 
London and Action on Disability – will need to be referred for decision to the 
Court of Common Council, preferably in June, as it amounts to more than 
£500,000 over the five year period.  

Page 83

Agenda Item 12



 

 

 

4. The individual organisations recommended for support are: 
Action for Kids      £250,000 
Inclusion London/Action on Disability  £775,000 
Muscular Dystrophy UK    £276,000 
National Autistic Society    £199,000 
Royal Mencap      £350,000 
Whizz-Kidz      £384,000 
               £2,234,000 
 

5. If you agree those grants as advised (and the Court supports the Inclusion 
London recommendation), the total sum would be £2,234,000. The sum set 
aside at your March meeting was £2,400,000 so it is proposed that the 
difference of £166,000 be added to the £350,000 originally recommended for 
the Work Experience/Internship fund. This is reflected in Table 1. 
 

6. Expenditure items 3-6 within Table 1 represent costs that will either be directly 
incurred by your team or will be the subject of a supplier contract. As such, 
these costs will be spread over the lifetime of the programme. Plans for the 
operation of the work experience/internship fund, Item 2, are being developed 
and will be presented at a future meeting. 
 

7. Assuming you (and the Court where necessary) agree these allocations and the 
individual grants, the Bridge to Work programme can commence in full in the 
summer time, in line with the intentions of the individual projects. 

 

 

Table 1 
 

 Total for 5 years 
 

1. Funding to individual organisations 2,234,000 

2. Work experience/Internship fund + management costs    516,000 

3. External evaluation (based on £20k pa)    100,000 

4. Resources, events, seminars, project costs, etc      70,000 

5. Project management/Employer engagement (based on 
£40k pa on average) 

    200,000 

6. Contingency/additional projects    180,000 

 £3,300,000 
 
 

Conclusion 
 

8. The Bridge to Work programme aims to narrow the disability employment gap 
 by funding projects which provide employability support for young disabled 
 people in London and which help to strengthen links between employers and 
 the disabled community. The individual projects bring both a variety of 
 approaches and commonality of objectives which is both exciting and 
 comprehensive and which, in conjunction with the other areas of engagement, 
 should make significant progress in supporting disabled Londoners into work. 

 
Ciaran Rafferty 
Principal Grants officer, City Bridge Trust 
T: 020 7332 3186 
E: ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 84

mailto:ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Page 85

Agenda Item 13



Page 86



Page 87

Agenda Item 13a



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 92



Page 93

Agenda Item 13b



Page 94



Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 96



Page 97

Agenda Item 13c



Page 98



Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100



Page 101

Agenda Item 13d



Page 102



Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 104



Page 105

Agenda Item 13e



Page 106



Page 107

Agenda Item 13f



Page 108



Page 109

Agenda Item 13g



Page 110



Page 111

Agenda Item 13h



Page 112



Page 113

Agenda Item 13i



Page 114



Page 115

Agenda Item 13j



Page 116



Page 117

Agenda Item 13k



Page 118



Page 119

Agenda Item 13l



Page 120



Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 122



Page 123

Agenda Item 13m



Page 124



Page 125

Agenda Item 13n



Page 126



Page 127

Agenda Item 13o



Page 128



Page 129

Agenda Item 13p



Page 130



Page 131

Agenda Item 13q



Page 132



Page 133

Agenda Item 13r



Page 134



Page 135

Agenda Item 13s



Page 136



Page 137

Agenda Item 13t



Page 138



Page 139

Agenda Item 13u



Page 140



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

11th May 2017 

Subject: 
Applications recommended for rejection 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Decision 
 

 
Summary 

 

This report and the accompanying schedule outlines a total of 16 grant 
applications or Eco-Audit requests that, for the reason(s) identified, are 
recommended for rejection.  

 
Recommendation 

 

 Members are asked to: 
 

 Reject the grant applications detailed in the accompanying schedule 
 
 

Main Report 
 

1. There are a total of 16 applications (excluding those under the Stepping 
Stones scheme) recommended for rejection at this meeting. They are 
listed within categories in the accompanying schedule. In each case the 
“purpose” that is used to describe the application is that provided by the 
applicant organisation. All the recommendations are based on criteria 
set out in your Policy Guidance.  

 

2. Copies of these application forms are available to view in the Members’ 
Reading Room. If any Committee Member wishes to query any of the 
recommendations, this can either be done at the meeting, in which case 
the decision may be deferred while full details are provided to the 
Member concerned, or by contacting the Trust office in advance of the 
meeting so that an explanation can be provided prior to or at the 
meeting.  
 

 
 
 
Ciaran Rafferty 
Principal Grants Officer 
T: 020 7332 3186 
E: ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 141

Agenda Item 14a

mailto:ciran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 142



 Recommended for Rejection 
 The City Bridge Trust Committee – 11th May 2017 

 Summary of Recommendations for Rejection - Investing in Londoners 

 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

Date Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 English for Speakers of Other Languages 

 September 13681 To improve independence, citizenship, During the assessment process, the £17,740 SAR 
 2016 Kongolese Centre for integration  and better life changes with applicant stated that the primary objective of Westminster 
 Information and improved basic English speaking this ESOL project is to support individuals 
 Advice knowledge. into employment, which falls outside of your 
 programme's priorities. 

 Total English for Speakers of Other Languages (1 item) £17,740 

 

 Improving London's Environment 

 February 13917 Funding for project staff and equipment A large request from what is currently a £156,315 TW 
 2017 Naturebytes CIC to deliver the "Great London Wildlife relatively low turnover organisation. Whilst Tower Hamlets 
 Makers Project" for young people. the proposed work is interesting, and the 
 technology used is innovating, it is hard to 
 see that the organisation could oversee and 
 quality assure an educational programme on 
 the scale outlined in the bid. 

 August 13568 To benefit the local community through An unrealistic bid which, despite clarifying £456,148 JXM 
2016 Stepney City Farm Ltd volunteering opportunities and help requirements with your Grants Officer, does Tower Hamlets 
 them grow as we grow enabling them not sufficiently address your programme 
 gain qualifications and enter the work outcomes for Improving the Environment 
 place. 

 Total Improving London's Environment (2 items) £612,463 

P
age 143



 

 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

Date Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 Improving Londoners' Mental Health 

 March 13970 Project aims to promote positive mental The proposed work is for events around £19,410 SFJ 
2017 CareNet health and wellbeing by helping to mental health and wellbeing, and does not Lambeth 
 empower those communities to take set out a convincing case for how it will 
 action to co-create their own wellbeing deliver work to meet the outcomes of the 
 Improving Londoners' Mental Health 
 programme. 

 February 13957 Express 1:1 uses therapeutic arts and The organisation does not deliver specialist £65,542 CR 
 2017 Dream Arts play to support the mental health needs mental health services, nor is its current Westminster 
 of children, young people and their work, or this proposal, sufficiently focused 
 familes in Westminster on delivering mental health outcomes. 

 March 13969 North London Samaritans and Poorly prepared bid which is seeking capital £70,000 JXM 
2017 North London Community Centre providing support by funding towards the general refurbishment Haringey 
 Samaritans phone, email, face to face and in the of a proposed multi-use building. No access 
 community to reduce the risk of suicide. audit is available and the required benefit for 
 disabled people has not been sufficiently 
 defined nor quantified. Further, the 
 governance position is confusing and the 
 ownership of the building is held by 
 Custodian Trustees (National Samaritans), 
 not the applicant. 

 Total Improving Londoners' Mental Health (3 items) £154,952 

 

 Making London More Inclusive 

 March 13961 To cover part of the costs of a 5 day The proposal is for funds to provide £11,700 CR 
2017 Pioneer Sailing Trust residential sailing trip for 10 young deaf residential activities, which you do not Outside London 
 people aboard Pioneer CK18 support. 
 

Total Making London More Inclusive (1 item) £11,700

P
age 144



 

 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

Date Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 
 

 Making London Safer 

 October      13696 After the withdrawal of local authority Organisation is seeking funding to directly £300,000 SAR 
2016 Enfield Muslim funding we are looking to alternative replace cuts by statutory bodies. Enfield 
 Womens Aid sources of funding to ensure the 
 continued survival of the organisation. 

 January      13893 To ensure women and girls are safe Poor quality application and supporting £149,789 TB 
2017 Iranian and Kurdish from harmful practices by providing information inconsistent with the proposal City 
 Women's Rights culturally sensitive, targeted, specialist and your reporting requirements and 
 Organisation advice, information and advocacy and expectations 
 training in community languages. 

 Total Making London Safer (2 items) £449,789 

 Reducing Poverty 

 February 13955 Rose Vouchers for Fruit & Veg Project - The organisation's proposal projects growth £117,035 CR 
 2017 Alexandra Rose tackling food poverty, promoting healthy of at least 100% within a year, which is not a Outside London 
 Charity eating and supporting London's local model that the Trust is keen to support. 
 street markets. Additionally, from the figures presented, a 
 lot of the organisation's projected 
 expenditure is on activity which is 
 administrative or "back-office". 
 
 February 13914 To pay for specialist welfare benefits This is consortium bid of 3 organisations, £182,381 SFJ 
 2017 Zacchaeus 2000 Trustadvice and casework services however the application is for 3 part time Westminster 
 throughout Westminster to be provided advice workers from each of the 
 by a consortium of 3 organisations organisations and a part time project 
 coordinator. There is no clear account on 
 how working as a partnership would bring 
 synergy, nor that the outcomes would be 
 delivered through a partnership. 

 Total Reducing Poverty (2 items) £299,416 

P
age 145



 

 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

Date Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 
 
Resettlement and Rehabilitation of Offenders 

 October      13729 We change the lives of the women with The level of funding requested would £39,404 SFJ 
2016 Ghost Academy complex problems through the medium exceed 50% of the organisation's turnover. Barking & 
 of hairdressing! Dagenham 

 November 13815 To create 3 anthologies of writing by A project to deliver creating writing classes £60,000 TW 
 2016 Give a Book those in London prisons - professionally in 9 London prisons with a view to producing Kensington & 
 published in an accessible and easily anthologies of work. The activities do not fit Chelsea 
 available format. your criteria for 'through the gate' or on 
 release work with ex-offenders leaving 
 custody or serving community services and 
 are therefore ineligible for support. 

 February 13947 Requesting half-salary funding for two A religious-based organisation which will £65,150 CR 
 2017 Kahaila Ltd Kahaila-Reflex Prison Outreach take a "faith-based" approach to this project Tower Hamlets 
 Workers: providing internal and external and where the posts to be supported would 
 prison mentoring aiming to rehabilitate be religiously restricted. As such, it does not 
 female offenders and so reduce meet your criteria. 
 offending. 
 
 March 13967 Three years funding CREATIVE A key part of the proposal is for the £100,388 KAM 
2017 Koestler Trust CHANCES - An employment provision of short-term insecure Hammersmith & 
 programme for London's cultural employment, and does not address how this Fulham 
 venues to give opportunities to model will create permanent employment 
 ex-offenders. opportunities or support ex-offenders to 
 successfully and sustainably resettle in the 
 community. The application, therefore, does 
 not address your funding priorities. 

 Total Resettlement and Rehabilitation of Offenders (4 items) £264,942 

P
age 146



 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

Date Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 
 
Strengthening London's Voluntary Sector 

 March 13885 Helping participants,from other local Organisation is not a 2nd tier body and is, £4,616 CR 
2017 African Smile groups,get new knowledge enabling therefore, ineligible for this programme area. Greenwich 
 them to strengthen their capacities and 
 skills to be able to deliver successfully 
 their services. 

 Total Strengthening London's Voluntary Sector (1 item) £4,616 

 Grand Totals (16 items) £1,815,618 

P
age 147



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 148



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

11th May 2017 

Subject: 
Grants/expenditure considered under Delegated 
Authority 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 
 

 
Summary 

 

Recommendation 
 

 Members are asked to: 
 

 Receive this report and note its contents 
 

Main Report 
 

Following the approval of the Court of Common Council on 16th October 2014, the 
Chief Grants Officer may make decisions on applications of up to £10,000. Decisions 
on applications of over £10,000 and up to £25,000 may be approved by the Chief 
Grants Officer in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman.  
 

Decisions on applications of over £25,000 and up to £50,000 may be approved by 
the Chief Grants Officer in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman, 
with reference to the Chamberlain. 
 
5 of the items below are for the costs of an eco-audit, where no monies are paid to 
the recipient organisation, rather the funds approved are used by the Trust to 
commission and appoint qualified professionals to undertake an individual audit for 
the named charity. 
 

The total amount of expenditure and number of items approved under delegated 
authority this financial year (inclusive of those below) are shown in Table 1. 
 
In addition, one of the items (below) was approved following a request to be consider 
as a matter of urgency. 
 
 
 
Requests approved under Urgency 
 
London Emergencies Trust 
(Approved 30/03/2017) 

£75,000 towards a fund for the bereaved families 
and injured survivors of the Westminster terror 
attack and to provide LET with working funds to 
meet other outgoings.  
 

 

Page 149

Agenda Item 14b



Requests < £10k  
 
2016/17 financial year 
 
Longfield Hall Trust 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£5,000 towards an independent access audit and 
subsequent amendment of architectural plans 
 

St Barnabas Church 
(Approved 7/03/2017) 

£4,500 to commission an independent access 
audit to inform the redevelopment of Solar House, 
Finchley Road. 

  
Cardinal Hume Centre 
(Approved 21/03/2017) 

£2,800 (7 days at £400 per day) to provide an 
eco-audit 

 
Elfrida Rathbone Camden 
(Approved 6/03/2017) 

 
£2,400 (6 days@£400 per day) to provide an eco-
audit. 

 
Organiclea 
(Approved 21/03/2017) 

 
£2,600 (6.5 days at £400 per day) to undertake an 
eco-audit 

 
2017/18 financial year 
 
Applecartlive Ltd 
(Approved 4/04/2017) 

 
£2,600 (6.5 days) to undertake an eco-audit.  

 
Community Centre for 
Refugees from Vietnam,Laos 
and Cambodia 
(Approved 19/04/2017) 

 
£3,000 (7.5 days) to provide an eco-audit  

 
 
Requests £10k - £25k 
 
2016/17 financial year 
 

Stonewall Equality Ltd 
(Approved 1/03/2017) 

£17,000 over one year for staffing and programme 
costs for the Role Models programme for 
members of the BAME LGB community in 
London. 
 

My Life Films 
(Approved 9/03/2017) 

£24,000 for the costs of creating biographical films 
for 24 people with dementia in London, and 
related project costs. 
 

Shapeshifter Productions Ltd 
(Approved 29/03/2017) 

£23,400 over 2 years (£11,550; £11,850) towards 
running costs of The Smiling Sessions project 
 

Strawberry Hill Trust 
(Approved 1/03/2017) 

£22,800 over three years (£7,600 x 3) towards 
developing the Feel Good Garden project working 
with older people aged 75 plus. 

Page 150



 
Requests £25k - £50k  
 
2016/17 financial year 
 

 

Raw Material Music and Media 
Education Limited 
(Approved 9/03/2017) 

£43,000 over three years (£16,165; £13,420; 
£13,415) towards the p/t Project Manager, 
sessional staff, equipment and on costs for the in-
reach mental health programme. 

  
  
  
St Johns Community 
Development Project 
(Approved 29/03/2017) 

£31,000 for one year towards the costs of a part 
time outreach worker (0.5FTE), 9 hours per week 
driver and associated running costs. Release of 
the grant is subject to quarterly financial updates 
being provided.  
 

Advice UK 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£50,000 towards salary, on-costs and operational 
costs. The grant is to be spent over a minimum 10 
month period to support the organisation’s 
involvement in The Way Ahead and is subject to a 
review after 6 months. 
 

Age UK London 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£49,700 towards the costs of three salaries, on-
costs and associated project costs.  The grant is 
to be spent in a minimum of ten months to support 
the organisation’s involvement in The Way Ahead 
and is subject to a review after six months. 
 

British Refugee Council 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£50,000 for a salary, associated on-costs and 
operational costs. The grant is to be spent over a 
minimum 10 month period to support the 
organisation’s involvement in The Way Ahead and 
is subject to a review after 6 months. 
 

Children England 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£44,000 over one year as a contribution to the 
salaries of three central team staff and associated 
costs. The grant is to be spent over a minimum of 
ten months to support the organisation’s 
involvement in the Way Ahead process, subject to 
a review after six months. 
 

Greater London Volunteering 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£48,400 towards salaries, on-costs and 
operational costs. The grant is to be spent over a 
minimum 10 month period to support the 
organisation’s involvement in The Way Ahead and 
the development of the London Hub and is subject 
to a review after 6 months. 
 

Page 151



HEAR Equality and Human 
Rights Network 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£50,000 over one year for the co-ordinator’s 
salary, on-costs and operational cost. The grant is 
to be spent over a minimum of ten months to 
support the organisation’s involvement in The 
Way Ahead, subject to a review after six months. 
 

Inclusion London 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£50,000 towards the cost two salaries and on 
costs and associated costs and for access costs 
for DDPOS to Inclusion London’s campaigns and 
policy forum. The grant is to be spent over a 
minimum 10 month period to support the 
organisation’s involvement in The Way Ahead and 
is subject to a review after 6 months. 
 

LASA 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£50,000 over one year towards a salary and 
associated costs. The grant is to be spent over a 
minimum 10 month period to support the 
organisation’s involvement in The Way Ahead and 
is subject to a review after 6 months.  
 

Law Centres Federation 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£50,000 towards salaries, on-costs and 
operational costs.  The grant is to be spent over a 
minimum 10 month period to support the 
organisation’s involvement in The Way Ahead and 
is subject to a review after 6 months. 
 

London Voluntary Service 
Council 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£50,000 towards salaries, on-costs and 
operational costs. The grant is to be spent over a 
maximum 10 month period to support the 
organisation’s involvement in The Way Ahead and 
the development of the London Hub, and is 
subject to a review after 6 months. 
 

Partnership for Young London 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£48,500 towards the cost of the Strategic 
Director’s salary and a part-time intern and 
associated project costs. The grant is to be spent 
over a minimum 10 month period to support the 
organisation’s involvement in The Way Ahead and 
is subject to a review after 6 months. 
 

Race Equality Foundation 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£48,200 towards the salaries of two posts, on-
costs and associated project costs to support the 
organisation’s involvement in the Way Ahead 
process. The grant is to be spent over a minimum 
of ten months, subject to a review after six 
months. 
 
 
 
 

Page 152



Race On The Agenda 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£50,000 over one year towards a salary and 
operational costs. The grant is to be spent over a 
minimum 10 month period to support the 
organisation’s involvement in The Way Ahead and 
is subject to a review after 6 months. 
 

Transport for All 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

£49,400 over one year for the salary of the 
Communications and Project officer, on-costs and 
associated project costs.  The grant is to be spent 
over a minimum of ten months, with a review after 
six months, to support the organisation’s 
involvement in the Way Ahead. 

 
Women's Resource Centre 
(Approved 20/03/2017) 

 
£48,800 for a salary for a post to work on the Way 
Ahead and associated costs for the work.  The 
grant is to be spent in a minimum of ten months to 
support the organisation’s involvement in The 
Way Ahead and is subject to a review after six 
months. 

  
2017/18 financial year 
 

Young Vic Theatre Company 
(Approved 19/04/2017) 

£30,550 for one year towards the costs of 
providing creative drama activities for young 
people (14-18) with mental health issues. 

 
 
 
 
Table 1 – Funds approved under delegated authority in financial year to date. 
   

Applications 
reported to 
Committee 

< £10k  
  

£10k - £25k 
  

£25k - £50k 

  £ No. £ No. £ No. 

Total May 2017  £22,900 7 £87,200 4 £841,550 18 

Approved in 2016/17 £5,600 2 £0 0 £30,550 1 

Total for 2017/18 
year to date £17,300 5 £87,200 4 

 
£811,000 

 
17 

NB. This does not include the request approved under urgency in 2016/17 
 
 
 
 
 
Ciaran Rafferty 
Principal Grants Officer 
T: 020 7332 3186 
E: ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk] 

Page 153

mailto:ciran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 154



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

11th May 2017 

Subject: 
Withdrawn & Lapsed applications 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 
 

 
Summary 

 
This report informs Members of applications received which subsequently have been 
withdrawn by the applicant, or lapsed due to the absence of the information required 
to undertake a full assessment. 
 

Recommendation 
 
 Members are asked to: 
 

 Receive this report and note its contents 
 

 

Main Report 
 
Organisation        Purpose of Request 
 
Withdrawn Applications: 
 
Clink Charity To set up home for ex-offenders on release of 

prison for either inexpensive white goods, carpets 
or beds, or travel cards, uniform for their job  
 

- Following discussion with your officer, the 
organisation chose to withdraw their application 
with the intention to submit another application in 
the future.  
 

Aston-Mansfield To up-skill and develop small and emerging 
Voluntary and Community Sector groups, to 
provide skills, knowledge and resources around 
successful financial management.  
 

- The applicant has withdrawn its application, with 
a view to submitting a revised proposal in the 
future. 
 

Creative Islington Impact and Evaluation Support for Islington and 
Camden Creative Organisations  
 

- The organisation has withdrawn its application 
as it will be closing down due to an uncertain 

Page 155

Agenda Item 14c



financial future.  
 

Legal Advice Centre (University 
House) 

Increase pro-bono support and work with 
voluntary sector Organisations to improve their 
capacity to deliver advocacy and representation 
and help to develop their volunteer systems.  
 

- After a discussion with your officer, the 
organisation decided to withdraw its application 
and will apply under another programme. 
 

Redbridge Children & Young 
People's Network (RCYPN) 

Enabling local groups supporting children & young 
people to engage with them, build capacity, 
collaborate, develop a strong, representative 
'voice' and deliver effective, needs-led services.  
 

- Following discussion with your officer, the 
applicant organisation has decided to withdraw 
this application. 
 

Arts and Gardens We are seeking support for two complementary 
projects, providing access to the natural 
environment for children and young people with 
no outdoor space at home.  
 

- The applicant has decided to withdraw its 
application 
 

The Conservation Volunteers To empower residents in Barking and Dagenham 
to improve their health and wellbeing through 
engagement in a programme of community 
activity to transform green spaces.  
 

- The application was withdrawn with a view to 
submit a revised proposal in the future.  

 
Autus Teaching coding skills, alongside general 

employability and confidence building, to young 
people with autism and supporting them to find 
work.  
 

- The applicant has decided to withdraw its 
application, as it is not able to provide the full 
application information at this time.  
 

Lambeth Elfrida Rathbone 
Society 

For delivery of inclusive dance and music project 
for young people aged 11- 25 years old in and 
around Lambeth.  
 

- The organisation has withdrawn this application 
so that it can reapply when audited 2016/17 
accounts can be provided. 
 

Page 156



Museum of London To employ an Access Manager to make the 
Museum of London's museums, both present and 
future, accessible to all.  
 

- On advice from your officer this application was 
withdrawn. A revised proposal which better 
reflects your priorities is anticipated. 
 

Skinners Almshouse Charity To provide a lift, liftshaft and power, transforming 
accessibility at Percy Bilton Court as part of our 
wider inclusivity project  
 

- The applicant has withdrawn this proposal and 
will liaise with your officers to determine if another 
proposal might be suitable. 
 

St Vedast-alias-Foster Provision of accessible toilets, accessible main 
entrance and accessible fire exit in order eliminate 
any hindrance to disabled visitors.  
 

- The application has decided to withdrawn its 
application.  
 

Theatre Royal Stratford East A three-year programme supporting disabled 
people in London to actively engage with 
performing arts as artists and audiences - 
increasing opportunities, skills, aspirations and 
confidence. 
 

- The applicant has decided to withdrawn its 
application at this time.  
 

Afghanistan and Central Asian 
Association 

The Lotus project will provide support: translation, 
advocacy and advice, to victims of domestic 
violence empowering them to make choices that 
result in personal safety.  
 

- The application has withdrawn its application and 
plan to re-submit a revised application.  

 
 
 
Lapsed Applications 
 
British Somali Community English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) 

Level 1 and Level 2 classes to Somali and BME 
women in Camden, supported by volunteer 
classroom assistants.  
 

- The application has lapsed as the applicant has 
not been able to provide satisfactory information 
about its finances in a reasonable timeframe.  

  

Page 157



Bridge 86 Ltd To provide a customised support programme to 
improve mental health and wellbeing, enabling 
greater community participation and movement 
towards employment, volunteering and personal 
development.  
 

- No response received to request for more 
information  

  
The Ealing Club Community 
Interest Company 

To pinpoint underused spaces through a live 
music programme that will generate vitality, 
diversity, civic pride, social interaction, footfall for 
Ealing Borough in 2017.  
 

- No response when contacted for further 
information 

  
Veterans Aid Make NBH an inclusive place where disabled 

homeless veterans could enjoy the benefits of 
their stay, treatment and recovery as everyone 
else.  
 

- The application has been lapsed as the applicant 
has not provided the requested financial 
information within the agreed timeframe. 

  
Bethnal Green Methodist Church Support the elderly and those with physical health 

conditions to become more independent and 
engage within mainstream society through 
volunteering, work and meaningful activities 
 

 - No response when more information requested 
  
Finsbury Park Homeless Families 
Project 

To fund the essential Drop In facility core costs  
 

- No response was received when emailed 
queries on the application.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ciaran Rafferty 
Principal Grants Officer 
 

T: 020 7332 3186 
E: ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk] 

 

Page 158

mailto:ciran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

11th May 2017 

Subject: 
Variations to grants awarded 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 
 

 
Summary 

 
This report informs Members of a grant where a variation has been agreed by the 
Chief Grants Officer since your last meeting. 
 

Recommendation 
 
 Members are asked to: 
 

 Receive this report and note its contents 
 
 

Main Report 
 
Since your last meeting, variation to the grant outlined below has been agreed by the 
Chief Grants Officer, in line with the revised delegated procedure for the amendment 
of grants as agreed by your Committee in October 2004. 
 
 
 

New Choices for Youth 
A grant of £74,250 over 3 years was awarded in July 2012, to provide life skills 
training to care leavers. Following operational problems the grant was reviewed and 
re-focused in November 2015. However the project has continued to experience 
difficulties, especially around securing referrals. Following discussion with your 
officer the organisation has decided to close the project at the end of year 2, with the 
resulting underspend of the third year’s instalment of £25,000 now revoked. 
 
 
 
Ciaran Rafferty 
Principal Grants Officer 
020 7332 3186 
ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 159

Agenda Item 14d



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 160



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust Committee 11th May 2017 
 

Subject: 
Wembley National Stadium Trust (WNST) 
 

Public 

Report of: 
The Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 

Report author: 
Stewart Goshawk, Chief Executive Officer,  WNST 

 
Summary 

 
This paper provides members with an annual update on the work of the Wembley 
National Stadium Trust, which is run under contract by City Bridge Trust (CBT). 
 

Recommendation 
 
Members are asked to: 

 To note the report and the on-going successful partnership between CBT and 
the Wembley National Stadium Trust. 

 
Main Report 

 
Introduction 
 

1. Members will recall that for several years, CBT has operated a contract for the 
management and administration of the Wembley National Stadium Trust 
(WNST).   

 
2. WNST is an independent charitable grant-making trust, with its own board of 

trustees, income, policies and programmes around the theme of community-
based grassroots sport and physical recreation.  One of CBT’s senior staff, 
Stewart Goshawk, is seconded to act as its Chief Executive Officer.  Some 
members may not be aware that the City of London Corporation and 
Wembley Stadium have a shared connection going back to the mid-1990s 
when the Corporation was a leading signatory to the competitive tender to 
rebuild the national stadium at Wembley (other leading cities across England 
bid unsuccessfully for this).   

 
3. The charitable grant-making trust was established as a condition of the 

£120m lottery contribution that went into the building of the new stadium – 
under which the stadium management company has to donate 1% of its 
annual turnover to charity for a period of 50 years (approximately £1m per 
annum).  In WNST’s earliest days, the City Corporation provided a range of 
professional services pro bono.  Once it was planned to start the grant-making 
in earnest, the WNST trustees sought out an experienced partner to manage 

Page 161

Agenda Item 14e



and administer its business.  CBT successfully bid for the tender, which began 
in April 2012.  The contract is paid on a carefully itemised, full cost recovery 
basis, so there is no question of CBT underwriting any WNST costs.   

 
4. The rationale for doing so has been to demonstrate how two charitable trusts 

could work independently but together, using shared experiences and 
resources to inform and improve the work of both.  The results have been 
very successful with WNST establishing itself as a key funder in the sports 
field, using the  backing of CBT’s in-house systems and knowledge; with CBT 
being able to draw on WNST’s experience of running differently-focused and 
structured grants programmes, to inform its own activities and development.  
It has also, additionally, proved invaluable on many occasions to have 
Stewart’s long-standing knowledge of CBT’s history retained within the office, 
whether for example, for advice on previous grant awards or to help inform 
the current quinquennial review. 

 
5. This model of co-operation between funders is one that has been of real 

interest across the grant-making community and has featured in an article in 
the Association of Charitable Foundations’ journal – which highlighted the 
desire by CBT to use its accumulated knowledge and experience for the 
benefit of the sector more widely. 

 
WNST programmes 
 

6. WNST runs three distinct programmes, each of which receives one-third of 
the distributable income: 

 
London Borough of Brent 
 

7. This programme funds any community sports activity taking place for the 
benefit of the residents of LB Brent (the stadium’s “home” borough).  Since 
2012, WNST has distributed more than £1.5m to 150 local sports providers, 
benefiting thousands of local people.  Around 40% of funding goes to football 
projects, with the remainder split amongst a wide variety of other activities, 
from tennis, cricket, athletics and rugby, to Gaelic football, canoeing, 
volleyball, cycling and many more besides.  Grants range from around £1,000 
for new kit and equipment to larger sums of up to £25,000 for coaching 
programmes, building works and more significant capital items. 

 
8. This locally-targeted, open-ended commitment is incrementally delivering a 

real impact for the borough and its residents, through successive grants 
rounds building on each other and developing the quality and availability of 
sporting opportunities within the area. 

 
London-wide programmes 
 

9. WNST’s first three year London-wide programme delivered an innovative 
programme of funding for disability sport, working with recognised providers to 
help them establish new ways of working that can be replicated elsewhere.  
For example, WNST helped the Lord’s Taverners to establish the capital’s first 

Page 162



competitive cricket championships for young disabled adults – which started 
in just four boroughs and is now planned to go London-wide; and supported 
Panathlon (themselves a CBT grant recipient) to develop its sports activities 
days for multiply disabled primary school-age children – a programme it now 
delivers around the country. 

 
10. WNST also partnered with the Football Association to fund a major 

programme of disability football delivered by the community trusts of London’s 
professional clubs.  This worked with over 3,000 individuals and has left a 
legacy of more than 80 new disability football teams and trained cohort of 
community coaches across the capital able to deliver quality sports activities 
for disabled Londoners. 

 
11. WNST’s next, recently-launched, London-wide programme is focusing on 

girls’ sport, seeking to address the dramatic fall off in sports participation 
during their teenage years, especially in team sports.  Working in partnership 
with the national governing bodies of England Netball, England Hockey and 
the England & Wales Cricket Board, WNST will be funding a major 
programme across London to help link primary schools with the three sports’ 
networks of local clubs, to help bring about a step-change in the number of 
girls playing sport outside school.  These three sports are each hosting their 
respective world cups over the coming three years and this profile, along with 
the success that the three England / GB teams are delivering at present, will 
be used to inspire the next generation of sportswomen.  

 
England-wide programme 
 

12. WNST was always aware that it must expand its presence across the county, 
given that Wembley is the English national stadium.  However, with the 
limitations of funding, it was clear that a very targeted approach was required 
to ensure that any programme had a definable impact.  To this end, we have 
partnered with the EFL Trust (the body co-ordinating the community activities 
of professional football clubs below the Premier League) to fund 25 of the 
clubs up and down the country to deliver a programme of disability football 
activities.  This includes projects for amputees, wheelchair users, young 
people with autism, adults with enduring mental ill health and people with 
sensory impairments.  The scheme was launched at an event at Wembley 
Stadium in November 2016.   

 
13. The early success of the programme and demand for this type of activity is 

evidenced by the fact that in the first four months, around 2,000 different 
individuals have taken part in one of the sessions, double the target number. 

 
Conclusion 
 

14. The WNST trustees are clear that the multiple successes of their work to date 
is in no small part due to the management and administration partnership with 
CBT and the City of London Corporation.  Having the ability to draw on the 
experience and workings of an active and high-profile funder gave WNST 
clear advantages from day one.  From the opposite view point, CBT has, for 

Page 163



example, been able to draw on different in-house grant-making perspectives 
to help inform the current quinquennial review.  The WNST / CBT partnership 
remains therefore an active and vibrant one, of benefit to both parties. 

 
 
 
 
 

Stewart Goshawk 
Chief Executive Officer, Wembley National Stadium Trust  
(on secondment from City Bridge Trust) 
 
T: 020 7332 1055 
E: stewart.goshawk@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
    stewart@wnst.org.uk 
    www.wnst.org.uk 
  
 

Page 164

mailto:stewart.goshawk@cityoflondon.gov.uk
mailto:stewart@wnst.org.uk
http://www.wnst.org.uk/


Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust Committee 
 

11 May 2017 

Subject: 
City Bridge Trust Communications 
 

Public 

Report of: 
The Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 

Report author: 
Martin Hall, Communications Manager 
 

 
Summary 

 
This paper provides members with an update on the communications work of the 
City Bridge Trust (CBT). 
 

Recommendation 
 
Members are asked to: 

 Receive the report and note its contents. 
 
 

Main Report 
 

Key Audience Group Reporting 
 

1. Appendix 1 reports communications activity between 01/03/17 and 23/04/17 
against each of the four key audiences identified in your Communications 
Strategy. 

 
2. This shows good levels of activity towards the Londoners, Immediate 

stakeholders and other funders, policy makers & key commentators 
audiences. However, there was very little recorded activity aimed at regulators 
& politicians.  These audiences will be specifically targeted in future, with due 
consideration to upcoming local and national elections. 

 
 
Media Activity  
 

3. Appendix 2 provides a detailed breakdown of the media activity supporting 
delivery of your Communications Strategy during this period. The majority of 
acitivity was via print or online media, however the Trust was also featured 
twice on broadcast media, firstly an interview with your Chairman discussing 
your Crowdfunder initiative took place with LondonLive Freeview TV channel; 
and secondly a piece on your recent grant to Ability Bow was featured on 
BBC London News, which also included a short interview with the Chairman. 

  

Page 165

Agenda Item 14f



Exernal Events Register 
 

4. A range of events were attended on behalf of the Turst over the last two 
months. These included speaking engagements at conferences hosted by 
London Volunary Service Council (LVSC) and Charity Tax Group; meetings 
with key partners including London Youth  and The Prince‟s Trust; and 
training workshops on topics such as Crowdfunding, media skills and charity 
fraud. 
 

5. A full list of external events attended by officers and Members on behalf of the 
Trust can be found at Appendix 3. 

 
 
 
Martin Hall 
Communications Manager 
T: 020 7332 3705 
E: Martin.hall@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 166

mailto:Martin.hall@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Appendix 1: Key Audience Groups 
 
Audience Face to face Online and Printed Media 

channels 
Online content Direct Marketing 

Londoners All recent events were attended 
by Londoners. A full list can be 
found in the External Events 
table report (Appendix 3). 

 BBC London (TV) 

 BBC News Online 

 Classical Music 

 East London Advertiser 

 Evening Standard 

 Get West London 

 Islington Gazette 

 London Bulletin 

 London Live (TV) 

 London Loves Business 

 Pioneers Post 

 Society of London Theatre 

 South London Press 

 The London Economic 

 TWIN FM 

 CBT Twitter 
(4,253 followers. 
87.9k impressions* 
between 01/03/17 & 
21/04/17) 

 

 CBT Website (2,391 
users between 
01/03/17 & 
21/04/17) 

 City AM advert (9th 
March 2017) 
promoting the 
Trust‟s Strategic 
Review and online 
survey. 

Regulators & 
politicians 

 GLA (London City of Culture 
meeting) 

 Inside Government 
Conference (Strategic 
Review presentation) 

 LB Brent (Meeting) 

 The Brent Magazine None to report None to report 

Immediate 
stakeholders** 

 Clothworkers Company 
(Livery Dinner) 

 Beacon Awards Ceremony 

 City Matters  News items on the 
CoL intranet and e-
bulletin.  

 Regular updates in 
the Members‟ 
Briefing. 

 City AM advert (9th 
March 2017) 
promoting the 
Trust‟s Strategic 
Review and online 
survey. 

Other funders, Various events including:  Alliance Magazine None to report None to report 

P
age 167



Audience Face to face Online and Printed Media 
channels 

Online content Direct Marketing 

policy makers & 
key commentators 

 LVSC Conference 

 Civil Society Forum 

 Esmee Fairbairn 
(Roundtable) 

 The Lankelly Chase 
Foundation (Report Launch) 

 Association of Charitable 
Foundations (Lunch) 

 Charity Times 

 Charity Today 

 Civil Society 

 Classical Music 

 Concord Register 

 Crowdfund Insider  

 Financial News  

 Fundraising Magazine 

 Green Tourism  

 The Stage 

 Third Sector 

 UK Fundraising 
 

* An Impression is the number of times CBT tweets have been delivered to other accounts and potentially viewed. 
 

** Includes CBT & CoL Officers & Members; key infrastructure bodies; grantees; potential grantees; City leaders, workers, 
Human Resource and Corporate Social Responsibility professionals. 

  

P
age 168



Appendix 2: Media Coverage 
 

Organisation Publication Readership Detail Coverage Date Weblink 

Refugee 
Action 

Get West 
London 

13,782 Report on a grant given to Refugee Action – a 
rehabilitation charity for refugees. 

Regional 01/03 Get West London 

Royal Trinity 
Hospice 

London 
Bulletin 

15,000 The oldest hospice in the UK – Royal Trinity 
Hospice – has been given a £107,000 grant. 

Regional 02/03 London Bulletin 

Age UK  Evening 
Standard 

858,504 Reports on Age Allies scheme, a three-year 
programme to tackle discrimination and improve 
services.  

London 03/03 Evening Standard 

Cripplegate 
Foundation 

Charity 
Today 

50,000 A story about the £141,000 grant to tackle 
poverty and isolation amongst Islington‟s older 
people 

National 
trade 

06/03 Charity Today 

Cripplegate 
Foundation 

London 
Bulletin 

15,000 As above Regional 06/03 London Bulletin 

Cripplegate 
Foundation 

Islington 
Gazette 

4,399 As above Local 07/03 Islington Gazette 

City 
Philanthropy 

City Matters 20,000 Cheryl Chapman, Director of City Philanthropy, 
features talking about women in philanthropy on 
International Women‟s Day. 

London 08/03 City Matters 

City 
Philanthropy  

Alliance 
Magazine 

17,000 As above National 
trade 

08/03 Alliance Magazine 

City Bridge 
Trust  

Fundraising 
Magazine 

5,000 Fundraising Magazine runs a story on City 
Bridge Trust in their bi-monthly „meet the funder‟ 
feature. Chairman Alison Gowman is quoted. 

National 
Trade 

08/03 Fundraising Magazine 
(internal only) 

Royal Trinity 
Hospice 

South 
London 
Press 

22,500 Report on a £107,000 grant. Local 10/03 South London Press 
(internal only) 

Central Grants 
Programme 

Classical 
Music 

20,000 A story on the latest round of grants given out by 
the Central Grants Programme, including a grant 
to the London Symphony Orchestra. 

National 
trade 

10/03 Classical Music 

P
age 169

http://www.getwestlondon.co.uk/news/west-london-news/iranian-refugee-who-slept-eight-12672824
http://londonbulletin.co.uk/royal-trinity-hospice-receives-k-grant-from-city-bridge-trust-p4385-180.htm
http://www.standard.co.uk/news/uk/age-uk-launches-programme-to-tackle-discrimination-against-elderly-a3480861.html
http://www.charitytoday.co.uk/isolated-elderly-residents-in-islington-get-140k-boost/
http://londonbulletin.co.uk/mdetail.asp?hn=londonbulletin&l=initiative-transforming-the-lives-of-isolated-elderly-residents-in-islingto-p4454-271.htm
http://www.islingtongazette.co.uk/news/140k_grant_will_help_provide_activities_for_lonely_older_people_in_islington_1_4920423
http://citymatters.london/not-just-ribbon-cutters/
http://www.alliancemagazine.org/blog/women-changing-face-giving/
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/090317/Fundraising%20Magasine%20City%20Bridge%20Trust.pdf
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/03%2002%2017/South%20London%20Press.pdf
http://www.rhinegold.co.uk/classical_music/first-central-grants-programme-funding-announced/


  

Organisation Publication Readership Detail Coverage Date Weblink 

Central Grants 
Programme 

Green 
Tourism  

- Report that the Central Grants Programme has 
distributed financial support to eight London 
organisations, focused on cultural projects and 
aiming to unlock “imagination, creativity and 
innovation”. 

National 
trade 

13/03 Green Tourism  

Place 2 Be The Brent 
Magazine 

100,000 Report in the LB Brent‟s internal publication that 
Place2Be, a charity that offers emotional and 
therapeutic support to schools in the borough, 
has received funding. 

Local 13/03 Brent Magazine 
(internal only) 

Strategic 
Review 

Charity 
Times 

30,000 The Trust is featured in an article about the 
Strategic review. David Farnsworth and Sufina 
Ahmad are interviewed. 

National 
trade 

14/03 Charity Times Magazine 
(internal only pg 29-31) 

Crowdfunder 
Initiative 

London Live 250,000 Alderman Alison Gowman, is interviewed on 
London Live to discuss its new Crowdfunding 
initiative with Trust for London. 

London 15/03 London Live 
(large download) 

Crowdfunder 
Initiative 

City Matters  20,000 Report on £100,000 Crowdfunding initiative fund 
for organisations seeking to address inequality. 
Alderman Alison Gowman is quoted. 

London 15/03 City Matters 
(internal only) 

Central Grants 
Programme 

City Matters 20,000 Report on CoLC‟s Central Grants Programme 
focused on cultural projects and aiming to unlock 
“imagination, creativity and innovation”. 

London 15/03 City Matters 
(internal only) 

Stagetext- 
Central Grants 

UK 
Fundraising 

33,000 Report on a £6,800 grant by the CoLC‟s Central 
Grants Programme. The charity will use the 
grant to enable more deaf, deafened and hard of 
hearing people to access theatres in the Square 
Mile. 

National 
trade 

16/03 UK Fundraising 

Crowdfunder 
Initiative 

UK 
Fundraising 

33,000 Report on £100,000 Crowdfunding initiative fund 
for organisations seeking to address inequality. 

National 
trade 

17/03 UK Fundraising 

Stagetext – 
Central Grants 

The Stage 30,000 As above. National 
trade 

17/03 The Stage 

P
age 170

http://www.whatson-greentourism.co.uk/content/city-fund-backing-cultural-projects-and-events-square-mile-announces-first-grants-new
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/140317/grant.pdf
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/160317/CharityTimes.pdf
http://www.capturepr.co.uk/city_of_london_150317.html
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/160317/CM%20Cental%20Grants.PNG
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/160317/CM%20Cental%20Grants.PNG
https://fundraising.co.uk/2017/03/16/funding-awarded-make-london-theatres-accessible-deaf-people/
https://fundraising.co.uk/2017/03/17/match-funding-crowdfunding-programme-available-tackle-poverty-london/
https://www.thestage.co.uk/news/2017/city-london-swaps-capital-captioning-7k-stagetext-grant/


  

Organisation Publication Readership Detail Coverage Date Weblink 

Stepping 
Stones 

Charity 
Times 

30,000 Alderman Alison Gowman is quoted in a story 
on the Stepping Stones Fund.  

National 
trade 

21/03 Charity Times 

Crowdfunder Crowdfund 
Insider  

170,000 Alderman Alison Gowman is quoted in a 
Crowdfund Insider story on the new £100,000 
Crowdfunder initiative. 

National 
trade 

22/03 Crowdfund Insider 

Stepping 
Stones 

Third Sector 6,200 Alderman Alison Gowman is quoted in a Third 
Sector story on the Stepping Stones Fund. 

National 
trade 

22/03 Third Sector 

Stagetext – 
Central Grants 

City Matters 20,000 As above. London 24/03 City Matters 
(internal only) 

Stepping 
Stones 

City Matters 20,000 Announcement of a £500,000 funding pot for 
the Stepping Stones programme. 

London 24/03 City Matters 
(internal only) 

Beacon 
Awards 

Financial 
News  

17,294 Report on the nominees for the 2017 Beacon 
Awards. Alderman Alison Gowman is quoted.  

National 27/03 Financial News 

DEC appeal UK 
Fundraising 

33,000 The City of London Corporation‟s £55,000 
donation to help ease the famine crisis in East 
Africa appears in UK Fundraising 

National 
trade 

27/03 UK Fundraising 

Bridge To Work  The London 
Economic 

- The Trust‟s Bridge to Work Programme is 
covered by  London Economic 

London 27/03 The London 
Economic. 

Bridge To Work Charity 
Today 

50,000 As above.  National 
trade 

27/03 Charity Today 

Stepping 
Stones 

Pioneers 
Post 

35,000 Report on the City Bridge Trust‟s Stepping 
Stones Fund.  

National 
trade 

27/03 Pioneers Post 

City Bridge 
Trust 

Concord 
Register 

- City Bridge Trust is referenced in a story in the 
Concord Register about City elections. 

National 
trade 

27/03 Concord Register 

DEC appeal City Matters 20,000 As above  London 30/03 City Matters 
(internal only) 

P
age 171

http://www.charitytimes.com/ct/London-charities-to-benefit-from-500-000-social-investment-funding.php
https://www.crowdfundinsider.com/2017/03/97635-now-crowdfunder-uk-trust-london-city-bridge-trust-now-offering-100000-crowdfunding-projects-looking-improve-london/
http://www.thirdsector.co.uk/charities-london-bid-part-500k-pot-support-social-investment/finance/article/1428244
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/230317/CM%20CGP.PNG
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/230317/CM%20CBT.PNG
https://www.fnlondon.com/articles/table-tennis-lands-goldmans-sherwood-philanthropy-nomination-20170327
https://fundraising.co.uk/2017/03/16/dec-east-africa-crisis-appeal-raises-12m-one-day/#.WOeO4Pk3eUk
http://www.thelondoneconomic.com/news/3-3million-programme-announced-supporting-young-disabled-londoners-employment/27/03/
http://www.thelondoneconomic.com/news/3-3million-programme-announced-supporting-young-disabled-londoners-employment/27/03/
http://www.charitytoday.co.uk/trust-announces-new-3-3million-programme/
https://www.pioneerspost.com/news-views/20170327/briefing-stepping-stones-skoll-and-news-the-lords
http://www.concordregister.com/business-rules/
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/300317/CM%20emergency%20appeal.PNG


Organisation Publication Readership Detail Coverage Date Weblink 

Bridge to Work  UK 
Fundraising 

33,000 As above National 
trade 

31/03 UK fundraising 

Bridge To Work  The London 
Bulletin 

15,000 As above London 03/04 London Bulletin 

Stepping 
Stones  

The London 
Bulletin 

15,000 Report on £500,000 Stepping Stones funding 
to help charities break into the social 
investment market. 

London 03/04 London Bulletin 

Bridge To Work TWIN fm 16,600 Report on the announcement of a new 
£3.3million fund designed to open up 
employment opportunities for young disabled 
Londoners. 

Regional 03/04 TWIN FM  
 

Bridge To Work The Evening 
Standard 

858,504 As above London 03/04 Evening Standard 
(internal only) 

Stepping 
Stones 

UK 
Fundraising 

33,000 As above National 
Trade 

04/04 Fundraising UK 

Dragon 
awards/CBT 

London 
Loves 
Business 

- Report on the 30th Anniversary of the Dragon 
Awards taking place in September. The Lord 
Mayor, the City of London Corporation and 
City Bridge Trust are referenced 

London 05/04 London Loves 
Business 

Beacon 
awards/city 
Philanthropy 

City Matters 20,000 Three inspirational givers are in the running for 
the top gong in the City Philanthropy category 
– sponsored by the City Bridge Trust – at this 
year‟s Beacon Awards.  

London 06/04 City Matters 
(internal only) 

Bridge To Work  City Matters 20,000 As above London 06/04 City Matters 
(internal only) 

London 
Funders 

Civil Society 
Media 

27,000 A story about City Bridge Trust Director David 
Farnsworth being made Chair of London 
Funders.  

National 
trade 

10/04 Civil Society 

Ability Bow Charity 
Today 

50,000 Alderman Alison Gowman is quoted following 
recent grants made to community 
organisations in London. 

National 
trade 

11/04 Charity Today 

P
age 172

https://fundraising.co.uk/2017/03/31/new-3-3bn-programme-support-young-disabled-londoners-jobs/#.WOIWtfk3eUk
http://londonbulletin.co.uk/city-bridge-trust-announces-new-million-programme-supporting-young-disa-p4670-271.htm
http://londonbulletin.co.uk/new-k-funding-pot-to-help-london-charities-step-into-social-investment-p4635-271.htm
http://www.twinfm.com/article.php?artid=4170&title=People&article=-bridging-the-disabled-employment-gap
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/040417/ES.pdf
https://fundraising.co.uk/2017/04/04/500k-funding-pot-help-london-charities-enter-social-investment-market/
http://www.londonlovesbusiness.com/business-news/30th-lord-mayors-dragon-awards/14903.article
http://www.londonlovesbusiness.com/business-news/30th-lord-mayors-dragon-awards/14903.article
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/070417/CM%20Beacon%20awards.PNG
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/070417/CM%20disabled%20employment.PNG
https://www.civilsociety.co.uk/news/who-s-moving-nspcc-street-leaguee-and-ssafa-and-more.html
https://www.charitytoday.co.uk/east-london-gym-for-disabled-people-set-to-expand-after-98k-cash-boost/


 
  

Organisation Publication Readership Detail Coverage Date Weblink 

Ability Bow BBC London 1,000,000 BBC London News runs a story on City Bridge 
Trust‟s £98,000 grant to disabled gym in 
Tower Hamlets. Alderman Alison Gowman is 
interviewed. 

Regional 11/04 BBC London News 
(via YouTube) 

Stagetext – 
Central Grants 

Society of 
London 
Theatre 

- The CoLC‟s grant through the new Central 
Grants programme is featured. 

National 
trade 

12/04 The Society of 
London Theatre 
(internal only) . 

Arthritis Care Charity 
Today 

50,000 Report on a £154,000 grant by City Bridge 
Trust to help young Londoners living with 
arthritis.  

National 
Trade 

13/04 Charity Today 

Ability Bow  London 
Bulletin 

15,000 A story on £98,000 grant to a gym for people 
with disabilities 

London 19/04 London Bulletin 

Vision Care 
For Homeless 
People  

The London 
Economic  

- Grant towards eye care services for homeless 
Londoners. 

London 20/04 The London 
Economic 

Vision Care 
For Homeless 
People 

Charity 
Today 

50,000 As above. National 
Trade 

20/04 Charity Today 

P
age 173

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2dkSvUrQZgg
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/13.04.17/Stagetext%20grant.JPG
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/13.04.17/Stagetext%20grant.JPG
http://www.charitytoday.co.uk/154k-boost-help-young-londoners-living-arthritis/
http://londonbulletin.co.uk/east-london-gym-for-disabled-people-set-to-expand-after-k-cash-boost-p4834-271.htm
http://www.thelondoneconomic.com/must-reads/charity-providing-free-eye-care-homeless-people-gets-cash-boost-expand-london-services/20/04/
http://www.thelondoneconomic.com/must-reads/charity-providing-free-eye-care-homeless-people-gets-cash-boost-expand-london-services/20/04/
https://www.charitytoday.co.uk/eye-care-charity-homeless-people-given-big-cash-boost/


Appendix 3: External Events Register 
Attended 1st March – April 25th 2017 

 

 Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

01/03/2017 LVSC 
Civil Society 
Conference 

Sufina Ahmad, Head 
of Strategic Review 

Camden 

London For All Conference organised 
by London Voluntary Service Council 
(LVSC) – attended as a panel speaker 
to discuss draft CBT strategy and The 
Way Ahead work 

01/03/2017 GLA Meeting 
Ciaran Rafferty, 
Principal Grants 
Officer 

City Hall 
Meeting with other supporting partners 
to be updated on the London Borough 
of Culture 

02/03/2017 Moore Stephens Seminar 
Karen Atkinson, 
Chamberlains 

Aldersgate 
Fundraising and charity taxation 
update 

02/03/2017 Shelter Report Launch 
Sufina Ahmad, Head 
of Strategic Review 

Westminster 
Launch of the report – „New Civic 
Housebuilding‟ - by Shelter. 

02/03/2017 
The 
Charterhouse 

Reception 

Deputy Director, 
Jenny Field and 
Principal Grants and 
Social Investment 
Officer 

Islington 

A reception titled “Revealing the 
Charterhouse” where the works done 
to open the site to a wider visitor 
audience were unveiled. The Trust 
contributed towards access 
improvement costs. 

P
age 174



 Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

03/03/2017 
London 
Emergencies 
Trust  

Directors meeting 
Director of City 
Bridge Trust – David 
Farnsworth 

City of London 
Meeting of the LET to discuss recent 
events in Westminster. 

03/03/2017 
The Prince‟s 
Trust 

Centre Tour 

CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman; Grants 
Officer, Shegufta 
Rahman 

Lambeth 

Tour of the Kennington Centre and 
opportunity to sit in on an „Identity and 
Stereotypes‟ follow-on session for a 
Fairbridge cohort. 

06/03/2017 Civil Society Forum 
Karen Atkinson, 
Chamberlains 

Teddington Charity Finance Investment Forum 

07/03/2017 London Youth Luncheon 
CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman 

City of London 
Lunch event with London Youth at 
Armourers' Hall to celebrate Prince 
Philip's 70 years of patronage. 

07/03/2017 Clothworkers Dinner 

Tim Wilson, 
Principal Grants and 
Social Investment 
Officer 

City of London 

Your officer was invited to the annual 
Master‟s dinner following work he did 
with the Livery Company to explore 
social investment. 

09/03/2017 Cranfield Trust Reception 
Deputy Chairman, 
Ian Seaton and 
various officers 

City of London 
The Cranfield Trust reception in the 
Guildhall. 

P
age 175



 Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

13/03/2017 
Guys and St 
Thomas‟ 
Charitable Trust 

Breakfast 
Roundtable 

Sufina Ahmad, Head 
of Strategic Review 

Lambeth 

Discussion on tackling health 
challenges in urban, diverse and 
deprived areas – with speakers from 
across London and one representative 
from the US. 

13/03/2017 Bank of England 

Lecture at the 
Bank of England 
invited by 
Pitzhanger Trust 

CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman 

City of London 
Lecture at the Bank of England invited 
by Pitzhanger Trust 

14/03/2017 Trust for London Report Launch 
Sufina Ahmad, Head 
of Strategic Review 

Southwark 

Launch of Trust for London‟s recent 
report as part of its series on minimum 
income standards for London.  Sufina 
also acted as a table facilitator. 

15/03/2017 Trust for London Advisory Group 
Ciaran Rafferty, 
Principal Grants 
Officer 

City of London 
Regular meeting of the Moving on Up 
project Advisory Group 

15/03/2017 Prince‟s Trust Awards ceremony 

CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman; Town 
Clerk, John 
Barradell; Head of 
Strategic Review, 
Sufina Ahmad 

London Palladium 
Prince's Trust awards Celebrate 
Success 

17/03/2017 
Esmee Fairbairn 
and IVAR 

Learning/ 
Sharing/ 
Networking 

Kate Moralee, 
Sandra Davidson, 
Julia Mirkin – Grants 
officers 

Camden 

Roundtable for funders discussing the 
role of Social Investment in making 
social change happen, with specific 
reference to small and medium sized 
charities.  

P
age 176



 Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

20/03/2017 
The Lankelly 
Chase 
Foundation 

Report Launch 
Sufina Ahmad, Head 
of Strategic Review 

Westminster 
Celebration and launch of insights 
from Lankelly Chase‟s Systems 
Changers programme. 

20/03/2017 London Youth Meeting 
CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman 

Camden 
Meeting with London Youth CEO 
Rosemary Watt-Wyness 

20/03/2017 
UBS & City 
Bridge Trust 

Panel 

Principal Grants and 
Social Investment 
Officer, Tim Wilson; 
Grants Officer, 
Shegufta Rahman; 
Project Manager, 
James Lee 

City of London 
Meet the Social Investors event 
hosted at UBS Broadgate Offices. 

21/03/2017 Crowdfunder Workshop 
Several Trust 
officers 

City of London 

Workshop to understand the 
Crowdfunding arena and platform, 
supporting the crowdfunding initiative 
of CBT in partnership with Trust for 
London and The Social Innovation 
Partnership 

21/03/2017 Prince's Trust Meeting 
Deputy Chairman, 
Ian Seaton 

City of London A meeting with the Prince's Trust. 

21/03/2017 London Youth Meeting 
CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman 

Canary Wharf 
London Youth City Leaders' selection 
at Barclays  

P
age 177



 Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

22/03/2017 
Lloyds Bank 
Foundation 
England & Wales 

Report Launch 

Sufina Ahmad, 
Ciaran Rafferty, 
Kyro Brooks, Sandra 
Davidson, Julia 
Mirkin 

City of London 
Launch of the report „Thinking 
Forward‟ about the future needs of 
small charities. 

22/03/2017 
Greenwich 
Foundation 

Launch event 
CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman 

Greenwich 
Launch of the Greenwich Foundation 
cleaning of the Painted Hall at Old 
Royal Naval College 

22/03/2017 Beacon Awards 
Awards 
Ceremony 

Director of City 
Bridge Trust, David 
Farnsworth 

City of London 
Awards ceremony for the Beacon 
awards 

23/03/2017 
Charity Finance 
Group 

Workshop 
Karen Atkinson, 
Chamberlains 

City of London Fraud in grant-making workshop 

27/03/2017 Cazenove Workshop 
Karen Atkinson, 
Chamberlains 

City of London 
Event to discuss the Common 
Reporting Standard 

28/03/2017 
Charity Tax 
Group 

Conference 
Karen Atkinson, 
Chamberlains 

Euston 
Presenting at the Annual CTG 
Conference 

28/03/2017 
Inside 
Government 

Conference 

Sufina Ahmad, Head 
of Strategic Review; 
Grants Officer, 
Shegufta Rahman 

Westminster 
Preventing and Tackling Violence 
Against Women and Girls Conference 
at Hallam Conference Centre 

P
age 178



 Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

29/03/2017 
Partnership for 
Young London 

Voluntary Sector 
Forum 

Sufina Ahmad, Head 
of Strategic Review 

City of London 
Attended this forum to discuss the 
CBT draft strategy and gather views 
from charities working in the City. 

29/03/2017 Poetry Society Award Ceremony 
CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman 

City of London Poetry Society annual Poetry awards 

30/03/2017 
BAMER Cross 
Funders Alliance 

Cross-funders 
meeting 

Sandra Jones, 
Grants Officer 

Camden 
A meeting to look at ways funders 
might work together around issues 
affecting BAMER organisations 

30/03/2017 Refugee Council 
Meet the Funders 
Event 

Grants Officer, 
Shegufta Rahman; 
Grants Officer, 
Geraldine Page 

Islington 
Meet the Funders Event where your 
officer delivered a presentation on 
Investing in Londoners. 

31/03/2017 Barbican Concert 
CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman 

City of London Barbican Centre concert 

05/04/2017 London Youth 
Young 
Ambassadors 
event 

Deputy Chairman, 
Ian Seaton 

City of London 

Attendance at the London Youth's 
Young Ambassadors event where 
groups from 3/4 youth clubs 
each presented a project whose 
viability was then judged at Cinven's 
offices, St Paul's. 

P
age 179



 Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

07/04/2017 
Association of 
Charitable 
Foundations 

Lunch 
Director of City 
Bridge Trust – David 
Farnsworth 

City of London 
Introduction to the new CEO of ACF, 
Carol Mack. 

10/04/2017 
City Bridge 
Trust/Bridge to 
Work 

Meeting 

Ciaran Rafferty 
Ciaran Rafferty, 
Principal Grants 
Officer /James Lee – 
Project Manager, 
Bridge to Work. 

City of London 
A meeting of the proposed delivery 
partners of the Bridge to Work 
programme 

11/04/2017 
Wilton's Music 
Hall 

Performance 

CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman, Jeremy 
Mayhew 

Tower Hamlets Wilton's Music Hall performance 

11/04/2017 Ability Bow Interview 
CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman 

Tower Hamlets 
Interview with BBC London at Ability 
Bow 

18/04/2017 Vox media Media training 

CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman; Director of 
City Bridge Trust – 
David Farnsworth 

Guildhall Media Training. 

18/04/2017 
Institute for 
Apprenticeships 

Launch Event 

Jack Joslin, Grants 
officer & Karen 
Atkinson, 
Chamberlains. 

City of London 
Launch of the Institute for 
Apprenticeships, held at Mansion 
House 

P
age 180



 Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

19/04/2017 Brent Council Meeting 

CBT Committee 
Chairman, Alison 
Gowman, Director of 
City Bridge Trust – 
David Farnsworth 

City of London 
Meeting with Councillor Kabir of 
London Borough of Brent 

24/04/2017 
Charity Tax 
Group 

Committee 
meeting 

Karen Atkinson, 
Chamberlains 

Westminster 
Regular management meeting for 
organisation 

25/04/2017 
– 
26/04/2017 

The Innovation 
Enterprise 

Two-day 
Conference 

Sufina Ahmad, Head 
of Strategic Review 

City of London 

Chief Strategy Officer Summit, which 
Sufina is attending due to Kate Smith 
(Head of Corporate Strategy at the 
CoLC) not being able to attend.  
Theme of the conference is how to 
develop a culture of strategic 
management. 

 
 

P
age 181



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 182



Committee 
 

Dated:  
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

17h May 2017 

Subject: 
Report on Learning visits 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 
 

 
Summary 

 
This report introduces reports from monitoring visits to Arts for All and Arts 
Depot Trust Limited. 

 
Recommendation 

 
 Members are asked to: 
 

 Receive this report and note its contents 
 
 

Main Report 
 

1. You receive Learning visit reports at each of your meetings. These 
are in addition to more substantial bi-annual monitoring reports 
examining patterns of funding and benefit of grants awarded.  

 
2. The reports to this Committee are from visits to Arts for All and the 

Arts Depot Trust Limited, supported under your programmes for 
“Making London More Inclusive” and “Older Londoners”. Both use the 
creative arts to engage their clients and deliver positive soclai 
outcomes. Arts for All works with adults with learning disabilities 
through its Rainbow Club whilst Arts Depot’s focus is isolated older 
people.  

 
 
 
Tim Wilson 
Principal Grants and Social Investment Officer 
 

T: 020 7332 3716 
E: tim.wilson@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 183

Agenda Item 14g

mailto:tim.wilson@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 184



1 

 

LEARNING VISIT REPORT 

Arts Depot Trust Ltd 12412 

1.1 Date of visit: 

 

31.10.2016 

1.2 Name of 

visiting Grants 

Officer:  

Tanzeem 

Ahmed 

1.2 People met with: 

Tim Burley (Development Director), 

Estelle Buckridge (Community 

Champion) and Lara Woodward- 

Programming & Participation 

Manager 

1.4 Programme Area & Outcomes: 

Older Londoners aged 75 years and over living more active and healthier lives 

1.5 Purpose of the award: 

£81,300 over three years for a part-time Community Champion and a part-time 

Marketing Assistant, plus project costs, for the development and delivery of a series 

of arts events and creative activities for socially isolated elderly people aged 75+. 

MONITORING INFORMATION 

2.1 Project Outcome 1: 

Older people will feel less socially isolated resulting in improved well- being and 

good health. 

Progress made: 

Staff gave several examples of older people improving their mobility through their 

participating in the dance sessions. One specific case study was given of a lady who 

was not able to raise her arms.  After participating in the dance sessions, she 

managed to find greater ease in moving, in turn increasing her independence. 

2.2 Project Outcome 2: 

The project will develop a more positive impression of old age encouraging greater 

arts attendance as a method of staying socially active. 

Progress made: 

The project uses positive imagery of older people on its marketing material, helping 

stimulate interest from people over 75.  The organisation has introduced a range of 

activities suitable for people of all abilities, and varies its offer with each new season, 

some of which are designed to bring different age groups together to increase 

confidence and interaction. There is a growing attendance at matinee shows which 

are targeted at the over 75s. As older people attending other arts activities they 

develop friendships and are more likely to attend a wider number of events.   

2.3 Project Outcome 3: 

The project will engage older people in creative learning & participation opportunities 

benefitting the participants but also informing our creative programme and directly 

contributing to new arts projects. 

Progress made: 

The organisation prides itself on the quality of the work it delivers for older people 

and seeks ongoing feedback from users to help develop services.  An example was 

given when one of the arts activities received negative feedback from participants.  

The group listened to the feedback and issues were brought to those involved in 

Page 185



2 

 

appointing the artists and programming.  Older people have indirectly informed the 

choice of artists as their feedback and concerns have been considered when 

selecting the artists. Arts depot has several residency projects which culminate in a 

performance.  Older people have been involved in these residencies, although not 

yet involved in the final performance which they hope will be the case in the future.  

2.4 Project Outcome 4: 

The project will develop a positive community of older audiences and participants 

that will encourage other venues to place greater emphasis on older audiences. 

Progress made: 

Estelle, who leads on the community outreach has been involved in attending events 

and giving talks about best practice in this field. She has also promoted the project to 

staff and clients at various care homes and older people’s organisations.   

2.5 Project Outcome 5: 

Engaging community partners and social services in supported arts attendance 

(including free & subsidised transport) and advocating for other arts venues to better 

engage 75+ audiences. 

Progress made: 

Outreach to community and residential homes has successfully attracted new 

participants and the project was invited to give a presentation by the Mayor of 

London on how older people can be more active using arts. Work in care homes has 

often resulted in staff accompanying residents to the venue and to the matinee 

events. The project is starting to connect with more GPs and other health 

professionals, encouraging them to refer their patients to the Arts Depot. 

Relationship with local organisations (Age UK, Jewish Care and Barnet Council) is 

good and continues to grow. 

GRANT OFFICER COMMENTS 

Arts Depot has successfully delivered outreach and a range of arts projects.  Most of 

their projects are for those over 60, although their target is to reach the over 75’s.  

They find that restricting the programmes for older people over 75 can be 

challenging as this age group is more likely to prioritise health related appointments 

over attending the arts depot, or may not attend at all due to ill health. Mobility issues 

also make it hard for people to participate.  However, the project found that once the 

older people are at the venue, they all enjoy the sessions and find it a memorable 

experience. The organisation has learnt that in-order to engage isolated and 

vulnerable members they need to work through several gatekeepers, which include 

workers in residential homes, relatives or friends.  It takes time to develop the trust 

and confidence in people to come to unfamiliar environments.  

The project has made good inroads into getting older people engaging/re-engaging 

in arts.  The project officer is very passionate and positive.  I attended one of the 

sessions on poetry and this was led by a very good facilitator and participants were 

very supportive towards each other.  Other arts venues do not necessarily have a 

specific role dedicated to community outreach and the organisation feels that this is 

crucial to their success.   
 

Page 186



1 

 

LEARNING VISIT REPORT 

Arts For All 12184 

1.1 Date of visit: 8th 

February 2017 

 

1.2 Name of visiting 

Grants Officer: Sandra 

Davidson 

1.3 People met with: 

Caroline Barlow 

(Manager) + Service 

Users 

1.4 Programme Area & Outcomes: 

Making London More Inclusive - disabled people actively taking part in the arts or 

sport 

1.5 Purpose of the award: 

£21,000 over three years (3 x £7,000) towards the salary and running costs of "The 

Rainbow Club". 

MONITORING INFORMATION 

2.1 Project Outcome 1: 

We aim to build confidence through creativity. It is a well-known fact that if you add 

an element of creativity into someone’s life it can have a really positive effect. This is 

a difference that we will be hoping for. 

Progress made: Last year “The Rainbow Club” worked with 20 adults with learning 

disabilties normally catering for upto 15 on a weekly basis. The organisation has built 

up a regular group of participants keen to take part in varied creative activities every 

Wednesday.  The sessions provide an opportunity for participants to develop their 

communication skills and interact with each other in a warm and comfortable 

environment.  

2.2 Project Outcome 2: 

Through fun and vibrant Makaton sign language sessions we will help the members 

of the group to grow in confidence in the area of general and simple communication. 

This will help them in their lives outside of here. 

Progress made: The charity encourages the use of Makaton sign language helping 

members to communicate in everyday life.  One of the group members completed a 

short training course in Makaton teaching and is now able to work alongside the staff 

to teach the rest of the group.  This has been life changing for the member and has 

boosted their self-esteem. For example, several members being able to go to the 

local shops and travel by public transport.  Encouraging the use of Makaton group 

members feel more confident to participate in external activities, i.e an annual 

exhibition of their work at St. Botolph’s Hall to sell their artwork.  

2.3 Project Outcome 3: 

By going on a few outings we will give them exciting opportunities that they would 

not get normally. These are good opportunities to develop friendships and this is 

important as many of our members do not have many friends. They are good 

opportunities for social development. 

Progress made: Trips are organised several times a year providing the opportunity 

for members to experience the theatre, bowling and the seaside.  A trip was 

Page 187



2 

 

organised in October 2016 to Devon with a group of 10 adults with learning 

disabilties and volunteers. This proved very successful and life changing for 

participants so much so that a trip for this year is in the pipeline.   

2.4 Project Outcome 4: 

By taking part in an exhibition and having the chance to exhibit their own works of 

art, their confidence and self-esteem will soar. This can actually be life changing. 

Progress made: Having built up a permanent exhibition members are able to sell 

their artwork on a week to week basis.  This has proved to be a great confidence 

boost and drives them to develop their creative skills and try new interesting 

techniques.  The work is of a high standard and well received at exhibitions. Artwork 

produced includes paintings and vases.  Group members are keen to show off their 

own individual pieces of work and are clearly excited about their achievements.  

Examples shown on the day of your officer’s visit were impressive. 

A further successful project called East End Stories provided the opportunity of 

members to tell their real life stories.  After being interviewed by a volunteer the 

biographic stories were reproduced in a small booklet. 

GRANT OFFICER COMMENTS 

The weekly activities of “The Rainbow Club” continue to be well attended with 

regular referrals.  The charity normally caters for upto 15 adults with learning 

disabilties. The oldest member is 90 and the youngest is 39. The venue is bright and 

beautifully decorated, offering a safe and welcoming space to sit and chat and make 

friends.  Speaking to members of the group and being able to observe sessions 

taking place clearly showed how the members interacted with each other and staff 

members and volunteers. Your officer spoke with a number of the participants during 

and after the club session. One of the members who recently turned 80 was so 

proud showing me all his creative artwork which was of a very high standard. Not 

wanting to feel left out another member decided to show his artwork in great detail.  

The value of this project was endorsed by all of the service users taking part in the 

meeting.  The Project manager works tirelessly to ensure the smooth running of the 

club and it could be clearly seen has developed a very close relationship with club 

members. I was impressed by the thoughtfulness and professionalism of the staff 

and volunteers.  The venue is bright and beautifully decorated.   

 

Page 188



Document is Restricted

Page 189

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 191

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Order of the Court of Common Council
	6 Minutes
	7 Appointment to the Social Investment Board
	8 Report of Action Taken Between Meetings
	9 Progress Report
	A+ - CGO Report - Appendix 1
	A++ - CGO Report - Appendix 2

	10 City Bridge Trust Funding Strategy  2018-2023
	11 CBT Business Plan and the City of London Corporation draft Corporate plan
	C+ - CBT Business Plan - Appendix 1
	C++ - CBT Business Plan - Appendix 2
	C+++ - CBT Business Plan - Appendix 3

	12 Employment & disability - Bridge to Work Programme
	13 Index and Assessment Reports
	13a Bridge to Work
	13b Action for Kids
	13c Inclusion London
	13d Muscular Dystrophy Group of Great Britain and Northern Ireland
	13e National Autistic Society
	13f Royal Mencap Society
	13g Whizz-Kids
	13h ShareAction
	13i Evolve Housing + Support
	13j Terrence Higgins Trust
	13k Heart n Soul
	13l Royal Hospital for Neuro-disability
	13m Scope
	13n Toucan Employment
	13o Volunteering Matters
	13p Her Centre Limited
	13q Parent Abuse and Reconciliation Service
	13r Children England
	13s Islington Bangladesh Association
	13t Community Southwark
	13u One Westminster
	14a Applications Recommended for Rejection
	F+ - Recommended for Rejection

	14b Grants Approved under Delegated Authority
	14c Withdrawn and Lapsed Applications
	14d Variations to Grants Awarded
	14e Wembley National Stadium Trust
	14f The City Bridge Trust Communications
	14g Report on Learning Visits
	L+ - Learning visit report - Arts Depot
	L++ - Learning visit report - Arts for All

	18 Non-Public Minutes
	19 Pipeline of Pro-Active Strategic Grants



